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monumental work begun by Father John
Baptist Lemoyne. Father Ceria's qualifica-
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Philosophy at San Benigno Canavese and
Valsalice. Don Bosco con Dio, published
in 1930 and now considered his master-
piece, is a penetrating and inspiring study
of his spiritual father.

By systematic and persevering effort Father
Ceria brought the Biographical Memoirs
to completion in 1939, his contribution
being Volumes XI-XIX. Other works fol-
lowed. While compiling the Annali della
Societa Salesiana in four large volumes
(1941-51), he published biographies of St.
Mary Mazzarello, the Venerable Father
Michael Rua, the Servants of God Father
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which occurred on January 21, 1957 at
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Editor’s Preface

/S;XINT JOHN BOSCO, the central figure of this vastly
extensive biography, was a towering person in the affairs of both
Church and State during the critical 19th century in Italy. He was
the founder of two very active religious congregations during a time
when other orders were being suppressed; he was a trusted and key
liaison between the Papacy and the emerging Italian nation of the
Risorgimento; above all, in troubled times, he was the saintly
Christian educator who successfully wedded modern pedagogy to
Christ’s law and Christ’s love for the poor young, and thereby
deserved the proud title of Apostle of youth.

He is known familiarly throughout the world simply as Don
Bosco.! His now famous system of education, which he called the
Preventive System, was based on reason, religion and kindness,
and indicated by its descriptive name that, also in education, an
ounce of prevention is worth a pound of cure. He always sought to
place pupils in the moral impossibility of committing sin, the moral
disorder from which all evils flow.

‘To ensure the continuation of his educational mission in behalf of
youth he founded two worldwide religious congregations, the
Society of St. Francis de Sales (Salesian Society) and the Institute
of the Daughters of Mary, Help of Christians (Salesian Sisters),
which today number more than 40,000 members conducting 2,800
educational institutions throughout the world.

To help in the difficult art of educating the young, Don Bosco
planned to expound his method of education in a book but,
absorbed as he was in the task of firmly establishing his two
religious congregations and in unceasing other labors, he had to
content himself with a simple outline of his ideas in a golden little
treatise entitled The Preventive System in the Education of Youth.

'Don is an abbreviation of the Latin dominus, master. It is used in Italy as a title for
priests; it stands for Father.
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Fortunately, the Biographical Memoirs of St. John Bosco are
ample compensation for a book which, if written, might have given
us only theories. These memoirs, a monumental work in nineteen
volumes, until recently reserved exclusively to Salesians and
published only in the original Italian, are now available in this
American edition not only to his spiritual children, devotees and
admirers, but also to all who are interested in education.

In these volumes Don Bosco is shown in action: not theorizing,
but educating. What he said and did in countless circumstances
was faithfully recorded by several of his spiritual sons, chief among
them Father Giovanni Battista Lemoyne. From the day he first met
Don Bosco in 1864 to his own death in 1916, Father Lemoyne
spent his life recording words and deeds of Don Bosco, gathering
documents,? interviewing witnesses, and arranging raw material for
the present nineteen volumes of the life of Don Bosco, eight of
which he himself authored besides readying another volume for the
press before his death.

In the compilation of the Biographical Memoirs of St. John
Bosco, Father Lemoyne’s primary sources were the Memorie
dell’Oratorio dal 1835 al 1855 (Memoirs of the Oratory from
1835 to 1855) written by Don Bosco himself, the diaries and
chronicles of various fellow Salesians who daily recorded what
Don Bosco said or did, numerous letters of the Saint, the Cingue
lustri di storia dell’Oratorio de S. Francesco di Sales (The
History of the First Twenty-five Years of the Oratory of St. Francis
de Sales) written by Father John Bonetti, S.D.B., and personally
checked by Don Bosco, the proceedings of the diocesan process of
beatification and other unimpeachable contemporary documents
and testimonies. Above all, Father Lemoyne, intelligent, conscien-
tious and well-informed, not only used reliable sources, but was
himself an eye witness. He recorded what he personally saw and
heard from Don Bosco. This enabled him to write a true history,
even though not according to modern critical methods. He
concerned himself principally with presenting chronologically his
vast selected material and therefore his narrative is somewhat
fragmentary and may lack scientific method. It is nevertheless true
history, even Volume I which deals mainly with Don Bosco’s youth

2All the documents in the archives at the Salesian Motherhouse in Turin, Italy are now
being microfilmed and stored in the Don Bosco College Library in Newton, New Jersey.
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and the training he received from Mamma Margaret, his mother.3
When gifted writers and scholars of the future will produce a
critical biography of Don Bosco, the Biographical Memoirs will
still not be surpassed because Father Lemoyne lived at Don
Bosco’s side, wrote what he saw and heard, and eminently
succeeded in giving us a living portrait of Don Bosco.

In editing the translation of the Biographical Memoirs accuracy
and readability were the goals we set. This was not easy and
occasionally, as regards the latter, we may have fallen short of the
mark. Nineteenth-century Italian does not readily lend itself to an
agile version that strives to be an accurate translation and not a
paraphrase.

May the reading of these Memoirs portraying the life of a man
whom Pope Pius XI called “a giant of sanctity” inspire his spiritual
children, to whom this work is primarily directed, and all men and
women of good will to walk their own path of life in a spirit of
service to God and man.

Fr. Diego Borgatello, S.D.B.
Editor-in chief
New Rochelle, N.Y.

June 5, 1965
124th Anniversary of Don Bosco’s Ordination

EDITOR’S NOTE

As with Volumes VI through X and Volumes XII through XIV,
we have omitted material from the original text that is of little
interest to American readers and of no direct consequence to
these biographical memoirs. Such omissions will always be
pointed out in the footnotes.

Fr. Diego Borgatello, S.D.B.
Editor-in chief
New Rochelle, N.Y.
September 8, 1988
Feast of the Birth of Mary

3Cf. Francis Desramaut S.D.B., Les Memorie I de Giovanni Battista Lemoyne, Etude
d’un ouvrage fondamental sur la jeunesse de saint Jean Bosco, Lyon, 1962, pp. 411ff.






Author’s Preface

OUR Holy Father, Pius XI, in an audience granted us on
April 29 [1933], strongly advised that we allot ample space throughout
these Biographical Memoirs to documentation.

“Valuable as an author’s own comments may be,” he remarked, “it
is the documents that really matter. Above everything else they will
benefit posterity, and posterity will search for them.” These words we
took to be an unqualified, highly authoritative approval of the method
we have so far followed, as well as an encouragement to pursue it to the
very end. Present and future scholars will never be made to lack any-
thing which may document a life so complex and engaging. Precisely
that nothing might become lost—for unforeseen situations often bring
to light documents unknown in the past—from the very start of our
work we decided to group these documents into special appendices to
each volume.

Ample documentation will shed ever brighter light upon Don
Bosco’s figure, as an impartial study of the harrowing two years of this
volume will once more convince us. Unfortunately we cannot say the
same of his opponents. However, the hour has struck to mark the end of
this prolonged, heroic forbearance. In moments of severest opposition,
Don Bosco used to say: “Patience! In due course everyone will know.
In His own good time God will bring it all to light.” That time is today
[1933].

As for the documents themselves we must say something more.
Documenting Don Bosco’s life requires some clarification, if, in years
to come, competent and conscientious historians are not to run into
seemingly insurmountable obstacles.

We today [1933] have certain knowledge of many incidents in Don
Bosco’s life, but in future years when historical criteria are applied to
these facts, genuine authentic documentation supporting their histor-
icity will be lacking. Their certainty rests upon a situation which was
slightly, if at all, ever noticed and usually overlooked, since no one felt
the need to call attention to it. We know that in private conversations
and—rather often—in public gatherings, Don Bosco enjoyed telling

xiii
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stories of events which had happened in the many years preceding the
establishment of the Oratory. With the passage of time these reminis-
cences became rarer, but they never totally ceased. For instance, read-
ers of this very volume will find Don Bosco, at an entertainment given
him in France, narrating the famous episode of an attempt made to
place him in an insane asylum. So also, at San Benigno, he retold to
Father Barberis accounts of other things that had happened to him
many years before. However, while in the prior instance his words
were stored in the audience’s memory, in the latter his listener recorded
what he heard and carefully preserved a written account of it.! Had this
been done more often, our documentation of earlier events would not
be as scarce as it is today, to the regret perhaps of those coming after
us. These often repeated narratives or confidences gave rise to a living
tradition which swiftly spread, albeit under the immediate control of
persons who were in a position to point out any distortion of the truth,
even at times by consulting Don Bosco himself. It was from this source
that Father Lemoyne drew abundantly, without being overly worried
about bolstering his narrative with those trifling accessory details
which might lend it credibility and trustworthiness for the sake of
posterity. This is one caution we must bear carefully in mind in reading
his weighty nine volumes. Until these last few decades, while eyewit-
nesses or trustworthy testifiers of the tradition were still alive, his
accounts were accepted with unruffled trust in his knowledge of the
facts and in his honesty; however, it shall not always be so. A time will
come when readers, unfamiliar with the milieu we have described, will
want to get to the bottom of the matter at hand. Hence, before dis-
crediting an account of his or some noteworthy detail, we must recall
the very special circumstances of milieu in which the trustworthy au-
thor brought his work to completion.

Let us be more specific and take, for example, the very well known
episode of [Turin’s reformatory] La Generala. Don Bosco’s contempo-
raries and those who heard the story, influenced by that milieu, be-
lieved it without the least hesitation. But ‘‘one generation passes and
another comes’” [Eccl. 1, 4] and will not those who regard that era as
“days of yore” read it as a legend? Won’t they say, “What a miraculous
power of education—for one man to take on an outing several hundred
Juvenile delinquents from a reformatory, unescorted by guards, and yet

ISee p. 404 and Appendix 4 of this volume. [Editor]
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no one escapes?? Surely, the newspapers of the day must have carried
so extraordinary a story, and records may still be in the reformatory’s
files.” However, search as you will, there is nothing to find: nothing in
the press, nothing in the reformatory archives. Going one step further, I
say that no one can find even one single reliable document to pinpoint
the year when this occurred. Back in 1882 attempts were made to
establish this and proved unavailing. We do not precisely know who
undertook this investigation, of which we have evidence in a letter from
Stupinigi.® A priest of the area replies to his inquirer: “I am sorry I
must tell you again that all my research into the year when the young
offenders of La Generala came here, thanks to Don Bosco’s kindness,
has proved unavailing. I called on the parish priest at Mirafiori, the
oldest pastor in this area, and while he recalls the event perfectly well,
he cannot tell us the precise year.” Obviously, Don Bosco himself
could not pinpoint the year; else why was it necessary to seek informa-
tion so far from the Oratory?* Luckily in this instance we have the word
of an eyewitness who testifies to the facts—the only authoritative docu-
ment so far concerning that famed event.

This lack of records which may vex future historians is already
affecting the historians of today. We are often asked: “How is it that the
first volume of [Edward] Soderini’s® Life of Leo XIII mentions a host of
minute details about the preparations for the conclave in which Car-
dinal Joachim Pecci became Leo XIII, but makes no mention of Don
Bosco’s contacts with [Francis] Crispi, Minister of the Interior, and
[Pasquale] Mancini, Minister of Justice? The reason is very simple:
Soderini had no documentation of these contacts to go by. Don Bosco’s
involvement was strictly confidential and exclusively oral with not the
slightest trace of any official character. He was probably entrusted with
this mission by Cardinal [Camillus] Di Pietro who, as dean of the
Sacred College [and camerlengo], was obliged to busy himself imme-
diately and extensively with the location of the forthcoming conclave.
True, Mancini had hastened to write Cardinal Di Pietro a very confi-

2See Vol. V, pp. 140-144. [Editor]

3A suburb of Turin. [Editor]

“The letter, dated October 16, 1882, seems to have been found among Father Bonetti’s papers.
This guess is also confirmed by the fact that, as director of the Bollettino Salesiano, he was then
writing a serial account called History of the Oratory. In the November 1882 issue it published the
story of La Generala’s juveniles’ outing with Don Bosco. The priest who wrote the letter ad-
dressed his correspondent as “director.” [Author]

SAuthor of Il Pontificato di Leone XIII, Mondadori, Milan, 1932. [Editor]
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dential letter, later published by Soderini, to assure His Eminence that
the Italian government would in no way hinder the freedom of the
Sacred College to hold the conclave in Rome; however, this letter does
not render Don Bosco’s intervention superfluous. Certainly, the car-
dinal must have known that Crispi, while debating the Law of Guaran-
tees, had stressed to the entire parliament how necessary it was for the
Italian authorities to keep an eye on the conclave. Consequently he
could not help but realize the wisdom of sounding out Crispi’s real
intentions and of ascertaining whether or not the government’s actual
stand was in accord with its written assurances. Now no one was better
suited to find this out than Don Bosco. Cardinal Di Pietro, who had
become acquainted with his cleverness and prudence when, as bishop
of Albano, he had dealings with him on the local school issue there,
also shared Don Bosco’s conciliatory views, in the interest of souls,
concerning relations between the Holy See and the Italian state.

This also answers a doubt raised by Mollat in his excellent book on
the Roman Question. Commenting on an article by our Father [Au-
gustin] Auffray® concerning Don Bosco’s conduct throughout the Ital-
ian Risorgimento, he concludes that in this particular regard the
documents published by Crispi’s nephew would seem to contradict the
Salesian version.” From these documents we learn that no sooner had
Pius IX died than Mancini proposed that Premier [Augustine] De Pretis
send a confidential letter [to the cardinal camerlengo], giving him
assurances that would dissuade the Vatican from holding the conclave
outside Rome.® But, as we have said above, one point of view does not
exclude the other. Méfiance, mére de siireté! [Mistrust is the mother of
certainty!] Among us, Don Bosco’s interventions in those matters have
ever been held as most certain facts, knowledge of which was handed
down partly by Father Joachim Berto, who had accompanied Don
Bosco to Rome in 1878, and partly from confidences made by Don

6“La politique d’un Saint: Don Bosco aux heures du Risorgimento,” Etudes, June 2, 1929,
[Author].

’G. Mollat, professor at the University of Strasbourg, La Question Romaine de Pie VI a Pie
XI. Paris: Lecoffre, 1932, pp. 371f. Father Auffray’s article formed a separate chapter in his Life of
Don Bosco which was so well received in France and in French-speaking countries. [Author]

8Francis Crispi, Politica Interna, Ch. 8, pp. 81-93. These pages state that the letter was
addressed to the cardinal camerlengo, with whom Mancini had apparently been corresponding,
but, actually, the addressee was the cardinal dean with whom Mancini was really on fairly familiar
terms. There is no evidence that Mancini had any contact with Cardinal Pecci, who was the
*“camerlengo.” [Author]
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Bosco himself. Father Lemoyne has left a record of it in his usual
manner, on which we shall comment shortly.

To take another instance, Soderini’s second volume,’ speaking of the
exequatur'® denied to Italian bishops, remarks: “Thus, Cardinal [Lu-
cido] Parocchi, a man of letters, who had been appointed archbishop of
Bologna, had to wait five years for the exequatur, despite the reiterated
insistence of two senators, [Joachim] Pepoli'! being one, and the ap-
peals of Bologna’s civic authorities. These circumstances forced the
cardinal to resign and live in Rome in order to avoid greater evils.”

Now as our readers will recollect,”? Don Bosco took a hand in this
matter too, specifically mandated by the Holy See. He did all he could
in both Bologna and Rome to break down opposition; some clues to his
exertions may be found in the cardinal’s reports to the papal secretariat
of state. However, it is certain that on Don Bosco’s part all proceedings
were oral, of which but few details were mentioned; of these, as he
always did, Father Lemoyne took due note.

In both these instances, as also in many others, Father Lemoyne in
gathering his material never overlooked a chance to obtain testimonials
which would lend worth to his planned Biographical Memoirs, dili-
gently taking notes and saving them. Witnesses are still living today
who can attest that, notes in hand, he would sometimes ask Don Bosco
himself about details to be cleared up or matters that needed complet-
ing.”® Then, about thirty years ago, coordinating these records with our

911 Pontificato di Leone XIII, p. 31. [Author]

YPermission granted by a civil ruler for the exercise of a bishop’s functions under papal
authority or for the publication of papal bulls. [Editor]

"Count Joachim Pepoli of Bologna was an outstanding statesman and patriot. [Editor]

2§ee Vol. XIV, pp. 72ff. In the first line of p. 73 the first name of Pepoli should read
“Joachim” instead of “Charles.” [Editor]

BParticularly important is Father Lemoyne’s statement concerning what he wrote about Don
Bosco’s mother. In Volume I, pp. 92f of these Biographical Memoirs, he stated: “As concerns
Mamma Margaret all that has been written has come directly from Don Bosco himself. For six
years and more we had the good fortune to spend almost every evening in friendly conversation
with him. Although we very rarely returned to material already covered, whenever I questioned
him about what he had told me years before and I had faithfully recorded, I was amazed to hear
him repeat the same things about his mother and her very same words, so exactly indeed that he
seemed to be reading from a book. The very same assertion I can make about many other
occurrences which he kindly confided to me and which I treasured for the sake of my dear
confreres.”

In a letter from Rome to Father Rua dated April 28, 1884, he stated: “I have not yet been able
to see Rome because there is always writing to be done, but I feel I must be near this great man of
God, take notes on whatever I come to learn about him, and help him in whatever small measure I
can.” Father [Charles] Viglietti’s diary states on February 27, 1885: “Every day that Don Bosco
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archive documents, he secretly handed his work to our printshop at San
Benigno Canavese for typesetting; only a few copies were printed, and
they were only galley proofs. Unfortunately, however, he did not take
the trouble to authenticate and to file away his originals. On receiving
the proofs from the printers, he would get rid of all the papers which
contained both the data he had accumulated and their sources. Some of
these papers, in his handwriting, are still extant, but they concern data
which came to him after the galleys had been printed and which he did
not insert into the volumes of the Memoirs. By so doing, he relied on
the trust his confreres put in him, for it was for them mainly that he was
writing, with no thought that someday outsiders or posterity might
possibly not be so compliant. Therefore, when these Memoirs make
use of these galley sheets, their only historicity rests on the indisputa-
ble knowledge and integrity of the writer who passed them down to us.

It was very fortunate that the apostolic process for the cause of Don
Bosco’s beatification and canonization was initiated so soon after his
death—almost immediately, one might say. It offers us a steady flow of
primary eyewitnesses and earwitnesses whose sworn testimony makes
it abundantly possible to verify the biographer’s account.

Another providential source that greatly helped us in compiling
these last volumes was a substantial collection of documents which
shed much light on the controversy dividing our blessed father and
Turin’s archbishop. Our readers have often come across footnotes citing
an original document as being in the possession of Father [Dominic]
Franchetti of Turin. This distinguished priest was indeed very fortunate
because, on the death of Father [Thomas] Chiuso, Archbishop [Law-
rence] Gastaldi’s personal secretary and heir, Father Franchetti was
able to buy his entire library for a thousand lire. He discovered among
the books a packet of letters and papers connected with the well-known
conflicts. He instantly realized how valuable this discovery would be
when the right time came for a monograph on this interesting topic; yet
with generosity beyond all praise, he not only permitted us to peruse

goes out for a walk—I always accompany him—he delights in talking about past events in his
life. This makes for highly entertaining conversation. I record all he says in notebooks which I
pass on to Father Lemoyne for his History of the Oratory and for Don Bosco’s biography.”
[Author]
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these papers, but he also allowed us to copy whatever we might find
useful in them. I publicly express my thanks tc him here. Without
these documents, as the reader will realize, I would have found it
impossible to shed light upon the final phase of that distressing
controversy.

As for myself, the author, I can only visualize myself as a patient
silkworm, dedicating my entire self to building my share of that vast
cocoon from which one day others will spin the silk to weave a cloak of
glory for our founder and father.

Turin, August 2, 1933
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SALESIAN GLOSSARY
(For the General Reading Public)

ARTISANS: trade school students.

ASSISTANCE: Salesian method of supervision of boys and students, friendly and
informal in manner, stressing the prevention of disorders rather than the
punishment of offenders.

ASSISTANT: a Salesian engaged in supervising boys.

CLERIC: a member of the Salesian Society training for the priesthood.

COADJUTOR: a lay member of the Salesian Society.

COMPANION OF YOUTH, THE: a prayer book composed by St. John Bosco for the
use of boys, originally entitled I/ Giovane Provveduto.

COOPERATORS: Christians (laymen, lay religious or priests) who, even if they
have no religious vows, follow a vocation to holiness by offering themselves to
work for the young in the spirit of Don Bosco, in the service of the local church,
and in communion with the Salesian Congregation.

EXERCISE FOR A HAPPY DEATH: a monthly practice of piety that promotes
spiritual recollection and fervor by meditation on one’s eventual death. It
stresses the reception of the sacraments of confession and Holy Communion as
if for the last time.

FESTIVE ORATORY: a Salesian work which offers boys and young men organized
recreational, educational, and religious activities, mostly on Sundays and
festive days.

The Festive Oratory was St. John Bosco’s first work and, for a good many
years, his only one. He called it “oratory,” that is, a place of prayer, because its
primary purpose was to teach boys to go to church and pray. ‘“Its objectives were
the practice of religion and virtue, the boys’ moral education, and, consequently,
the salvation of their souls; recreation, entertainment, singing, and schooling,
which followed in due time, were only the means.” (The Biographical Memoirs of
St. John Bosco, Vol. 11, p. 71. See also Vol. III, pp. 67f)

GooD NIGHT: a short talk immediately after night prayers, given by the Director
or someone in his stead. It consists of advice, exhortations, or occasional
remarks.

ORATORY: see Festive Oratory, Oratory of St. Francis de Sales.

OIZA}'OR)Y. THE: abbreviated form of “The Oratory of St. Francis de Sales” (See

elow

ORATORY OF ST. FRANCIS DE SALES, THE: the first festive oratory and the first
boarding school for boys founded by St. John Bosco in a district of Turin known
as Valdocco; the motherhouse of the Salesian Congregation.

On a rainy night of May 1847 a hungry youngster, drenched from head to foot,
knocked at Don Bosco’s door. Don Bosco’s mother fed him and prepared a place
for him to sleep. (See The Biographical Memoirs of St. John Bosco, Vol. 111, pp.
141ff) Thus, side by side with the festive oratory there began a hospice that
eventually grew into a large boarding school and became the motherhouse of the
Salesian Congregation.

PREVENTIVE SYSTEM: the Salesian method of education and discipline, based on
reason and religion. It stresses vigilance, guidance, and sympathetic
understanding in the training of the young.

VALDOCCO: a district of Turin.

The name is probably a contraction of the Latin vallis occisorum, the valley of
the slain—i.e., some soldiers of the Theban Legion who were martyred under
Emperor Maximian. The Salesian motherhouse stands on the site of their
martyrdom. (See The Biographical Memoirs of St. John Bosco, Vol. 11, pp.
233ft, 268)
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CHAPTER 1

Missions, Missionaries
and Two Expeditions

DON Bosco both opened and closed the year 1881 by send-
ing forth new laborers to that remote portion of the vineyard which the
Lord of the Gospel had entrusted to him. An appeal had sounded from
Rome. On December 3, 1880 Leo XIII had addressed to all Catholic
bishops an encyclical dealing with three [pontifical] associations—the
Propagation of the Faith, the Holy Childhood, and the Oriental
Schools. The Holy Father had issued this fervent appeal:

My venerable brothers, you have been called to share Our solicitude [for the
universal Church]. We, therefore, ardently exhort you to cooperate whole-
heartedly in giving prompt assistance to Our apostolic missions, fully trusting
in God notwithstanding all difficulties.

At stake is the salvation of souls, for whom Our Redeemer laid down His
life and appointed Us, bishops and priests, to labor for the perfecting of His
saints and for the building up of His mystical body. Hence, wherever we have
been entrusted with His flock, let us each do our utmost to provide to the
missions those means which, as we have recalled, have been time-tested from
the very beginning of the Church—the proclamation of the Gospel, the
prayers and alms of devout souls.

After this exhortation the Pope continued:

Should you encounter persons who in their zeal for the glory of God are
willing and able to undertake so holy a journey, encourage them, so that once
they have searched and discerned God’s will, they be not distressed by their
human weakness but rather be eager to follow the promptings of the Holy
Spirit.
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Inspired by such firm urging, Don Bosco felt that the time had come
to resume the missionary expeditions which had been suspended for
the last two years. True, some missionaries, like Father Bernard Vac-
china, had gone singly or in pairs, but they were few.? Urgent need for
personnel in Europe and financial difficulties had made it impossible to
do more. Now that the way to Patagonia was open and people were
beginning to look upon present achievements as a tangible sign of the
perennial vitality of the Roman Catholic Church, he felt that this was
the time to push ahead.’ Even some of the ultra-liberal newspapers
commented on the Pope’s forceful exhortation, without daring to avow
it openly.? Don Bosco therefore decided on an initial expedition of six
Salesians and eight Daughters of Mary, Help of Christians to leave by
mid-January. To this first group he added six more Salesians who were
to go to Spain at about the same time. As for financing the expedition
Don Bosco put all his trust in his Salesian cooperators, as he an-
nounced in his regular January letter.

He tried also to obtain a subsidy of some kind from the Italian
government and sent to Benedict Cairoll, premier and foreign minister,
a concise report on what had been done and was still being done in
Argentina and in Uruguay especially for the ever growing number of
Italian immigrants. The report stated that the Salesians were ‘‘scattered
over thirty-four localities,”” a round number including not only fixed
missionary residences, but also those posts which the Salesians peri-

See Appendix 1. [Editor]

2In the official listings their names were included as members of the 1880 expedition. [Author]

30ne of the gifts Don Bosco received on New Year’s Day was a book written by a Rosminian
who sent it to him “as a token of his profound veneration.” Describing the Church’s advance into
the remotest quarters of the globe, the author mentioned the *“inhospitable wastelands of Pa-
tagonia and the Pampas of South America.” In an attitude of apologia, he went on to say: “‘Right
now when allegedly Catholicism is dying, it has strength enough between gasps to send to those
lands more and more groups of Salesian missionaries, recently founded by Don Bosco, a second
Calasanctius,* who, meanwhile, here in Europe, thanks to his numerous and ever growing
schools, keeps rescuing thousands of boys from pillory and prison and turns them into hard-
working, honest citizens” (P.A. Cicuto, Se il Cattolicismo sia morente [Is Catholicism Dying?],
diagnostic essay, published by Giulio Speirani & Son, Torino, 1881). This book is not entirely free
of error. [Author]

4St. Joseph Calasanctius (1556-1658), founder of the Piarists. [Editor]

50n January 7 [1881], 1! Diritto, in a long article entitled Missionari e Parlamento [Mission-
aries and Parliament] by Raffaele Mariano, acknowledged the civilizing influence of Catholicism,
though the author even at that time openly favored the Protestants, whose energy, morality and
skills he praised. [Author]

Bollettino Salesiano, January 1881. [Author]



Missions, Missionaries and Two Expeditions 3

odically visited in the exercise of their ministry.” The following state-
ment on Patagonia is noteworthy: ‘“We plan to extend the Italian
Missions to the Strait of Magellan and from there to Cape Horn.
Hopefully, I will personally confer with Your Excellency on this matter
sometime next March, if it is agreeable to you.”” He intended to try to
persuade the foreign minister to use his diplomatic influence to channel
the stream of Italian immigrants to those plains of Patagonia which the
Indians had abandoned and left to lie fallow. Those were the areas
where they could establish colonies, develop agriculture and foster
civilization to their own economic and moral advantage. That is what
he meant by the “Italian Missions”” which were to extend out to the
Strait of Magellan. As at other times in the past, the reply he received
was evasive, but, even if he accomplished nothing else, it was no waste
of time to call the government’s attention to his religious and patriotic
activities overseas.

Relying upon his patron, Cardinal [Lawrence] Nina, to be his con-
tact with the Holy See in obtaining financial help, especially in the
form of Mass stipends and sacred vestments, he sent him a letter that
has now been lost. On January 12 [1881] he received by mail from
South America his very first letter that bore the postage stamp of
Patagonia. In itself this was not very important, but it meant so much to
him and brought him such comfort that he wrote again to the cardinal,
enclosing the envelope, almost like a proof that all was really going
well. In that letter he also enclosed two copies of his report on the
Salesian houses and missions of South America covering the years
1875 to 1881.%

Turin, January 12, 1881
Your Eminence:

As T had the honor of telling you in my previous letter, our missionaries are
willing, in an effort to reduce costs, to sacrifice a cherished trip to Rome to
revere our Holy Father and to receive his apostolic benediction.

They therefore humbly ask that Your Eminence request our Holy Father’s
kindly blessing and send it to them before their departure.

TTo acquaint the public with what the Salesians had accomplished in South America in five
years, Unita Cattolica published on January 15, 1881 the report that had been sent to Pope Leo
XIII. [Author]

8See Appendix 2. [Author]
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The solemn ceremony has been set for the 20th of this month in the Church
of Mary, Help of Christians. They will then sail from Genoa on the 22nd,
unless, as it is feared, storms at sea, usual in this season, should counsel
postponing the sailing date.

Today I received in my mail the first postage stamp of Patagonia. As art it is
not a good job, but since it is the first [I have seen] in Europe, I thought I
would send it to you with this letter.

I also believe that Your Eminence and our gracious Holy Father will be
pleased with the enclosed two copies of the updated report on our American
missions. One is for you; I ask you kindly to present the other to His Holiness
as a small mark of our missionaries’ homage to the Holy See and their offer of
the first fruits they have reaped in these five years of evangelization.

I shall have an opportunity to inform you of further achievements of our
religious among the Indians of the Pampas and of Patagonia right after the
missionary departure which we have planned as above.

In deep reverence I ask for the charity of your prayers and am greatly
honored to remain,

Yours most respectfully,
Fr. John Bosco

The cardinal passed Don Bosco’s request to the Holy Father, who
referred to it on a distinctive occasion. On Monday, January 17, Father
Dalmazzo® attended a special papal audience given to superiors and
procurators general of religious orders and congregations residing in
Rome. Its purpose was to get acquainted with the state of affairs of
their respective religious families. Father Dalmazzo was given a gra-
cious welcome by the Pope who first asked him about the Church of the
Sacred Heart. “You are now on the Esquiline’ which has been en-
trusted to you,” he said. “Are you busy at work there? Is anything
being built? Hurry because great is the need. Do not get disheartened!”
He then continued, “I have read Don Bosco’s letter to Cardinal Nina. I
have already given instructions that something be made ready for his
missionaries: sacred vestments, chalices and other things.” He then
imparted his apostolic blessing for them, saying that he did so with
pleasure, and added, “How does Don Bosco manage? Don’t all these
projects frighten him? It is obvious that the Lord is with him.” Car-
dinal Nina, fearing that the Holy Father might forget Don Bosco’s

9See Appendix 1. [Editor]
90ne of the seven hills of ancient Rome. [Editor]
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request for Mass stipends, had prompted Father Dalmazzo to mention
them. and the Pontiff kindly responded, ‘‘I have requested some from
France, and you will have your share. Will two thousand do?”” When
Father Dalmazzo said, ‘‘Yes, that is fine,” the Pope concluded, ‘“Then
we shall order that they be delivered to you.” !

Don Bosco of course appealed also to private charity as he had
regularly done on similar occasions in the past, but so far we have
traced only one of these letters, addressed to his good friend, Father
Peter Vallauri of Turin. '

Turin, January 3, 1881
My dear Father Vallauri,

Ab amicis honesta sunt petenda [Only good things are to be asked from
friends], and I am aware of that. Yet I must push a bit beyond the bounds of
discretion.

Here I am. I have committed myself to send a missionary expedition to
[South] America on January 22. The Daughters of Mary, Help of Christians
and twelve Salesians are ready to go to relieve their overburdened co-workers,
but just now I cannot do anything because I am strapped for cash. In your
kindness can you see your way clear to contributing ten thousand francs, if
only in loan, in memory of your parents, to assist the Church, support our
missions, and ease my tight situation? I write with such trust only because I
know your heart’s desire to put all you have at God’s service for His greater
glory and the salvation of souls.

May God keep you in good health! While recommending myself and my
poor boys to the charity of your prayers, I am in Jesus Christ,

Yours affectionately,
Fr. John Bosco

Italy’s largest Catholic newspaper carried this article'? on the forth-
coming expedition:

We most heartily applaud the courageous Don Bosco and his worthy sons.
Aware of how he keeps his important enterprises going with only the private

I etter from Father Dalmazzo to Don Bosco, Rome, January 20, 1881. [Author]

2Unita Cattolica, January 15, 1881. The new expedition consisted of twenty-three persons.
This number included not only the six Salesians and eight Daughters of Mary, Help of Christians,
assigned to South America, but also the six Salesians traveling to Utrera, Spain, and Father
Cagliero. It also included Mother Mazzarello and Mother Roncallo, who traveled with some
sisters as far as Marseille. [Author]
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financial backing and donations of charitable persons, we positively commend
this noble undertaking of his to the generosity of Catholics. Helping Don
Bosco is today more than ever before a sign not just of Catholic faith, but of
our country’s sense of charity and genuine brotherhood [. . .] for this aid turns
to the advantage of thousands of Italians living in [South] America. It will also
help reshape and restore society through the sound moral education of youth
and will help evangelize vast tribes who still live in ignorance of Christianity’s
exceptional temporal and eternal blessings.

Since the departure date was close, Don Bosco anticipated the reg-
ular Conference of St. Francis de Sales for the Salesian cooperators to
have it coincide with the leave-taking ceremony scheduled for January
20. In a talk marked by Gospel simplicity and that dear charm which
was entirely his own, Don Bosco held his vast congregation spellbound
for some thirty minutes. He opened by telling them of the Holy Fa-
ther’s special blessing to all the cooperators and missionaries. He then
spoke of the Salesians and of the Daughters of Mary, Help of Christians
who had left for the missions in previous years, narrating all the good
work they had done, which should comfort so many of his listeners and
the generous benefactors who had contributed to that work. He went on
to explain his plans for the salvation of the pagan tribes who lived like
nomads in the vast wilderness of the Pampas, of Patagonia and of Tierra
del Fuego. Hence the need to keep sending new reinforcements of
evangelical workers. The conclusion of his sermon was reserved for the
departing missionaries, emphasizing the sacrifice they were making in
leaving everything for love of Jesus Christ and the souls He had re-
deemed. Then, again addressing the congregation, he stated: “‘If they
are ready to risk their lives, how can we refuse to make some sacrifice
ourselves? Let us pray that God may help and strengthen them, yes, but
let those who can do so also support them with donations. You will
cooperate with them in giving God glory and in benefiting souls, thus
entitling yourselves to that hundredfold on earth which God promises
to those who give for His name’s sake. What is much more, you will
also be sure to save your own souls!”” On January 23 Unita Cattolica
wrote: ‘““We know that Don Bosco’s words did not fall on sterile soil,
for Turin’s generous citizens proved themselves instruments of God’s
compassion for him and his mission.”

The missionaries left immediately for Sampierdarena but did not
board ship until February 3. At Sampierdarena a very intimate cere-
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mony was held for them in the school’s chapel. In his sermon, Don
Bosco bade them remember three things:

1. They would have to deal with sullen and unruly individuals to
whom they were to show love, love, love!

2. Each was to do his share of work, lest it happen that one would do
the work of three, while another did nothing at all.

3. They were to overlook the others’ faults, for all have their own
and, on detecting their superiors’ shortcomings, to act like Noah’s two
good sons, not like Ham.

The expedition departed in two groups: those leaving for Uruguay
and Spain taking the ship Umberto I of the Rocco and Piaggio Line,
those going to Buenos Aires boarding the Sud America of the Lavarello
Line.

At this point Father [John] Cagliero, who was with the first group,
takes up our narrative.®

We said our farewells on the pier, since the first group was sailing two hours
before us that same evening, and bade each other a pleasant journey. We met a
calm sea and a bright moon, so that when we arrived the next day, Friday, at
Marseille, we were in good spirits and not seasick.

We rode at anchor for three days; in fact the ship was put into dry dock to
have the propeller replaced while we all went ashore on Saturday morning,
February 5, and said Mass at our own house in Rue Beaujour.

Don Bosco arrived from Nice that evening, having left by train one day
before us. A small man physically, Father Bologna* was certainly huge in
kindness, generosity and brotherly love during the two days he hosted us.
What a joy for us Salesians! True, we left dear brothers in Italy, but we have
found brothers no less dear in France. We left them too, of course, but
brothers just as dear are awaiting us in [South] America!

We returned to our ship on Sunday evening. Our beloved father, who always
waxes courageous when he wants to show his love to his sons, braved the most
violent of mistrals that shake trees, ships and people in order to escort us to the
dockyard, some three quarters of an hour from town.

There the owner of Umberto I, Mr. Evasio Piaggio, its captain and officers
warmly welcomed him with uncommon signs of esteem and reverence. We
had a lively conversation over coffee and champagne. Mr. Piaggio, a very
gracious person and devout Christian, was so taken by the reports of Salesian

3] etter to Father Rua, Gibraltar, February 14, 1881. [Author]
4See Appendix 1. [Editor]
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work in Italy, France, and [South] America that he gratefully accepted being
enrolled as a Salesian cooperator, and, warming up to Don Bosco, wished to
escort him to our quarters, accompanied by the captain. Here all the Sales-
ians, Daughters of Mary, Help of Christians, and many passengers were
assembled. We listened to his final admonitions and received his holy, fatherly
blessing. Indeed it was a holy blessing, for it moved us all deeply, and it was
fatherly because it touched the hearts of all his children, many of whom were
resigned to the thought of never seeing him again until they met in heaven!

Since the hour was late and the wind was kicking up a storm, we walked
with him as far as the shipyard, Mr. Piaggio on one side and we on the other.
Luckily a coach arrived just then to discharge some ladies. I say luckily
because it would have been impossible to walk that long distance at that late
hour, buffeted by a most fierce wind.

The following day (Monday the 7th) we spent in dry dock. That night, as
soon as the propeller was repaired, four valves were opened and the sea water
rushed in with such turbulence that it vividly brought to mind the flood waters
released by God at the time of the deluge!

At four o’clock on February 8, as dawn was beginning to break, we steamed
out of Marseille en route to Barcelona. Till then we had not had the slightest
taste of Neptune’s fury, but it was waiting for us as we entered the Gulf of
Lions! Mountainous seas and wind, wind and mountainous seas!

Huge crests and gaping hollows of sea, towering waves crashing upon angry
seas and smashing against the sturdy flanks of the ship mightier than they.
Breakers hammering against the prow, and lifting the ship’s stern clear out of
the water! Endless clanging of the spars added to the shrill whine of the
rigging, and in a flash the whole deck was suddenly awash and we had to retire

5In a letter to Father Rua from Marseille on February 9, Father Bologna described the same
evening as follows: ‘At six on Sunday evening the missionaries, with the sisters, Don Bosco and
1, set out for Umberto I in two buses. Night had fallen and the mistral was raging. The ship lay in
dry dock streaming with the violent downpour of rain. Clutching our hats and clinging to Don
Bosco, we managed to get up to the deck. Despite the dangerous situation and our caution, Don
Bosco kept us in good humor with his funny remarks. On board we were welcomed by Mr. Evasio
Piaggio, owner of Umberto I, who asked for Don Bosco and escorted him to his own study, where
he entertained his guest for three quarters of an hour with exquisite courtesy and cordiality. The
ship’s officers too welcomed him, vying to show him their good will and respect. The captain was
pleased to learn that Don Bosco had sixty thousand subjects and therefore ranked higher than he.
Afterward, Mr. Piaggio, the captain, chief steward and officers escorted Don Bosco through the
ship, and all knelt when he blessed the missionaries and addressed a few words to all. We walked
out into patches of moonlight, the wind blasting us with full force. Mr. Piaggio took Don Bosco’s
arm and told him to lean on him. The captain led the way, followed by a member of the line’s
board of directors and the ship’s officers. They stayed with us for twenty minutes, guiding us
among girders and drawbridges and not leaving us until we reached the road and could board a
carriage. The missionaries had come with us and were milling about Don Bosco. We were all so
worried about the weather, the darkness and the wind that we were spared the emotion of the
moment.” [Author]
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to our cabins and curl up in our bunks. . . . Later, nearly all of us, hit in
varying degrees by seasickness, paid partial or total tribute to the sea.

I say “nearly all of us,” because on this single occasion among all my sea
voyages, I managed to come through as a much envied and very lucky
exception.

That same Tuesday evening, we cast anchor in Barcelona’s harbor, our ship
having maintained fourteen knots an hour. The crew spent the whole night and
all Wednesday loading cargo, while we—that is, Father Piccono, Father
Branda, Father Pane and I'*—decided to go ashore, where we saw the city’s
truly marvelous, ancient cathedral, St. Eulalia’s torture rack, and the crucifix
salvaged from the battle of Lepanto. Then we returned on board.

We set sail (without sails, however) for Gibraltar in bright moonlight on
Wednesday evening, but again ran into a blustering wind in the Gulf of
Valencia. We were tossed about all night long, and forced to fast all the next
day. Thursday night to Friday morning (the 11th) we were shrouded in fog,
which slowed our course, and our foghorns bellowed warnings to other ships
in the area to prevent tragic collisions.

Throughout this leg of our journey we managed to celebrate Mass every
morning and administer Holy Communion to the sisters and the coadjutor
brothers. The rest of the day we spent in prayer, some reading, a lot of
walking, and eating whenever we could. . . . It was an easy, carefree life,
eating, drinking, and strolling about. You really cannot get any work done on
board ship, so you resort to childish pranks and relax and take turns in
laughing at one another’s bouts with seasickness.

Forty-eight hours after leaving Barcelona we reached Gibraltar and had
dinner on Friday evening while at anchor. Later that night, we said our good-
byes and called upon our merciful Lady, Star of the Sea, to protect our dear
confreres who were continuing their journey across the mighty ocean, and to
be with us as we made our way along the coast in a small boat as far as Cadiz.
This was the fourth and last parting we had to go through.

The rest of the expedition, led by Father Angelo Piccono, sailed on
to Montevideo, Uruguay. The other group, consisting of two Salesians
and four Daughters of Mary, Help of Christians, was already on the
high seas. Both groups had a hard time for about three days when they
ran into a fierce gale.

While our hapless travelers feared for their lives, a notorious peri-
odical we have already met, La Cronaca dei Tribunali,"® chose to sink

6For all these, see Appendix 1. [Editor]
7See Vol. XII, p. 442. [Editor]
18§ee Vol. XIV, pp. 69, 207, 226-230. [Editor]
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its venemous fangs into our beloved Don Bosco. Incensed mostly by an
article in Unita Cattolica® [entitled The Power of a Catholic Priest and
a Touching Ceremony in Turin], the newspaper, under the glaring
headline “DON BOSCO AND FATHER MARGOTTI,” spewed forth
an ugly diatribe against both priests in a double columned article. After
insulting the editor of the Catholic paper, it mocked Don Bosco in a
nasty mishmash of accusation and insinuation, thus exposing him hid-
eously to suspicions on the part of civil authorities. The periodical in
fact charged him with snatching boys and girls from their parents and
citizens from their fatherland, insinuating that among the departing
missionaries there could be some who were subject to the military draft
and were being forced against their will to desert their homeland clan-
destinely. Then, flagrantly falsifying facts, it resurrected the “Foglino
incident,” whose outcome we have already described.?’ Such under-
handedness was all the more vicious because in those very days the
Superior Council for Public Education was debating the enforced shut-
down of the Oratory’s secondary school.? Fiery Father Margotti was
doubtless itching to respond in kind, but not a word appeared in his
periodical, most probably because Don Bosco, always averse to po-
lemics, had thought it better to let the whole matter die quietly.?

Don Bosco gave the departing missionaries letters for their confreres
overseas. It was his custom to send a personal note every year to each
Salesian priest, cleric and coadjutor in South America. He continued
this custom as long as he could until 1884. We have precious samples
of this correspondence in nine letters which we have managed to trace,
all dated January 31, 1881, and we give them here with a line or two or
introduction.

To Father [James] Costamagna,? recently appointed provincial to

YJanuary 23, 1881 issue. An article about this ceremony also appeared in No. 17 of the
Emporio Popolare. [Author]

2See Vol. XIV, pp. 227-233. [Editor]

2]bid. pp. 108-155. [Editor]

22An indirect form of reply may have appeared in an article dated January 30 which quoted
from Atti ufficiali della Camera Subalpina [Official Acts of the Sub-Alpine Assembly] and from
speeches made by Cavour and La Marmora in 1853 against a proposal to include all clerics in the
military draft, speeches which La Marmora reiterated in 1869 and 1871, when Italy was already a
kingdom. No national events took place in 1881 which might have led Margotti to dig out these
documents. It was probably his intent to make it clear once again that any law which forced clerics
to leave the seminary for army camps was not fit to be called a law. [Author]

2See Appendix 1. [Editor]
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replace the deceased Father [Francis] Bodrato,?* he sends instructions
on immediately setting up church organizational structures in Pa-
tagonia so as to preclude complications during the expansion of the
work of the missions; he also traces out for him some guidelines he is
to follow in his new office.

Turin, January 31, 1881
My dear Father Costamagna,

I have received the memos and letters you have been sending me. All is
well. Clear skies with a bit of clouds here and there. That’s the way life is here
on earth. I am sending you some materials, aids, and letters. Take care of the
distribution.

We shall do our utmost to liquidate our outstanding debts; do the same
yourself. I trust that finances will take a turn for the better this year.

The matter of a prefecture or vicariate apostolic in Patagonia is of top
importance. The Holy Father wishes and recommends it, and it is to our
advantage. Without it we cannot get support from the Propaganda Fide in
Rome, nor from the Society for the Propagation of the Faith in Lyons, nor
from the Association of the Holy Childhood. It appears that neither you nor
Father Bodrato has grasped its importance.

News about us here you will hear from the others. I only say to you: “Be
vigilant; labor in all things as a good soldier of Christ.”

But never forget that we are Salesians: Sal et lux; “salt,” i.e., kindness,
patience, charity; “light” in all our activities so that all may see our good
works and glorify our Father who is in heaven.

Give my sincerest regards to Mr. [Felix] Frids, to Dr. [Edward] Carranza
and to Mr. [John Baptist] Gazzolo, should you happen to see them.

God bless you and all our dear confreres and all our works, so that all may
always and solely be for God’s glory.

Pray for me. With all my heart in Jesus Christ, I am,

Yours affectionately,
Fr. John Bosco

P.S. Interpret my mind and in my name give our sisters a brief conference.

The Superior Chapter has definitely chosen you to be provincial in Amer-
ica, and the written appointment will be sent to you soon. This is so that you
may become holy and lead others to holiness too.

1bid. [Editor]
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To Father [Joseph] Vespignani®® who was novice master and acting
director of the Salesian house at San Carlos in Almagro, he sends best
wishes, words of counsel, and news of his family.

Turin, January 31, 1881
My dear Father Joseph,

I have enjoyed receiving several letters from you. I bless the Lord, who has
granted you enough health to work in this general state of need. May He
enable you to rally about me a large host of aspirants, who will in turn become
novices, professional members, and very fervent Salesians.

Tell your dear pupils and mine that this friend of theirs in Europe sends
them this word of advice which will guarantee their happiness: ‘““Flee from sin
and receive Holy Communion frequently.”” Explain this to them.

I have heard from your relatives, and they are well. Your cleric brother,
Ernest,? is enthusiastic and wants to become a good Salesian.

God bless you, my dear Father Joseph. May He keep you in good health.
Pray for me, always in Jesus Christ,

Yours affectionately,
Fr. John Bosco

For Father [Dominic] Tomatis,*” who had succeeded Father Fagnano
as director at the house at San Nicol4s de los Arroyos, he had a fatherly
scolding because he had to wait so long for a letter from him. Don
Bosco felt very strongly about letter writing, particularly from [local]
superiors, for it enabled him to exercise a thoughtful influence over
their respective houses. The uncle to whom he refers here was a Jesuit.

Turin, January 31, 1881
My dearest Father Dominic,

Now and then I have had a letter from you which always brought me much
pleasure, but all too rarely. Your uncle, Father Tomatis, has the same com-
plaint. Please let me hear from you once a month, and tell me about the
confreres with you. If you plead being busy as an excuse, I shall accept it, but
my love for you makes me very anxious to be up to date on whatever concerns
you.

3Ibid. [Editor]
26Father Ernest Vespignani, architect. [Author]
?See Appendix 1. [Editor]
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I have been told that you are straightening out the financial situation at San
Nicolas. Excellent! When God will call you to heaven we shall ask Him to
give you a crown of glory!

We all love you here and often recall you and your poetic masterpieces. 1
personally never forget you at Holy Mass and believe that you have not
forgotten this old friend of your soul either.

Iurge you in your position to look after the observance of the rules by which
we have dedicated ourselves to the Lord and especially the monthly Exercise
for a Happy Death.

Tell your boys I am praying for them and ask them always to remember that
time is a precious treasure of which they must never waste a fragment!

God bless you, my dear Father Tomatis! May He keep you in good health
and in His holy grace! Pray for me.

Yours affectionately in Jesus Christ,
Fr. John Bosco

P.S. The Superior Chapter has definitely appointed Father Costamagna as
provincial of [South] America. Please inform those whom it may concern.

Words of heartening encouragement which only he could write were
addressed to Father [Thaddeus] Remotti, sole priest at the Church of
Our Lady of Mercy in Buenos Aires, who was certainly overwhelmed
with work.

Turin, January 31, 1881
My dear Father Remotti,

I have received your several letters with deep pleasure as always, but,
please, write more often and more at length. However, I know how hard you
are working and excuse you. While laboring for the souls of others, do not
forget your own soul. Never omit the monthly Exercise for a Happy Death.

We are moving forward with giant strides. No sooner do we have a capable
Salesian than immediately two houses contend for him, and sometimes we can
only provide very tender shoots. Pray fervently to God, therefore, that they
bear fruit.

God bless you, my dear Father Remotti! You are always the apple of my
eye! Keep working. The reward is all ready; heaven awaits us. Let our hearts
be where true joys await us.

Pray for me.

Yours affectionately in Jesus Christ,
Fr. John Bosco
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To the cleric, Joseph Joachim Quaranta,?® of the house of San Nic-
olds he sent what amounts to a questionnaire for a spiritual self-
appraisal, introduced and concluded with such expressions as to make
the young man feel for a fleeting moment that he was once again
enjoying a filial colloquy with his spiritual father, as in days past.

Turin, January 31, 1881
My dear Quaranta,

I hear that you are in good health and doing your best. This pleases me no
end. Study and piety will make you a true Salesian. Never forget that you must
first ensure the salvation of your own soul; then give yourself to saving the
souls of others.

The Exercise for a Happy Death and frequent Communion are the key. Are
you in good health now? Are you really being good? Is your vocation being
safeguarded? Do you feel you are ready for ordination? Give me your answers
in your next letter.

God bless you, my dear Quaranta. Take heart! Pray for me.

Yours affectionately in Jesus Christ,
Fr. John Bosco

Turin, January 31, 1881
My dear Paseri,

You have always been the joy of my heart, and I love you even more now
that you have given yourself completely to the [foreign] missions. You have
left all things to dedicate yourself entirely to winning souls.

Take heart, then, my dear Paseri. Get yourself ready to be a good priest, a
holy Salesian. I shall pray much for you, but please don’t forget this friend of
your soul.

May the grace of Our Lord Jesus Christ be with us always, strengthening us
against temptation and keeping us on our way to heaven.

Pray for me. Ever yours in the Sacred Hearts of Jesus and Mary,

Fr. John Bosco

28We give him both first names because they are used interchangeably in the Salesian Direc-
tory. At the time of writing (October 1932) he is still active at the parish of St. John the Evangelist
in La Boca, Buenos Aires. [Author}]
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Turin, January 31, 1881
My dear Peretto,

I have no doubt that you will always be the same cleric Peretto, my friend
always so anxious to help me win many souls for God. Now that you have
totally devoted yourself to this task, show yourself in all things an example of
good works. Bear up with tribulations patiently, work as a preacher of the
Gospel, and the Lord will bless what you plant and make it bear fruit.

God bless you, my dear Peretto! May He keep you in His holy grace. Pray
for me.

Yours affectionately in Jesus Christ,
Fr. John Bosco

He punned with brother Sappa, an orchardman, about his sur-
name—turning it into useful advice—to relieve his occasional
hypertension.

Turin, January 31, 1881
My dear Sappa:

Make sure that your name derives from sapera [to be wise] and not from
zappere [to hoe] and then all will be right. I have received your several letters.
Keep sending me good news as you have done in the past. Work and obe-
dience will be your salvation.

May God assist you in giving good example at all times. Pray for me, and I
will pray for you, for I wish to be always in Jesus Christ.

Yours affectionately in Jesus Christ,
Fr. John Bosco

For Charles Audisio, a hard-working coadjutor brother who, as a
boy, had attended the Valdocco Festive Oratory in its beginnings, he
had words of well-known advice.

Turin, January 31, 1881
My dear Charles,

This old friend of your soul sends you best wishes and urges you never to
forget your eternal salvation. Work, but work for heaven.

Exactness in your practices of piety is everything; obedience, too, opens the
door to all the virtues.
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God bless you, dear Audisio! May He keep you always in His holy grace.
Pray for me.

Yours affectionately in Jesus Christ,
Fr. John Bosco

Fatherly love is the tone of the following note to the cleric Bar-
tholomew Panaro, who was teaching in our school at San Nicolés de
los Arroyos. He was to become a great missionary, an apostolic worker
from his year of ordination, 1884, to his death in 1918, first as a
dauntless assistant of Father [Joseph] Fagnano® in evangelizing innu-
merable Indians along the shores of Rio Negro, and later as an assistant
of Father [Dominic] Milanesio® in establishing the first settlement in
the Patagonian Andes at Chosmalal.

Turin, January 31, 1881
My dear Panaro,

How are you doing? Are you making progress in studies and in piety? I
hope so. I urge you to persevere at the price of any and every sacrifice. Do not
lose sight of the great reward that God keeps in store for us in heaven.

Constant obedience and the Exercise for a Happy Death are essentials.

God bless you, my dear Panaro! Be a model Salesian, and pray for me.

Yours affectionately in Jesus Christ,
Fr. John Bosco

Graciousness marks this last brief letter to the cleric Peter Calcagno,
who was then at the Villa Col6n school in Montevideo. He was later to
head the last [missionary] expedition which Don Bosco would send on
December 6, 1887 to Ecuador.

Turin, January 31, 1881
My dear Calcagno,

Are you still a good fellow, my dear friend? I hope you are. Never look
back. Rather, let’s look ahead to heaven which awaits us. There is our great
reward! Work, save many souls, and also save your own. Temperance and

YSee Appendix 1. [Editor]
30Jbid. [Editor]
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obedience are everything for you. Write to me often. God bless you! May He
keep you in His holy grace. Pray for me.

Yours affectionately in Jesus Christ,
Fr. John Bosco

Father [Joseph] Vespignani’s comments on these letters are con-
tained in a typed memo: “‘At the beginning of this year [1881] each
Salesian in [South] America received a precious gift: a personal letter
from Don Bosco, who addressed a word of encouragement and counsel
to each one. For all, this was a powerful incitement to perseverance, all
the more so because, with our spiritual retreats and recent achieve-
ments, we might well call that period one of rebirth of the Salesian
spirit in our province, and all hearts were prepared to accept grace and
counsel from heaven.”” The letters arrived during the carnival season.
Father [James] Costamagna wrote that the confreres ‘‘read and reread
them even during the entertainment in the auditorium, totally oblivious
of the performances on the stage.””*! Father [Angelo] Piccono, who
delivered the letters to the Salesians in Uruguay, informed us that there
too those precious notes in the hand of our holy founder brought
overwhelming joy and were tearfully kissed again and again.*

Shortly before the new missionary contingent got to Montevideo,
Bishop Hyacinth Vera had insisted that the Salesians should accept at
all costs the parish at Paysandd, an old city on the left bank of the great
Uruguay River. The parish—the only one—served twenty-five people.
Corruption and loose morals went unchallenged. To please the bishop,
the new arrivals, who were supposed to ease the workload of their
confreres in Uruguay, would instead have to go to Paysandd. To make
matters worse, Father [Louis] Lasagna,® their director, fell sick and, to
ease his pains, had to take his physicians’ advice and return to Italy for
a painful, delicate operation. He left on May 1, 1881. On July 21 Don
Bosco wrote to Countess [Charlotte] Callori to inform her of Father
Lasagna’s arrival.

31 etter to Don Bosco, Buenos Aires, March 6, 1881. [Author]
32 etter to Don Bosco, Villa Colén, March 7, 1881. [Author]
33See Appendix 1. [Editor]
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Turin, July 24, 1881
My dear Mama in Jesus Christ,

I have had no more news of your health and don’t even know if you are at
Vignale. If you cannot write yourself, ask someone to write for you, and you
will indeed be doing me a great favor, all the more so because I know how
exhausting was your ride from Turin to Vignale.

1 don’t know what to say. Often enough God hears a single brief prayer and
grants exceptional favors at once. Yet we have offered prayers for you, our
eighty thousand boys remember you every morning and evening, and so far 1
can’t see that we have gotten anywhere. Poor Don Bosco! I must have lost all
my credit with the Lord!

Father Lasagna has arrived from Uruguay to regain his health and to find
co-workers who will go back with him to his apostolic mission, where the
harvest is most plentiful and the workers very few. He immediately asked
about you and your family and said he would like to visit you at Montemagno,
where he will be going about the middle of this week.

I hope your entire family is well and that you are feeling better. May God
grant all of you full health and keep you in His holy grace.

Thank you for the generous contribution you sent me through Father
Cagliero.* I trust that you will receive at least a hundredfold [here on earth].
Father Cagliero also told me that you would not forget the Church of the
Sacred Heart in Rome.

Would you willingly accept an appointment from the Pope as solicitor of
funds? Do you think I can offer the same appointment to Count Rainero in his
position as Knight of Cape and Sword? I would appreciate your letting me
know your feelings on this.

God bless you. Pray for this poor soul who is always

Yours devotedly in Jesus Christ,
Fr. John Bosco

Father Lasagna was not strong enough for surgery until the end of
September, when he entered St. Maurice Hospital [in Turin]. There he
was pleasantly surprised to meet a grateful pupil of his from Lanzo
among the team of surgeons operating on him. He felt quite encour-
aged, though not to the point of full reassurance. Aware of his fears,
Don Bosco sent him a message, clearly telling him that he had to return
soon to [South] America, where another very important mission

3Ibid. [Editor]
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awaited him. The operation was very successful, as we gather from the
following two letters of Don Bosco to Father Costamagna.

San Benigno, October 1, 1881
My dear Father Costamagna,

A few words of cordial greeting in the Lord to you and all our dear Salesian
sons and daughters.

Father Lasagna is regaining his strength, but is still far from his usual robust
self. Nevertheless, his concern to be of use to the Congregation drives him to
want to return to his field of activity. He is really a good man. He has kind
words for everyone, especially for you, and this pleases me no end. Father
Cagliero has written to ask you your opinion on changes which seem advis-
able for the province in South America, especially now that we are going into
Brazil. In all matters, however, I want to follow your opinion.

The Holy Father is rather concerned and somewhat impatient to see this
matter of an apostolic prefecture or vicariate in Patagonia settled. He wants me
to send him a formal report on the stand taken by both the government and the
archbishop. Have we made any progress in this or is it bogged down?

Give me positive data which I can submit to the Holy Father, for he intends
to handle the matter directly.

I cannot understand the attitude of Father Tomatis. He is supposed to write
to his superior and have others send reports of his school’s personnel. Tell me
about the moral and physical condition of the school, our hopes and fears for
the future. Without this knowledge we can move forward only with uncer-
tainty. I myself am totally in the dark.

May God bless all of us and make saints of the Salesians, as He makes a
great saint out of you. Pray for me.

Ever yours affectionately in Jesus Christ,
Fr. John Bosco

P.S. Father Bonetti and Father Bertello® are preaching the retreat for our
one hundred and seventy novices preparing to take vows on the 3rd of this
month. What a goodly number of missionaries!

Turin, October 10, 1881
My dear Father Costamagna,

I am entrusting to you a task to be done by you or by someone else. Please
let me know the outcome so that I can inform a person who has been of no
small help to our missionaries in [South] America.

35For both see Appendix 1. [Editor]
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Last Thursday our dear Father Lasagna underwent a very serious operation.
For two days we all lived in great apprehension. He is doing better now, and
the physicians have declared him out of danger.

Thank God, all our confreres here in Europe are in good health.

Please extend my heartfelt greetings to all my sons in [South] America and
to all their pupils. Pray much for me because I am engaged in some very
complex, serious matters which need particular heavenly guidance.

God bless us all! May He keep us in His holy grace. Amen.

Yours affectionately,
Fr. John Bosco

While the industrious Father Lasagna was awaiting surgery, he did
not sit idly by, but busied himself looking for means and personnel,
and also mulling over a plan he had long cherished. For some time he
had nurtured the idea of setting up a weather station at the Pius IX
School in Villa Col6n. Broad-minded as he was, he saw how such a
station could benefit his mission by advancing the cause of the physical
sciences. The school’s site was ideal for an observatory to study atmo-
spheric phenomena and report to weather stations in Europe and Amer-
ica which sought to advance meteorology.

In Italy, quite near Turin, lived a man with a worldwide reputation in
this science, Father Francis Denza, a Barnabite, director of the obser-
vatory at the Charles Albert boarding school in Moncalieri. Father
Lasagna went to see him and, as usually happens when two scholars
exchange ideas, his plan vastly broadened in scope. They discussed the
setting up of a network of weather stations throughout South America
which would be run by the Salesians with headquarters in Montevideo.
Father Denza proposed this project at the third Geographic Convention
held shortly afterward in Venice, and it was favorably received. After
this first step, Father Denza conferred with Don Bosco, who gladly
consented, as was to be expected. He then drew up a report of the
views held by the group who had discussed meteorological problems at
the convention and forwarded it to the executive committee of the
Meteorological Association. This, in turn, on learning of Don Bosco’s
*“generous interest,”” expressed its own ‘‘deepest and grateful satisfac-
tion” and offered ‘‘sincerest congratulations for the courageous ini-
tiative in a matter of evident considerable difficulty, yet of great benefit
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to the physical sciences throughout the world.”’3¢ This was the begin-
ning of the meteorological observatory at Montevideo, of which we
shall have further occasion to speak in the course of our narrative.

In June, Father Lasagna received the sad news of the sudden death of
his close friend, Bishop Vera,*” who had been a good father to the
Salesians in Uruguay. Then, shortly before returning to [South] Amer-
ica, as we have narrated elsewhere, he was happy to learn that Leo XIII
had appointed a worthy successor, Bishop Innocent Yeregui, who was
a warm friend of the Salesians, as we have already narrated. It was
therefore with increased enthusiasm that he hurried his preparations for
departure.

Whether before or after his surgery—we are not sure—Father
Lasagna accompanied Don Bosco to Liguria where he witnessed some-
thing that only saints have the strength to do. Bishop Boraggini of
Savona had had a falling out with the director of the Varazze boarding
school, Father Monateri,*® who had decided not to comply with the
bishop’s expressed wish to send a Salesian priest for some regular
religious services to a church located in a mountain beyond the town
limits. Added to that was some misunderstanding about parish rights.
Father Monateri had acted rightfully. Now, no sooner did Don Bosco,
with Father Lasagna, pay a courtesy call on the bishop than he fell to
his knees, clasped his hands and begged, ““Your Excellency, I ask your
pardon for the displeasure given you by Father Monateri, director of
our school at Varazze.”

“Don Bosco, stand up! What are you doing?”’ the bishop immedi-
ately exclaimed.

“Not until you have assured me that I am forgiven,” Don Bosco
replied.

“Certainly, certainly, I forgive you! Please stand up!”

Don Bosco arose and they both embraced.*

36 etter from the Board of Directors to Don Bosco, Turin, November 30, 1881. [Author]

3Bishop Hyacinth Vera, born at Santa Catarina, diocese of St. Sebastian, Rio de Janeiro, on
July 3, 1813, was appointed bishop of Megara and apostolic vicar of Montevideo by Pius IX on
September 23, 1864. When the vicariate was made a diocese, he was named its bishop by Leo
XIII on July 15, 1878. He died of a stroke while on a pastoral visit to Pan de Azicar. [Author]

3See Appendix 1. [Editor]

3Diocesan process, Summarium, No. XVI-98, p. 756. [Author]
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That same October brought Don Bosco ineffable joy. A pilgrimage,
headed by Monsignor Anthony Espinosa of Buenos Aires, came to
Italy from Argentina to pay their respects to the Vicar of Jesus Christ.
After commending the zeal of the Argentine bishops, Pope Leo ad-
dressed them publicly as follows: ‘“‘Neither are they slow to show their
solicitude to bring Christian civilization to the wild tribes of Patagonia,
among whom, thanks to the efforts of zealous religious, new missions
are being set up for this purpose.”* In the personal interview that
ensued Monsignor Espinosa told the Pope what the Salesians were
doing in Argentina, particularly in Patagonia, and His Holiness re-
plied, ‘“When we were told that the sons of Don Bosco were taking on
the mission of Patagonia, our heart was filled with joyous hope for the
future of those poor Indians.”’#! These highly placed affirmations gave
Don Bosco moments of great rejoicing.

To be sure, the missions in Patagonia were making great strides.
Father Joseph Fagnano, their enterprising and undaunted superior,
forged ahead in evangelizing the Indians. But getting to them was a
very difficult task, for their loathing of the white man made them either
flee or brandish their weapons at their very approach. In April the
Argentine government, in favor of the overwhelming number of
Chilean Indians in Argentina, had sent General [Conrado] Villegas
with an army of two thousand soldiers against the warrior tribes of the
Sayueques, who terrorized the area with raids and pillage. Father Fag-
nano joined the expedition, traversing on horseback those endless
plains in search of peace-abiding, frightened Indian tribes to give them
reassurance, protection, instruction and baptism. It is a long story of
strenuous, extraordinary adventures in and around the area of Lake
Nahuel-Huapi, source of the Limay River, main tributary of the Rio
Negro.

Another mission trip, which took place between October and
November, located two more Indian tribes who had pitched camp some
one hundred and twenty-five miles from Patagonia. It was a successful
mission to some extent, but unfortunately its closeness to a military
post proved to be a serious obstacle, what with its free flow of liquor

4“Civilta Cattolica, Issue 753, November 5, 1881, p. 358. [Author]
4Bollettino Salesiano, November 1881, p. 9. [Author]
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and resultant intoxication and violence. While scouting the banks of
the Rio Negro, Father Fagnano came across several Christian settlers
whom he was able to help. “Ah, my dear Don Bosco,” he wrote on
November 10, ““if only there were more of us here, how much more
could we accomplish!”’

We now return to Father Lasagna. During his stay in Italy Don
Bosco was able to form an accurate picture of the condition and needs
of our houses in Uruguay, and he could also ascertain at close range the
virtues, prudence and tact of his beloved disciple. Consequently, he
judged it wise to create an independent province in Uruguay under
Father Lasagna as provincial, especially since he intended to open a
house in Brazil the next year and Father Lasagna was the man to start
that Salesian work and extend it throughout that vast empire. Don
Bosco did not let him return alone but at the head of a squad of
missionaries for both Uruguay and Argentina.

Don Bosco did not send them out unobtrusively, as though he feared
a repetition of the vicious slander that marked the previous departure.*
Some wondered whether this solemn departure ceremony followed too
soon on the heels of the former, but the facts showed that all their
qualms were unjustified. The departure ceremony was held on De-
cember 10 [1881], a bitterly cold, windy and snowy day. Still, the
church was full. After the reading of the papal encyclical Sancta Dei
civitas cited at the beginning of this chapter, Don Bosco briefly ac-
quainted the Salesian cooperators on the Congregation’s work of the
past year, its mission achievements, and the current progress on the
construction of the Church of St. John the Evangelist in Turin and that
of the Sacred Heart in Rome. Then he introduced Father Lasagna, who
spoke to the audience about the Salesian missionaries present there.

The departing missionaries were eight, two of whom were already
waiting for their companions at Marseille, where they were to board
ship. To bolster their spirits for the journey and to reaffirm his fatherly
concern for Father Lasagna, Don Bosco asked Father Lemoyne, who
had been the latter’s director, to accompany them as far as Marseille.
There, on January 15, they embarked on La France of the Maritime
Transport Line. The voyage was without incident. Father Lasagna

“2See Vol. XIV, pp. 226-230. [Editor]



24 THE BIOGRAPHICAL MEMOIRS OF SAINT JOHN BOSCO

found all the confreres united for their spiritual retreat at Villa Colén,
since it was summer vacation time. He preached the retreat with all the
fervor, piety and genuine Salesian spirit which his recent intimate
contact with the great heart of Don Bosco had renewed within him.

Just before the year ended, Don Bosco joyfully welcomed a visit
from Monsignor Espinosa, who arrived at the Oratory on Christmas
Eve with two traveling companions. Thrilled to personally meet this
true friend of his sons in Argentina, Don Bosco spared no effort to
make his stay in Turin as delightful as possible. The guests also visited
San Benigno, where an entertaining welcome was staged for them. On
January 4 [1882], they resumed their journey to France.

Monsignor Espinosa brought two letters from his archbishop for
Don Bosco, one in Spanish, the other in Italian, both dated from
Buenos Aires, August 24 [1881]. In Spanish the good archbishop
wrote: “Ask your boys, some of whom I probably remember, to keep
me in their prayers, especially as they give my pilgrims a joyful wel-
come. Remind your priests to pray often for their confreres here; their
numbers are on the rise, and they are achieving great good. The na-
tional legislature is considering authorizing the government to consult
with the Holy Father about redoing diocesan lines. This will set the
stage to establish an apostolic vicariate in Patagonia which will be
entrusted to your zealous missionaries. I sincerely hope that this will
happen, but I have my doubts. Your good sons’ prayers can obtain this
grace which will be rich also in temporal benefits, I shall keep you
informed on the matter. The Salesian missionaries and the Daughters of
Mary, Help of Christians in my archdiocese are a great help and com-
fort. I praise the Lord for them, as I thank you and rejoice with you!”
The second letter stated: ‘‘One more priest has recently joined the three
who are now in Patagonia because of the vast and fruitful work being
accomplished there. I still recall with deep pleasure the time I spent in
your delightful company in 1877.”

A third letter, which Father Costamagna had forwarded, arrived in
Turin at Christmas. It was from Bishop [Innocent] Yerequi, who, even
before assuming charge of his diocese of Montevideo, felt that he had
to open his heart to the superior of the Salesians in South America.
“You should know,”” he wrote,*® “‘that the Salesians will always hold a

43Letter to Father Costamagna, Montevideo, November 29, 1881. [Author]
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Y

very special place in my heart, and I shall always do all I can for them
so that the number of such excellent workers and the fruit of their
labors may be multiplied. Please be open and confide in me, and let me
know whatever I can do to help them; within my own limitations, they
can always count on me as a staunch friend. It was but an involuntary
oversight on my part that I did not thank you for having enrolled me as
a Salesian cooperator. I make amends by now expressing my deepest
gratitude.”

Such warm-hearted, authentic testimonials served to underscore
what the Holy Father had asserted in the above-mentioned encyclical .*

The turmoil of 1881 ended on this note of tender comfort for Don
Bosco. With a few drops of sweetness Divine Providence was easing
the bitterness of the cup he would still have to drink.

“See pp. If. [Editor]



CHAPTER 2

A Month and a Half in France

THE Salesians were very anxiously awaiting Don Bosco at
Marseiile not only because of the turmoil of the previous year,! but also
because the new buildings under construction entailed ever mounting
debts and arrangements had to be finalized without delay. Several times
before, his plans to go to Marseille had been thwarted by unforeseen
circumstances, but finally in his Christmas greetings to the community
he was able to write that he would visit them at the beginning of
February. Of course, that did not mean that the government authorities
could not pull a quick surprise, for the anticlerical newspapers had by
no means called a truce to their attacks against religious congregations.
However, his friends kept reassuring each other, “Don Bosco is on his
way with the powerful support of His Holiness for St. Leo’s Oratory.”’?

Leaving Genoa overland a day before his missionaries sailed from
port, he arrived in Marseille the evening of February 5 after a short rest
at Nice. He brought with him the prefect general of studies, Father
Celestine Durando,? to check out and finalize the school curriculum,
and a cleric from San Benigno, Jules Reimbeau, a relative of the
Harmels,* to be his secretary.

The very evening of his arrival he wished to do a work of mercy. We
have already mentioned the well-known Regular of the Lateran, Father
Pio Mortara.’ The government’s decrees closing down religious orders,
which went into effect on October 31, 1880, had surprised him as he

IThe religious persecution. See Vol. XIV, pp. 475-493. [Editor]

2Minutes of the Ladies’ Committee, January 27, 1881. [Author]

3See Appendix 1. [Editor]

4Salesian benefactors. [Editor]

5See Vol. X1V, p. 202. At baptism his first name *“‘Edgar” had been changed to “Pio.” See
also Vol. VIII, pp. 268f. [Editor]
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was seriously ill in Marseille at the College of St. Louis, which was run
by the Brothers Hospitallers of St. John of God. The canon had no
place to hide, since his presence in their house might jeopardize the
brothers. Providence inspired the deeply religious Madame Mar-
coselles, whom he had known in Rome back in 1869, to offer him
asylum in her own home in Rue de Rome. While staying there, his
condition worsened and he had to keep to his bed. In the interest of his
safety, it was felt necessary to keep his presence a secret, lest he suffer
harassment in those sinister days, and also because, as we have stated,
he had been accused of evading military service in Italy. Father
Bologna, the Salesian director, secretly visited him; nobody in the
Salesian house knew about this.

Told that the sick man had asked to see him, Don Bosco immediately
set out to satisfy his request, since it was evening and this helped make
it all the easier to avoid detection. Postponing the visit might have
prevented Don Bosco from going at all or from going without attracting
attention. Father Mortara describes the visit as follows:$

Father Bologna, my dear friend and director of St. Leo’s Oratory, who used
to bring me in generous measure the spiritual comfort I so badly needed, told
me that Don Bosco was in Marseille. I voiced my eagerness to see him,
hoping that he might obtain my recovery. Well, one day, February 5 to be
exact, the revered priest came. I requested his blessing and begged him to
intercede for me to God, that I might obtain the grace of health I desired and,
working for His greater glory, might convert my dear mother (who sadly
passed away on October 17, 1896). In reply he exhorted me to be patiently
resigned and to offer God the sacrifice of my life, should He so wish. As for
my mother, he said my prayers would be more efficacious in heaven. He again
blessed me and left. I never saw Don Bosco again and some years later heard
that he had died in the reputation of holiness. A well-founded hope assures me
that this man of God who so helped me in life will continue to bless and pray
for me in that heavenly glory which certainly awaited him.

Referring to this visit, in a letter he wrote to Don Bosco in 1884, he
stated:

When you honored me by your visit at the home of the Marcoselles family
in Marseille, you told me that Our Lord might suspend the death sentence

SLetter to Father Lemoyne, 1898. We have no further information, since we were unable to
trace the original and have only this copy, made by Father Lemoyne himself. [Author]
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which had already been pronounced upon me. It was indeed suspended,
thanks to you. Now heaven help me if I do not dedicate whatever life still
remains to me to building up, defending and spreading the mystical kingdom
of God.

St. Leo’s Oratory, Don Bosco found, had been entirely transformed
and expanded four times its size. To avoid any kind of dangerous
publicity, his coming was not publicized in any way; yet just two days
after his arrival, people of every walk of life started flocking at all
hours to the house. It was obvious that such a routine would exhaust
him, and so the director asked Father Rua to have the boys pray for him
lest the impending exertion prove too much for him. Many people
asked for his picture. One well-deserving gentleman, who had invited
him to dinner, managed to persuade him to sit for a photograph in the
usual French clerical sash and rabat. Knowing how rarely one suc-
ceeded in faithfully capturing his mien, he took photos of him in five
different poses.” Don Bosco himself gave some information about his
daily activities in a short letter to his regular secretary, Father Berto,?
who had stayed behind at the Oratory.

Marseille, February 10, 1881
My dear Father Berto:

If you can get a copy of Father Pirro’s dispensation from vows, please send
it to me because I need it.

Our matters are getting on well, but I badly need prayers; tell that to
Caroglio® and his bandits. I have received no further news of the Oratory.

My health is good, but I am very, very tired.

May God make you as good as Job. Love me in Jesus Christ.

Yours affectionately,
Fr. John Bosco

From a letter to Father Bonetti on the same date, we learn that
throughout his journey his thoughts were with the Church of the Sacred
Heart; in fact, he enclosed the draft of three circulars, to which we

TLetter from Father Bologna to Father Rua, Marseille, February 9, 1881. [Author]

8See Appendix 1. [Editor]

SFather Martin Caroglio, now [1934] at Caracas in Venezuela, was then a student at the
Oratory. His ‘‘bandits” were his good friends, the altar boys. [Author]



A Month and a Half in France 29

shall refer later, copies of which he was to send to the newspapers, the
bishops and the team captains of the fund drive.

Marseille, February 10, 1881
My dear Father Bonetti:

I don’t know if you received a report on our missionaries’ stopover and
departure from Marseille; it would make excellent material for our Bollettino
[Salesiano].

I enclose a letter for the newspapers and one for the bishops, both in the
Italian original and in a French translation by Reimbeau. Read, correct and
mail it; have it translated also in other languages. It might be well to insert a
phrase in the letter to be sent to the team captains, something like: ““They are
requested to send in all money they have collected from the faithful every
three—shall we say weeks—or months?”’

Things are moving along nicely; prayers are badly needed.

God bless us all. Believe me to be

Yours affectionately in Jesus Christ,
Fr. John Bosco

Father Guiol was most cordial toward Don Bosco; indeed, we might
say that he completely forgot the unfortunate episode which we nar-
rated in the previous volume.!® But we must not forget that Don Bosco
had made a very fortunate decision in choosing the cleric [John Bap-
tist] Grosso'! as choirmaster for the parish church. Though still quite
young, he had won Canon Guiol’s unlimited support.

The ladies’ sodality, which longed to have Don Bosco preside at one
of their meetings, was delighted to welcome him on February 12. Two
of the members could not share this rare pleasure, but the minutes
assure us: “They will certainly receive the benefits of Don Bosco’s
prayers and blessings to compensate for their sacrifice.”

First the minutes of the sodality’s activities in 1880 were read; the
money they had collected amounted to twenty thousand francs. Then
they drew up the program for the feast of St. Francis de Sales which
was to be celebrated on February 16. Finally Don Bosco spoke in his
own inimitable French which had a charm of its own. The minutes give
us the following extended summary of his speech:

10See Vol. XIV, pp. 311-314. [Editor]
ISee Appendix 1. [Editor]
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I have come with gratitude to recommend my poor boys to you, but above
all to thank you dear ladies for your charity. It is so good to meet women who
put aside their own comfort to solicit donations from door to door for a worthy
cause. I do not even venture to praise you, lest I offend your modesty, but I
give thanks to God whose instruments we all are and in whose work we are all
engaged.

I cannot help but say with joy that what you have done in these past two
years is truly providential. The right wing of our building in now completed,
and the house accommodates one hundred and fifty boarders and sixty day
students; unfortunately, we still have to turn down many boys, some five
thousand since the oratory first began. This tells us how badly needed this
institute is. There are not many boys’ boarding schools, and their strict en-
trance regulations close the door to many. But here at St. Leo’s, the sole
requirement is that a boy be at either material or spiritual risk, and he is
immediately admitted. Once the new left wing has been completed we shall be
able to increase the enrollment to three hundred.

We should expand and buy a neighboring house whose windows open out
upon the playground with some annoyance to me. We could make it the
residence of the Daughters of Mary, Help of Christians, whom we scheduled
to come. Their only contact with the school then would be a doorway to the
linen room, the laundry and the wardrobe. It would be easy to adapt the house
to this purpose and thus eliminate a nuisance. But we need money to purchase
the house. It would seem that Divine Providence wants us to have it, since the
asking price has gradually been dropping, so much so that now we can buy it
for forty-five thousand francs.

Divine Providence wants this work and will provide what we need. When ]
say Divine Providence, I mean God. Since God wants it, He will give us what
we need to do it. Anyone doing a particular job is entitled to means, and we
know that they will come. We are the instruments of Divine Providence, and
this year Divine Providence and Mary, Help of Christians have manifestly
protected us.

We would also like to make another purchase, a parcel of land of four or
five acres in this part of the town, which would be excellent for a Sunday
oratory for the religious instructions and moral protection of boys who work at
different jobs during the week. This would keep them apart from lads who
daily attend the oratory. This setup would be similar to that in Turin, which has
proved very beneficial, drawing some three thousand boys.

This project would cost about the same. I request your prayers rather than
direct donations, since your charity is not unlimited, but I urge you to contrib-
ute information and recommendations which might help us raise the money.

There will also be the cost of furnishing the house, providing for linen and
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things the boys will need, but we shall do this little by little,'? as Father Guiol
would say!

We still have a debt of almost twelve thousand francs for housekeeping but
this is not so pressing. The real problem is that the building contractors have
presented their bills to me and are demanding payment of one hundred and
twenty thousand francs, which we still owe on the recent construction.

But let us face all these obstacles and crushing debts undismayed. Of course
we need money, but I trust in Divine Providence and have no doubt that God
will help us, though just now where that help will come from, I cannot really
say.

Let me tell you something I have never said before: our faith is solid as long
as we do not prove unworthy. I hope this will never happen. We shall be doing
God’s work if we maintain piety and morality in our school. Once these are
neglected, we shall no longer be engaged in God’s work. But this will not
happen, nor shall we become unworthy of Divine Providence’s help.

Don Bosco went on to tell them about the origin, aim and develop-
ment of the Sons of Mary Program for late vocations. He mentioned the
exceptional interest shown in it by the Holy Father, and then went on to
say:

When I went to Rome last year, the Supreme Pontiff, deeply hurt by the
confiscation of properties of the Congregation for the Propagation of the Faith,
was concerned about making up for it by transferring the missionary semi-
naries elsewhere. Patagonia and Tierra del Fuego, an area pretty much the size
of all Europe, have never heard of the Gospel; Franciscans, Jesuits and Do-
minicans were never able to penetrate those lands or, if they did, had to give
up their efforts. But now the hour of mercy has sounded for those peoples;
they are accepting God’s word, and it works wonders. Our Holy Father has
also decided to set up an apostolic vicariate and prefecture there. However,
what would really be more effective is the sending of many missionaries there.
Precisely to achieve that, the Pope expressed his wish of founding a seminary
for the training of evangelical laborers. Seville is a possible choice for a
missionary novitiate, since Spanish is the language of the nations where the
missionaries would work.

We also tried to establish a similar seminary in France, but the problem was
that none of the possible locations were as centrally located and as feasible as

2Don Bosco knew that his ungrammatical peu pur foie, “little by little,” was jokingly and
congenially received by the ladies. [Author]
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this your city. ““I have faith in Marseille,” the Holy Father said, ““for piety and
charity reign there. See if you can find people willing to sponsor this project,
and tell them that they will be helping neither you nor me, but the Church.”

The apprehension arose that bishops, who are themselves facing the prob-
lem of scarcity of priests, might object to see vocations, so few and far
between, snatched from them for the missions. The Pope considered that and
so did Don Bosco. However, the Sons of Mary Program does not raise this
problem. Young men with a calling to the priesthood do their preliminary
studies and after that are entirely free to choose between entering a religious
order or returning to their respective dioceses. There are now thirty-two such
seminaries here in Marseille, but we have prudently scattered them through
our different houses, like La Navarre and elsewhere. We cherish good hopes
of vocations in some three hundred French young men, without counting the
five hundred boys at the Oratory in Turin. To all appearances and for public
knowledge, the Sons of Mary Program fosters the education of poor boys and
the training of young artisans in well-equipped workshops. However, its chief
aim is to discover the seeds of priestly vocations among the boys and cultivate
them.

These matters will not be brought up at the general meeting, so as not to
divulge before a large audience projects which the sad times we live in counsel
that we had better keep secret. But they should, by all means, stimulate your
zeal, since they bring out the grandeur and importance of our goals.

These good ladies were quite enchanted by Don Bosco’s simple
trusting faith and pledged their best efforts to help raise funds to
further his pious designs. The meeting made a deep and lasting impres-
sion on all. Before closing, Father Guiol prevailed upon Don Bosco to
give them his blessing, assuring him how much they would appreciate
it. With his unalterable kindness, Don Bosco blessed them, but stated
clearly that this was the blessing which the Holy Father had expressly
asked him to give them.

Events show that Don Bosco’s trust in Divine Providence was not in
vain, for, as we learn from the minutes of the March meeting, enough
donations came in to reduce the more weighty debt considerably, first
by twenty thousand francs, then by another contribution, and, two
months later, by another donation equal to the first one. The outstand-
ing debt was cut by half. But the committee was so anxious to free Don
Bosco from this nightmare of contractors pressing him for payment,
which, they imagined, robbed him of his sleep, that they planned an
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extraordinary fund drive directed to industrialists who employed a
sizable number of Piedmontese workers and to the workers’ families
themselves. To help out with their first drive they appealed to the men’s
committee, headed by Monsieur Rostand.

Morning and evening Don Bosco gave himself no respite from au-
diences; he was practically voiceless, and fatigue threatened to pros-
trate him entirely. Finally, on the morning of February 14 he had to
state that he could not receive anybody. However, there were always
exceptions even then—a sickly nun, the chairman of some agency or
other, some distinguished gentleman who had a previous appointment,
a neurotic woman crouched in a corner who suddenly sprang toward
him with shrieks. They were all received in turn and kept him going till
noon. By then he had reached the limit of his strength, and he felt that a
heavy weight was pressing upon his chest, drawing the bystanders’
compassion. To avoid further exertion that afternoon, he locked him-
self in his room and emerged only toward evening because he had an
out-of-town engagement. An hour’s tortuous coach ride brought him to
his destination, where he was again obliged to speak, and he got back
home at ten that night, completely drained of all strength, with the
prospect of having to face another day, with its tide of disappointed
visitors renewing their insistence with greater vigor. Some people kept
coming back for three days in succession to get an audience. Worse
still, a mountain of mail waiting to be answered was piling up on his
desk.

Predictably, the moming of February 15 saw not just a series of
visits, but a veritable avalanche as no less than sixty people clamored
for an audience. Pleading Don Bosco’s indisposition and saying he
could not have visitors was useless; no one budged. Weary of waiting,
the more daring ones seized the first opportunity when no one was
watching to dash up to the next floor and knock on his door. He had
locked himself in, and, not knowing who it might be, opened the door.
It was an unfortunate move. They all burst into his room! Realizing his
blunder, he snatched up his pen and the notebook in which he had been
writing and slipped into the adjoining room, Father Durando’s, but they
pursued him even there. When finally the director and other confreres
came to his rescue, they had an indescribable time clearing the area.
Exhausted, ill, and practically voiceless, he saw no other way to escape
than to take refuge with the parish priest of St. Joseph’s, Father Guiol.
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There he rested until five that afternoon, recuperating enough strength
to face the next two hectic days awaiting him.

The feast of St. Francis de Sales had been postponed to February 16
so that he might be present. The bishop, wishing publicly to show his
good will to St. Leo’s Oratory,” chose to celebrate the community
Mass and deliver a brief eulogy of its patron saint, giving Holy Com-
munion to a large congregation consisting also of townspeople. Father
Guérin, an outstanding speaker, pronounced the panegyric. There was
much ado that day at St. Leo’s to the late hours of the night and much
joy, but not a moment of peace for Don Bosco.

February 17 was Salesian Cooperators’ Day; Marseille had an enroll-
ment of nine hundred. Others came from neighboring areas, a few even
from as far as Toulon. Archbishop [Theodore] Forcade of Aix presided
at the meeting. Father Mendre gave a report on the situation of St.
Leo’s Oratory and then Don Bosco took the floor. At times, his simple,
tender manner of speaking moved his listeners to tears. Father [Louis]
Mendre writes: ‘‘Don Bosco speaks French haltingly but, even in this,
Divine Providence, whose adorable name he pronounces with such
reverence that all hearts are instantly touched, comes most wondrously
to his aid. It is a rare occurrence with a French audience, but his
listeners forget to smile instinctively at his faulty expressions, so intent
are they on listening to him, quite enthralled by the charm of his
speech, which obviously draws its power from heaven.”’'*

Finally, the archbishop of Aix, graciously accepting Don Bosco’s
invitation, closed the meeting with a few fatherly words, climaxing his
talk with: “The Salesians, whose peaceful conquests have excelled
those of Alexander, Caesar and Napoleon, have abundantly confirmed
the truth that the Church alone is the mother of the poor and of the
young. The gentle figure of Don Bosco has none of the traits of a
conqueror, and his priestly ranks do not at all inspire the fear aroused
by those great leaders’ armies; yet God is with Don Bosco, and this is
the secret of his success.”

At the chapel door alone, where Don Bosco stood with plate in
hand, he received two thousand francs, but more contributions came
later. The animating spirit behind the whole occasion was Canon
Guiol, and on the following Sunday Don Bosco publicly expressed his

3Minutes of the Ladies’ Committee, February 12, 1881. [Author]
4This was written by Father Mendre in a publication to which we shall soon refer. [Author]



A Month and a Half in France 35

deep gratitude to him. Requested to preside at a pious devotion held
every third Sunday of the month in honor of the Most Holy Trinity, he
agreed and at the proper time began his sermon by saying, ‘“Even were
I bold enough to refuse a king’s request, gratitude would never allow
me to say no to the parish priest of St. Joseph’s.”

The spacious church presented a magnificent scene that evening,
with a full congregation who used to flock to hear the renowned orators
that succeeded each other in the pulpit of St. Joseph’s. Don Bosco’s
topic was the ‘‘manna,”” symbol of the Eucharist, and our obligations
[to this august mystery]. Concerning this sermon too Father Mendre
wrote, ‘‘His listeners gave no thought to eloquence, but paid full atten-
tion to the word of God. Indeed, certain language slips even seemed to
enhance that thoroughly apostolic sermon. I wish the same success to
all who have the honor of stepping into that sacred pulpit.”’

Father Mendre’s report to the Salesian cooperators, published along
with other writings of his about St. Leo’s Oratory, constitutes an inter-
esting monograph,’ in three parts.

The first part gives a concise account of the feast of St. Francis de
Sales; the second is a detailed report on the meeting with introductory
and concluding comments. After a thorough narration of the two com-
mittees’ admirable work, Father Mendre continues: ‘“While these peo-
ple work outside, what is going on inside St. Leo’s? . . . Let us cross
the threshold of that blessed home and most respectfully greet the one
who in our midst is Don Bosco’s envoy, his representative. He came
here among us, a worker from the first hour, a humble, tireless man,
ready for every sacrifice demanded by the unexpected and speedy
growth of this work of ours, always up to his duties, a model of
unselfishness to all. Consider the exceptional achievements reached in
but a few months and most of all give praise to God.”” Then, after
running through the oratory’s current history and gazing into the fu-
ture, he reflected: “We will not dare indiscreetly to peek into the
intimacy existing between Divine Providence and our revered Don
Bosco. Wonderful successes we have already seen and doubtless shall
see again.” Launch out into the deep was his concluding exhortation.

5Oratoire Saint-Léon, Féte de Saint-Frangois de Sales et compte tendu de I’année 1880,
Marseille. The above quotations were taken from this anonymous publication. Other information
was gathered from letters written by the cleric Reimbeau and by Father Bologna, as well as from
the April issue of the Bulletin Salésien. [Author]
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The third part of Father Mendre’s publication was a defense of St.
Leo’s Oratory; it was addressed to the Italian consul general [Hannibal]
Strambio, though directed at the department’s prefect to refute certain
accusations aimed against the house by prejudicial Marseille news-
papers at the end of 1880.' Basing himself on a voluminous, slan-
derous report, the prefect had filed very serious complaints against the
Salesians with the consul. Had there been any truth in them, they
would most certainly deserve the severest penalties of the law against
foreigners who proved unworthy of French hospitality. Strambio confi-
dentially informed the Salesians of the charges. Though the Salesians
had deemed it beneath their dignity to heed such base accusations, they
realized that they could no longer ignore them, not only because they
had to counteract the influence these malicious rumors might exert but
also out of regard for the consul himself. This gentleman, both because
he was very fond of Don Bosco ever since their school days and
because he felt a legitimate national pride in viewing the progress and
great promise that St. Leo’s Oratory offered, held it particularly dear
and did his best to support it. He therefore felt terribly embarrassed
before the French authorities at that storm of accusations against the
oratory, and this was an added reason for the Salesians to put matters
straight. It was Father Mendre who therefore took on the task himself,
and he did it masterfully. Don Bosco had read his manuscript back in
November, as we see from the following letter which came to our
attention after the publication of Volume XIV of these memoirs.

Turin, November 25, 1880
My dear Father Mendre:

You could not have better expressed my thoughts than in the statement you
so kindly let me read. Yes, ask Consul Strambio to publish it if he judges it
advisable.

I blundered! Instead of jotting down a few additional items on a separate
sheet of paper for possible publication, 1 wrote them in the margin of your own
copy. Do what you think is best.

You might also add that our schools in Italy, especially in Turin, very often
took in poor, homeless French lads who were sent to us and that we were asked
to set up similar homes in France to obviate traveling costs and the need to
change customs and manners of living.

6See Vol. XIV, p. 489. [Editor]
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I am most pleased to know that peace and harmony still hold between the
parish and St. Leo’s Hospice and Oratory. I have good reason to hope that
these bonds of love will continue to strengthen. If charity is always needed, it
is much more so now.

If you think I can do something from here, just let me know, and I shall
comply faithfully with your suggestions.

God reward you for the assistance and help you give our Congregation.
Once the storm has passed, what a rousing hymn of thanksgiving we shall
raise! God bless you, my ever dear and worthy Father Mendre, and may He
keep you in good health. Please offer my humble respects to our parish priest
and to Father Bologna. Pray for me, who am always in deepest esteem and
gratitude,

Yours affectionately in Jesus Christ,
Fr. John Bosco

P.S. It might also be wise to point out that we are not more than a pious non-
profit organization caring for poor, endangered youth. My concern to get your
statement off to you by return mail does not give me time to make a copy.
Father Bologna may make one for me. The three letters already sent to the
consul are also quite to the point.

I shall write to our good Father Guiol very soon.

During his stay in Marseille Don Bosco told Father Guiol, half in
eamnest and half in jest, what he had seen in a dream shortly before
coming to France, perhaps toward the end of 1880.!7 Father Guiol was
firmly convinced of the need to have a summer house where St. Leo’s
boys could go during the hot season. Don Bosco agreed and even
added that it should be furnished so as to serve as a novitiate as well.
“As for the house itself,”” he stated, ““I already have one in mind. Itis a
spacious building in a wholesome locality, surrounded by a pine grove,
its access road lined on both sides with gorgeous plane-trees. The
entire property is crossed by a teeming brook.’’ Father Guiol, knowing
full well that Don Bosco owned nothing in Marseille and leased noth-
ing more than the school building, could not help fearing that he was
suddenly losing his mind and, with a certain tremor in his voice, asked
him where this estate of his might be.

“I have no idea where it is,”” Don Bosco answered, ‘‘but I am sure it
is there and that it is in the neighborhood of Marseille.”

In a letter to Canon Guiol in October 1883 Don Bosco wrote: ‘‘Three years ago.” [Author]
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“How odd!” the parish priest replied. “How can you know such a
house exists and that it is meant for you?”’

“I know, because I dreamed about it.”

“What did you dream?”’

“I saw the house, the trees, the farm, and brook just as I told you,
and moreover I also saw boys running about and playing along the
access roads.”’

Whenever Canon Guiol heard Don Bosco speak of dreams, he did
not regard him at all as a visionary, and so he took his words seriously
and bore them well in mind. He waited to see what would happen. Not
long after, some benefactors offered Don Bosco a house to suit the
above purpose, but Don Bosco declined it, thanking them yet saying
that it was not the one he was looking for. Some years went by with no
sign that his words would come true. Each time Don Bosco and Father
Guiol met, they resumed their discussion of the famous summer home
which was to be converted into a novitiate and Father Guiol would
begin to joke about it amicably.

But Don Bosco was talking about it also to others. In fact, he spoke
of it to the cleric [Louis] Cartier'® in September 1882. While traveling
from Marseille to San Benigno to be ordained a sub-deacon, the cleric
stopped off at Nice, where Don Bosco was directing the Salesians’
spiritual retreat, and in the course of a long chat they had, Don Bosco
told him, “We shall have a large house somewhere around Marseille,
and there we shall set up a novitiate and a house of philosophy. You
will be sent there, but not in the first year, because you will be needed
as a teacher at St. Leo’s. However, you will commute to teach until you
will be permanently assigned there.”

It was common belief in Marseille that the dream house might well
be the summer home of Madame Broquier, not far from Aubagne. In
fact, Don Bosco himself, misled by inaccurate descriptions, was in-
clined to believe so himself and wrote to the good lady, asking her to let
him either buy it or rent it. He sent the letter to Father Bologna to bring
to her, but since the letter described the villa that Don Bosco had in
mind, the good lady could make no sense of his request, and Father
Bologna realized that Don Bosco had been mistaken.

A second offer was made in 1883 by Madame Pastré, a rich Parisian

18See Appendix 1. [Editor]
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widow whose daughter had been cured by Don Bosco. She spoke of
renting a villa she owned near Sainte-Marguerite, not far from Mar-
seille. But, for reasons of his own, without even inquiring about the
condition of the house, Don Bosco declined the offer. Some months
later, Father Bologna wrote that the woman was still pressing her offer
and begging him to accept. Don Bosco replied by asking if it had a
pine grove, plane-trees and a brook; if it had, all well and good,
otherwise, no. Father Bologna went to see it and reported that there
were hundreds of pines and avenues of plane-trees with a stream run-
ning through the estate. So he consented to lease the house at Sainte-
Marguerite for a period of fifteen years, establishing a novitiate there in
1888 under the name of La Providence. Father Guiol, who saw it for
the first time with Don Bosco in 1884, was astonished to realize that
everything corresponded exactly to what Don Bosco had repeatedly
told him he had seen in his dream.

In 1921, Father [Paul] Albera,"” superior general, was told by a
doctor at Allevard-les-Bains the following account of an extraordinary
event which most probably took place that same year [1881]. He imme-
diately passed it on to his fellow Salesians at Marseille on February 7.
A gentleman of that city, a certain Guérin, was suffering from tuber-
culosis of the bone in one leg. Scraping the bone had brought no relief,
and the physicians, judging his case incurable, told him to keep the
sore always open for proper drainage. A devout Christian, the patient
had but one desire—to do always and everywhere God’s will. An
acquaintance of his, who was living in Rue St. Jacques, suggested that
he visit Don Bosco, not so much to ask for a miraculous cure as to seek
some spiritual comfort from his words. He agreed, was granted an
audience, and voiced his holy desire of bearing his cross patiently for
God’s love. Don Bosco gave him encouragement and a blessing.

The sick man lived on Avenue de Meilhan, too long a walk from St.
Leo’s for him in his condition, and so he decided to take the trolley at
the corner of Rue Paradis and Rue St. Jacques. Since the car was late,
he began to walk slowly toward the Exchange, meaning to take the first
car passing that way, but none came. After a futile wait, he very slowly
began to head toward La Canebiere, hoping to find a trolley, but even

97bid. [Editor]
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there he found none, nor did he on Rue Noailles. Step by step, almost
imperceptibly he arrived home.

Usually he was obliged to retire early and have his supper in bed, but
that evening, paying no heed to the family’s protests, he began to attend
to some business matters and stayed up until it was time for supper.
Since he felt no pain on finishing his work, he sat at table with his
family and later went to bed. As he removed the bandage to put on a
new one, he noticed that the sore had completely disappeared, with not
even a trace of a scar. Although Don Bosco had not been asked for a
cure, he had worked the miracle.

A house close to St. Leo’s had been readied as a residence for the
Daughters of Mary, Help of Christians, but their arrival had to be
postponed because of the house’s dampness and other problems. Mean-
while Don Bosco blessed the residence in a very private ceremony to
which not even the ladies’ committee had been invited. They felt rather
slighted because at several of their meetings they had given serious
thought to providing for the new community. At their meeting of
March 3, Father Guiol explained that two reasons had dictated that
course of action. First, it would have been unwise to draw public
attention just then to a second religious community; furthermore, in
those last few days of his stay at St. Leo’s Don Bosco could not be
reached because of the crowds of visitors, so that Father Guiol had
been unable to set a day and hour and make arrangements with him for
the ceremony. His explanation put them at ease.

Certainly one could never be too prudent in the face of the events
related in Volume XIV; on the other hand, it was a fact that St. Leo’s
was steadily gaining more support among the good people of Mar-
seille. Hence the men’s committee felt that it had everything to gain by
publicizing the institute, and so, even during Don Bosco’s stay, they
approved of the publishing of Father Mendre’s statement, to which we
have already referred.

We have no further details of interest to tell of this visit of Don
Bosco to Marseille. It was probably sometime in this period that a
generous benefactress, Madame Prat-Noilly, expressed her disappoint-
ment to him. She had two married sons and a daughter, and their life-
style deeply grieved her; she had asked him to pray that they might
change their lives. Don Bosco had promised to remember them and
had held out good hopes for their conversion. However, seeing no
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improvement, the mother complained to Don Bosco, who very humbly
replied, ““Yes, the fault is mine, because I have not prayed enough.”

The following episode, even if it does not belong to this particular
year, but to another in this period, shows the importance Don Bosco
attached to music in the festive oratories. While in Marseille he was
visited by a religious who had opened a festive oratory in a town of
France and who asked whether he approved of music as an attraction
for the boys. His visitor believed that it could be beneficial and he
mentioned advantages that could .stem from it. Don Bosco listened
with evident approval and commented, “‘An oratory without music is a
body without a soul.”” However, his visitor feared some serious draw-
backs: dissipation, and the danger that the boys might perform in
theaters, restaurants, dance halls or during demonstrations. Don Bosco
listened silently and then determinedly repeated his words, ‘“Which is
better, to be or not to be? A Sunday oratory without music is a body
without a soul.”

An extraordinary healing marked his departure from Marseille. The
account is preserved in a testimony drawn up by the person who both
happened to bring it about and witnessed it.

Mademoiselle Flandrin, seriously ill for a long time, seemed to be at
the point of death. Her mother went daily to St. Leo’s to try to get Don
Bosco to visit the young lady, but, for reasons we do not know, Father
Bologna thought that he should not go, and so he spoke of it to Don
Bosco so unenthusiastically that the latter made no move.

Then came the day of his departure. To keep him away from the
crowds who would obviously jam the railroad station in Marseille to
see him off, arrangements were made, as had been done the year
before, to drive him to Aubagne by carriage. Madame Flandrin made a
last-minute effort, going to Father Mendre this time and imploring him
to use all his influence in persuading Don Bosco to visit her daughter.
Father Mendre, who knew the woman only by sight from having seen
her so many times at St. Leo’s, could not refuse her tearful plea and
promised that, since it was his good fortune to accompany Don Bosco
to Aubagne, he would make sure that the coach would make a detour to
her home, where her daughter lay sick, and he would beg Don Bosco’s
pardon for his boldness and ask him to see the young woman.

It was dusk when they left. Father Mendre, positive that Don Bosco
did not know the road, was startled to hear him exclaim, “‘I think we
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are going the wrong way,”’ just as the coachman took the detour which
Father Mendre had secretly told him to take. Only Father Mendre knew
the reason for this change of direction. Avoiding a direct response to
the comment, he merely remarked, ““You are in my care now, Father.
Just leave it to me, and I shall certainly get you to your destination.”

Don Bosco kept quiet. When the coach stopped at Madame
Flandrin’s door, he did not refuse Father Mendre’s request. While the
latter waited in an adjacent room, Don Bosco was escorted to the sick
girl’s room by her mother.

For two weeks the poor young woman’s throat had been so inflamed
that she had not been able to swallow anything and had been fed
intravenously; furthermore, she was burning with thirst. Her father, a
government worker, had gone to the office that morning, leaving the
house in the certainty that his daughter would be dead on his return;
just a few days earlier she had been anointed.

As he approached her bedside, Don Bosco asked her, ‘“Would you
like a little water to drink?”’

““She cannot swallow,”” the mother promptly replied.

“Let us pray,” Don Bosco said.

They knelt in prayer for a few moments, and then Don Bosco
blessed the girl, saying, ‘“And now drink.” With no discomfort she
began to sip some water, and as she did so, she felt new life flowing
through her body. Finally, putting down the glass, she exclaimed, “I
am healed!”’

Bedlam broke loose, with people shouting, weeping, running madly
here and there. Father Mendre, dashing into the bedroom, bumped into
Don Bosco who was on his way out, calm and smiling. He went
straight to the coach, followed by his dumbfounded traveling
companion.

The dying girl got up, dressed herself, and walked out to the porch to
await her father’s return from work. On hearing his footsteps, she
rushed toward him, flinging her arms about his neck. *‘I am cured,
papa!” she cried. ‘“Don Bosco cured me!”’ Stunned, the poor man
staggered and collapsed. The doctor, who was called in haste, had a
hard time rousing him to consciousness, while the daughter helped her
mother in giving whatever assistance they could offer.

Meanwhile the two travelers were well on their way. Back in the
coach, Father Mendre merely squeezed Don Bosco’s arm and told him,
“Now, Father, you certainly can’t say that it is not Don Bosco who
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performs miracles!” Very simply and calmly Don Bosco replied,
“Blessed be God! Blessed be God!” Realizing it would be indiscreet
on his part to press the point, Father Mendre said nothing more until
they reached Aubagne.

The girl’s recovery was so complete that on March 4 she wrote a
letter to Don Bosco and, not knowing his address, sent it to Father
Bologna with a note: “Let us all give thanks to Mary, Help of Chris-
tians for the miraculous healing granted me, a poor, undeserving sin-
ner. Pray that I may grow in virtue and in devotion to Her. I wish to
have a Mass of thanksgiving celebrated in honor of our gracious
Mother. Please set a day this coming week for this Mass, but not too
early, please, because we live pretty far from you. Please let me know a
day or so in advance, that I may prepare to receive Holy Communion
and notify several girlfriends of mine.”

We have not been able to ascertain just what day Don Bosco left
Marseille, probably February 25, for on Sunday, February 27, he was
already at Count Villeneuve’s chateau at Roquefort after a brief stay at
Aubagne. From Roquefort he wrote to Father Bologna in French:

Roquefort, February 27, 1881
My dear Father Bologna,

I have left. We got many things done in Aubagne; now I am at Roquefort,
where I shall rest for a day. Tomorrow, God willing, I go on to Saint-Cyr.

1. Meanwhile tell the boys I was much impressed by their good will and
piety and hope that they will keep making further progress. Let them strive to
break the devil’s horns with the twin hammers of confession and Holy
Communion.

2. I took leave of our confreres with real satisfaction, for I could see in their
faces genuine good will to be true Salesians: with wisdom in their speech and
light in their deeds. God be blessed! Courage and perseverance.

3. In the midst of my papers I found six hundred francs; if you are in
desperate straits I shall add to them and send you a thousand. However, if you
can manage without it, I shall give the money to Father Ghivarello,? who is as
anxious for it as were the Hebrews for the manna in the desert.

For your information, I am writing to Madame Jacques. In case of an
emergency, you may ask her to advance you about five thousand francs. She
will shortly make them available to you in her charity.

2Director at Saint-Cyr. See Appendix 1. [Editor]
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Offer my apologies to Madame Brouquier, from whom I had to take leave
abruptly to go to Aubagne, where I found everyone waiting in church for me
to speak to the cooperators.

All went well, praised be God.

4. Slip the enclosed notes into envelopes and forward them to the
addressees.

May God bless us and keep us in His holy grace! Pray for me.

Always your friend in Jesus Christ,
Fr. John Bosco

On the same day he wrote an account of his journey to Cardinal Nina
hoping that it would strengthen his repeated requests for the usual
privileges granted to approved religious congregations.

Roquefort, February 27, 1881
Your Eminence:

[ spent three weeks in Marseille and managed to raise the funds needed to
stabilize our St. Leo’s Oratory. Over two hundred and fifty boys attend, a
hundred of whom are seminary students for our missions in South America,
Patagonia in particular. I am now taking stock and paying off the debts of the
other houses; hopefully I shall also be able to bring the Holy Father a dona-
tion. God willing, I expect to be in Rome by the end of this coming March. It
is essential, however, that the Holy Father restore the privileges he took from
us,?! for they are indispensable and are the prerogatives of all other congrega-
tions definitely approved by the Holy See.

We are already holding services in our new school’s church in Marseille.
The diocesan bishop celebrated the Mass on the feast of St. Francis de Sales,
while the archbishop of Aix presided at the cooperators’ meeting. There was a
great turnout. The collection brought in more than three thousand francs.
Saint-Cyr, Toulon, Fréjus, Cannes and Nice will all have similar gatherings.
We shall see what God’s grace can do.

I commend all our houses to your kind prayers and to your patronage.

Yours most gratefully,
Fr. John Bosco

Canon Brémond, parish priest at La Loubiére in the diocese of
Toulon, passed on to us a striking personal recollection. As an altar boy

21See Chapter 14. [Author]
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at the church in Roquefort, he was very lucky to serve Don Bosco’s
Mass, one he had never seen anyone celebrate in that fashion. The
priest’s demeanor as he stood at the altar so impressed him that he
could not take his gaze from him, so much so that all through that
Mass, he totally forgot to play marbles on the sanctuary carpet as he
and his partner usually did.

From Roquefort Don Bosco went on to Toulon, where a gathering of
faithful was anxiously waiting for him in the parish church of St.
Mary’s. He spoke to an eager congregation. A late news item sent from
Toulon to the province’s Catholic daily read:*2 ‘“He stepped up to the
pulpit after the Gospel, and his very first words captured his audience.
He is not imposing in stature, and has some problems in expressing
himself in our language. However, his whole appearance is endearing.
He is a miracle worker and, more, he is an apostle of charity, a man
according to God’s own heart, a saint.”

Apologizing for not speaking French with the elegance of [Jean
Baptist] Massillon or the eloquence of [Jacques-Benigne] Bossuet, he
spoke of the humble beginnings and development of his work, detail-
ing the account of the two nearby houses of Saint-Cyr and La Navarre,
which stood in special need of assistance. ‘““‘His sermon was delivered
in vibrant language,” the above-cited newspaper related, ‘‘which was
both forceful and picturesque; even its errors made it more effective.”

After his talk, Don Bosco made the rounds of the church to take up a
collection. As he did so, something out of the ordinary occurred.
When he held out the plate to a workman, the latter rudely turned away.
Don Bosco passed him by and softly said, ‘“God bless you.”” The man
then thrust his hand into his pocket and dropped the equivalent of five
cents in the plate. Looking into his eyes, Don Bosco said, ‘“May God
reward you.”” The man repeated his gesture, this time giving ten cents.
Thereupon Don Bosco told him, “My friend, God reward you even
more!”” On hearing this, the man took out his purse and donated a
franc. With a telling glance of tenderness Don Bosco moved on. As
though drawn by a magnet, the man followed him through the church
into the sacristy, and later even into the town, keeping after him until
Don Bosco disappeared from view.

At Toulon also, Mary, Help of Christians glorified Her servant. A

2] a Sentinelle du Midi, March 5, 1881. [Author]
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young woman of eighteen who lived on the outskirts of the town was
suffering from a painful liver ailment which did not respond to medica-
tion and treatment. A zealous Salesian cooperator, she had tried to
attend Don Bosco’s conference, but her illness, which had worsened
from the beginning of March, forced her to keep to her bed. If I could
at least see Don Bosco, she said to herself, his mere presence might do
me some good! When told of her desire, Don Bosco felt that he should
oblige. Standing by her bedside, he urged her to put all her trust in
Mary, Help of Christians, and gave her a blessing. On leaving he said,
“God grant you good health . . .” abruptly leaving his words sus-
pended in the sentence. The mother, fearing that his reticence meant
that her daughter would die, burst into tears but he went on to finish his
words, ‘“. .. and holiness.”” He left the house with a reminder to
mother and daughter to place full trust in Mary, Help of Christians.
Their faith was not in vain. A week later, as Don Bosco was holding
another conference in St. Isidore’s Church at Sauvebonne, in whose
parish our school at La Navarre was located, the young woman, com-
pletely healed, sat in the congregation, listening to him.?

Toulon was on the road route to Saint-Cyr and La Navarre. Don
Bosco visited both houses, but we have no account of his visit to Saint-
Cyr and very little information on his visit to La Navarre. Every bit of
space in the house of La Navarre was being used, with the inescapable
result that countless needy boys’ requests to be admitted were con-
tinually being turned down. His charity, which looked to Divine Provi-
dence for everything, moved him to think of putting up a building
accommodating at least three hundred boys. He asked for a personal
interview with the architect. The latter came in from Toulon, and Don
Bosco sketched out his overall concept, pressing him to fill in the
details. Three months later Father [Peter] Perrot, the director, brought
the plans to Turin for his approval. Don Bosco handed them over to
Father [Anthony] Sala,® his economer general, and to two eminent city
architects. He approved the plans after receiving their favorable report on
June 26, but not before introducing in his own hand minor modifications
which were followed to the last detail. Work began on December 16.

BBulletin Salésien, July 1881, p. 12. [Author]
HSee Appendix 1. [Editor]
]bid. {Editor]
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We now follow Don Bosco along the C6te d’ Azur. He got to Nice no
later than March 8 or 9, for on March 10, at a meeting of the ladies’
committee, Canon Guiol stated that he had received a very important
letter from him postmarked from that area. We do not possess the
original, but the minutes of that meeting include a French translation
which we offer in English:

I have a moment of respite—Don Bosco wrote—and am using it to do what
I should have done sooner.

First, let me say that I was somewhat unhappy on leaving Marseille without
having had time to speak with you at length as I wanted to about St. Leo’s.
However, it seems that Father Durando left the school in fairly good condition,
thus making it possible for me to give you any needed norms and explanations
by mail. The same apparently holds for discipline and behavior. Everyone
seems to be full of good will.

God continues to bless us everywhere: at Aubagne, Roquefort, Saint-Cyr,
Toulon, Hyéres, and we have every reason to thank Him for His spiritual and
material blessings.

Father Bologna tells me that all the funds I collected while in Marseille have
been used up to pay the contractors, and so he is now penniless and faces
outstanding debts. I have raised fifteen hundred francs which I meant to leave
at La Navarre but am now sending to him to meet his current need. I hope that
the fund drive among the industrialists and working families will balance
matters. Father Bologna also tells me that you loaned him five thousand francs
for the contractors. I hope this too can be adjusted.

How can I thank you and the ladies’ and men’s committees who are the
mainstay of St. Leo’s? Tell them we are indebted to them and that we pray with
all our heart that God may reward them generously in this world and in
eternity.

There is another matter I have never managed to clear up. Many people
maintain that poor Don Bosco obtains special graces from God by his prayers.
This is not true. God blesses our undertakings, favors them and protects them.
However, since we do not have the means to maintain them, He comes to our
aid by granting even extraordinary graces and favors to those who help us
financially. Tell our benefactors this, especially Mademoiselle Rocca, so that
little by little she can put it in the minutes.

I hope to send you more news very soon. Just now I warmly commend
myself to the charity of your prayers. God bless us all and keep us in His holy
grace! Keep poor little me in your prayers.

Always yours in Jesus Christ,
Fr. John Bosco
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The Salesian cooperators’ conference was scheduled for Friday,
March 12. Father Ronchail, overwhelmed by debts, had carefully or-
ganized the day; he owed thirty-six thousand francs just to the firms
supplying the workshops, apart from other obligations, so much so that
Brother Moro,? the bookstore manager and purchaser for the house,
dared put in no further orders for anything. One evening Don Bosco
told him as the two were strolling in the courtyard, ‘“‘Debts are made
and Don Bosco is expected to pay them, but he has no money.” Then,
clasping his hands as in prayer for a few moments, he went on, *““Well!
I shall pray to Our Lady and ask Her to do what She can.”

The conference netted Father Ronchail fourteen thousand six hun-
dred francs. Even two Protestant English ladies named Dandas had
helped take up the collection in church. Some days later a French
gentleman came to see Don Bosco and told him that he would like to
do something for St. Pierre’s Hospice and that he had sixteen thousand
francs available. Don Bosco thought that the man was offering a loan
and replied that really he was so deeply in debt that he could not refuse
the offer, only he could not foresee when he would ever be able to pay
it back. The gentleman explained that he was not making a loan but a
donation for the hospital. Don Bosco thanked him and suggested,
“Rather than give it to me, give it to Father Ronchail to help him pay
off some of his creditors.”’ The man did so. Within a short time,
according to Brother Moro, other donations poured in, raising the
amount to forty-two thousand francs, though he did not know how
much more came in later.

A few days after Don Bosco’s arrival in Nice the usual surging flood
of visitors began. ‘“‘Don Bosco!”’ exclaimed Father Ronchail in a letter
to Father Rua.?” ““It is really impossible to describe the flood of enthu-
siasm his very presence produces. In an endless stream people keep
pouring in from morning to night to see him. . . . Let this suffice to
give you an idea of the high esteem in which our dearly beloved father
is held here and elsewhere.”

The following week he stayed four days in Cannes, the guest of an
English Protestant family named Monteiths, which considered itself
highly honored to host him. It was still the resort season in Cannes, a

2] etter from Father Charles Moro to Father Lemoyne. See Vol. XIV, p. 319. [Author]
27 etter to Father Rua, Nice, March 22, 1881. [Author]
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favorite vacation spot in winter for wealthy French and English fami-
lies, with its delightful beaches. Charity drives were directed to the
seasonal cosmopolitan population for philanthropic causes. That was
why Don Bosco chose to go there. ““If he could have stayed a bit longer
in Cannes,” Father Ronchail wrote® in jest in 1881, “‘he would have
completely emptied the coffers of those kind, thoughtful people who
came to him every day with their generous offerings.”” He returned to
Nice on March 19, a Saturday, to celebrate the feast of St. Joseph,
which was also the name day of Father Ronchail [director of St.
Pierre’s Hospice].

Having still a few families to visit in Cannes, he went back for
another day on May 21. A flock of people attended his Mass. While he
was dining with the Monteiths, a cousin of Mrs. Monteiths, a Protes-
tant, asked him for a blessing and a medal of Our Lady. Throughout
that five-day visit he had the family coach and horses at his disposal at
all times.

His stay in Cannes had been interrupted on the evening of Wednes-
day, March 16, because his friends in Nice had organized a charity
concert for the benefit of Don Bosco’s hospice. It was held in the
spacious Paulliani Hall of the Catholic Club; artists of repute gave an
excellent program in exquisite taste before a very select audience, such
as only Nice can assemble during the tourist season. The performance
netted a substantial amount.

The evening’s principal organizer was Dr. [Charles] D’Espiney, a
staunch friend of Don Bosco who had praised his works in a charming
piece of poetry addressed to the ladies present and closing with the
reminder that, while Don Bosco had exhausted his funds to achieve so
much good, the purses of the good ladies were at his disposal. His
easy-flowing verses, masterfully recited by Monsieur Harmel, proved
quite effective.?

On March 22, a third meeting, open to the general public, was held
in Nice. It was a “Sermon de Charité”’ and featured a fund-raising
address. Don Bosco spoke briefly after the speaker and received sev-
eral very substantial donations.

Throughout all these fund-raising activities, Don Bosco did not lose

2bid. [Author]
PBulletin Salésien, April 1881, p. 11. [Author]
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himself in matters of local interest; his mind reached out also to per-
sons and matters distant. For example, he remembered the name day of
his Roman benefactress, Mrs. Matilde Sigismondi, as this gracious
note of his tells us.

Marseille, Toulon and Nice, March 13, 1881
To our good Mamma in Jesus Christ:

This year I cannot honor St. Matilda in the company of our good mamma,
but I remember you and shall celebrate holy Mass tomorrow and pray that God
may keep you in good health for many years to come, so that you may witness
the fruits of your charity and attain heaven. You may be sure heaven is yours,
but please don’t go until you have lived as long as did Methuselah— 969!

I am still in France but on my way toward Rome, where I hope presently to
pay you my filial respects at the beginning of April.

God bless you and Alexander. Have a good name day and pray for me, who
will always remain in Jesus Christ,

Yours gratefully,
Fr. John Bosco

He also gave direct attention to collecting funds for the Church of the
Sacred Heart [in Rome], as we shall see, and to organizing the Asso-
ciation of Salesian Cooperators in France, as the following letter to the
editor of the Bollettino Salesiano tells us.

Nice, March 20, 1881
My dear Father Bonetti,

I have received the circular you sent to reporters and its covering letter.
Without realizing it, I also sent out a few of them. Please don’t have any more
sent to me. Mail me a few forms for the appointment of team captains and
some Italian circulars. Address them to Father Cibrario;* I shall be with him
next Sunday. Next Tuesday I will preach in the Church of Notre Dame here in
Nice to raise money for Father Ronchail; Wednesday I shall be in Cannes,
Friday in Grasse, and then I shall head for Italy.

%Director at Vallecrosia in Liguria. [Editor]
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Thanks be to God! I could never have hoped for the abundant blessings
poured upon us these past few days. May God be praised! Keep on praying.
Regards to all.

Yours affectionately in Jesus Christ,
Fr. John Bosco

P.S. I was able to set up quite a few team captains.

The letter mentions a trip to Grasse, a fairly large suburb of Cannes,
some twenty-five miles from Nice. In his French biography, Dom
Bosco, Dr. D’Espiney tells us that our founder spent several days at
Grasse, receiving many visitors and healing an elderly working
woman. When she asked for his blessing, Don Bosco told her.
*“Gladly, but you must kneel down.”” She could not, she protested, for
after a fracture sustained eight years before, one knee had stiffened and
had developed a running sore. Still Don Bosco urged her to try. She
obeyed, knelt, received his blessing, and rose to her feet with ease. She
then asked him to complete his deed of mercy and grant her a brief
audience. He agreed and they went into the next room. While the good
woman was speaking two cats began to fight, running madly through
the room and leaping across the furniture. She jumped to her feet and
began chasing them. Don Bosco smiled at her agility and remarked, ““I
believe you are not as lame as you were trying to make me believe.”

“0dd!” the woman exclaimed. “My leg is so much better!”’

“You will recover, but not right away. It is better for both of us if
Mary, Help of Christians does not grant you this grace immediately.”

One day the parish priest at Grasse, Father Mistre, a fond admirer of
Don Bosco, introduced some young ladies to him who were known as
committee almoners because their duty was to provide for the needs of
the parish poor. They were some of the very first Salesian cooperators.
Their president spoke briefly on their behalf and was introducing them,
when Don Bosco graciously commented, ‘I am very glad to meet your
almoners, but isn’t the treasurer here too?”” She had been standing with
the others and was introduced. Coming forward, she handed him an
offering they had put together from their private funds.

During his few days’ stay in Grasse, Don Bosco said Mass in the
convent of the Sisters of St. Thomas of Villanova, who ran a boarding
school. One day the superior, Mother Saint-Ferreol, a talented, dy-
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namic woman, told him: ‘‘Father, how long your hair is! It needs a
trimming.”’

“I have no time to bother about my hair,”” he answered.

“Well, if you like, we have a barber nearby who would gladly come
and give you a trim,”” she returned.

“If it will make you happy, I am quite willing.”

Of course, she had planned her little trick the day before. The barber
appeared instantly and was instructed to save all the hair clippings for
her. She kept them as relics and gave a tuft of hair to each of the
almoners who worked with her at the convent, saying, ‘“Those of you
who intend to grow old will attend Don Bosco’s canonization, for he is
a saint.” One only of their number, their president, lived to see the
day.!

We have already cited D’Espiney’s Dom Bosco. Published in Nice in
1881, it is the first actual biography ever written of our saintly founder.
A small book written in a flowing style, it was rich in anecdotes and
bore all the promise of a best seller.*? The author worked on it for about
a year and then asked Count Cays to review, correct and edit the
manuscript and suggest further additions. Convinced that the book
would be a blessing for France, he rightly commented, ‘‘People every-
where are asking about Don Bosco’s congregation; each inquirer is a
potential Salesian or cooperator. A letter would not suffice to tell the
whole story, and Father Mendre’s leaflet is somewhat inadequate.”*

Father Rua also saw the original manuscript and generally had words
of praise for its author, though he pointed out a few errors in dates and
cited some passages which might wisely be deleted because of the
times. He also suggested that the Congregation not be called a religious
organization, but merely a charitable association of priests and
laymen.3* Father Rua, however, did not go over the manuscript thor-
oughly but only spot-checked it in a cursory reading, else he would
have noticed that an anecdote narrated on page 136 about the count of

31Her name was Teresa Chauve. She sent this account to Father [Louis] Cartier in a letter dated
January 20, 1934, and we were able to insert this while correcting our galley proofs. It seems that
Mademoiselle Chauve thought that Don Bosco’s visit occurred in 1875, but it is improbable that
he was ever there prior to 1881. {Author]

32Dr. Charles D’Espiney, Dom Bosco, Nice, Malvano-Mignon, 1881, p. 180. [Author]

3Letter to Count Cays from Dr. D’Espiney, Nice, June 21, 1880. [Author]

*Father Rua’s notes to a letter from D’Espiney to Count Cays, July 15, 1880. [Author]



A Month and a Half in France 53

Viancino was not befitting and the name was misspelled Vianichino.
When the count read the book, he took issue with Don Bosco, who
replied good-humoredly:

Turin, December 18, 1881
My dear Count:

Dr. D’Espiney is a good Catholic, but his book aims at telling some tall
tales at Don Bosco’s expense. So do not be surprised if you find that it has
certain inaccuracies and downright errors.

However, since I shall be meeting the author in Nice mext month, I shall not
forget to ask him to delete or at least amend some of the stories the book
contains.

Still, I am glad that this gave you a reason to write to me. I would be
~ happier had I been able to see you once more in person.

At any rate, I pray God to keep you and your wife, the countess, in good
health and in His holy grace. While asking a remembrance in your prayers, I
am honored to be,

Yours gratefully,
Fr. John Bosco

The author’s amendments appeared in the second edition, which was
very soon issued. Several French editions followed in rapid succession.
The Italian translation, which appeared after the eleventh French edi-
tion, was done by Salesian Father [Dominic] Ercolini of Tuscany; it
was also very popular, and even today [1934] the book makes for
popular reading.

Biographies of Don Bosco appeared after that in several languages.
They were a true godsend, for the time was drawing near when age and
overwhelming concerns would make it impossible for Don Bosco to
make the fund-raising trips he had made in the past. Biographies did
his begging for him. It is to be noted too that their influence was
particularly felt in the first few years after his death, for they kept Don
Bosco’s memory alive and prevented a decline in financial help from
the many people who had previously contributed to his undertakings.

As for himself, he used to say, ‘“Talk well or badly about Don
Bosco, as you wish, so long as what you say helps to save souls.” He
said this because he was fully aware of two things: that talk about his
works smoothed the way to saving souls, and that no one could speak
of his works without speaking of him, so intertwined were they. And so
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he let people talk, intervening only when they were encroaching upon
the truth. For example, on learning that Albert Du Boys had described
his parents as ‘““fairly well-to-do,”’** he promptly had it corrected, as
Father Barberis told us. “No, no, they were poor,” he objected. He
spoke the same way during a conversation at the Valsalice College {in
Turin] at which the present writer was lucky to be present in September
1887. A Salesian from a region of Poland then under Austrian rule
happened to mention a biography in German—whether an original or
translation I am not sure—which said that Don Bosco came from a
middle-class background. Energetically, he replied, ‘“Write and tell
them to correct this! You must write and tell them!”

But the enemy of good was not idle. The Radical, a fanatic anti-
clerical paper, again attacked him in its issue of June 9 with a blistering
article slandering the Salesians in France and urging the government to
close down their houses and expel them from the country. That Con-
gregation’s founder, it rambled, was a trickster, a self-styled miracle-
worker, and the whole aim of his schools was to convince young men to
enter the priesthood despite family opposition and then ship these draft
dodgers off to America. It styled the Salesians a motley crew of poor
devils who had pounced upon France like leeches, no better than a
horde of friars escaping from their impoverished Italy—some of them
fake priests ordained in defiance of canon law, the others tramp clerics
and laymen, army deserters, who made a show of piety to ensnare the
simple while privately they were a hotbed of vice. They started by
giving a few boys free shelter so that later on they could beat their
drums and solicit alms, the boys being later expelled under the pretext
of bad conduct and their places taken by others who paid tuition. It
claimed that the pupils were cruelly abused, even struck with ham-
mers, made to starve and forced to shout “Long live the Pope” and
”Down with the Republic!”’ The director, the paper continued, was in
touch with the pretender to France’s throne. The government’s tolerant
attitude toward such child-abusing friars was truly unexplainable, es-
pecially in the face of the reports and protests sent in by the people.
The vicious journalist signed his diatribe and concluded, ‘“Today they
completed the building they have put up on Rue Beaujour. The staff is

3Albert Du Boys, Dom Bosco et la pieuse Société des Salésiens, Paris, Gervais, 1884. He
wrote: “His father and mother were fairly well-to-do peasants.” [Author]
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entirely Italian and lives at the expense of France, an insult to our
country. We are confident of our readers’ thanks for disclosing the real
nature of this unsavory breed of men who put up a front to conceal their
true identity as intruding religious that they may have a free hand to
carry out their depraved designs. Again we demand that the authorities
tell us what they are waiting for before they deport these despicable
friars unworthy of our pity. Nor shall we stop raising questions as long
as they stay. We demand their immediate expulsion, and in this we are
in accord with the great radical party.”

How timely was D’Espiney’s biography! It sold as fast as it ap-
peared. Many people had met Don Bosco in Marseille, and had experi-
enced what the author had written on the first page of his book: “It is
impossible for anyone to see Don Bosco without feeling drawn to him
with all one’s heart!”



CHAPTER 3

Count Louis Anthony Colle

GOUNT Louis Anthony Colle, a distinguished Salesian co-
operator, deserves a chapter all his own, for his entire relationship with
Don Bosco forms an extremely interesting period in the latter’s life. On
July 5, 1882, after a visit from Count Colle and his wife to Turin, Don
Bosco wrote to say, ‘““You and Madame Colle have been the constant
topic of conversation at the Oratory and at our Valsalice College here in
Turin, and also at Lanzo, and San Benigno. We have all been im-
pressed by your gracious manner and down-to-earth piety. You have
benefited us all spiritually and materially. Everywhere they keep assur-
ing me of the many prayers they are saying for both of you.”” Although
the long list of substantial donations received from Count Colle was
then just beginning, his name was already a household word in Sale-
sian houses, and as we ourselves have witnessed, it became ever more
cherished every year. The most outstanding benefactors in this account
of ours are [Count] Louis Anthony Fleury' Colle and his noble consort,
[Baroness] Marie Sophie Buchet. They deeply loved Don Bosco and
went beyond the boundaries of nationality in their love for his work in
France, Italy and South America. They expressed it by a charity which
knew no limits when it was a question of assisting Don Bosco and
ineffably comforting him in the afflictions of his last years.

Divine Providence introduced Don Bosco to the Colle family just
before it was stricken with a grievous family loss. When Don Bosco
was in Marseille in February 1881, the parish priest at St. Mary’s in
Toulon came to him, begging that he go there and bless the Colles’ only

'The count’s name is converted into Fleury in Latin epigraphs and in Italian letters, this being
a straight translation of Fiorito, or Floritus, without much regard for ancient spelling, but this was
really part of his surname. His Christian name was Louis, his middle name being Anthony, like
his son. [Author]
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child, who lay dying at the young age of seventeen. The priest pleaded
the parents’ utter desolation and praised their virtue, assuring him that
they were convinced the boy would recover with his blessing.

Don Bosco replied that he could not go to Toulon but would most
certainly pray for the young man, and, regardless of relentless pres-
sure, he refused to change his decision. A week later the parish priest
returned, this time determined not to budge until his plea had been
answered. Don Bosco yielded, but since he did not want to give the
impression that he was going to Toulon solely for that purpose, he told
him that he would go there to hold a Salesian cooperators’ conference.
The date was set for March 1.

On arriving in Toulon, Don Bosco immediately called on the Colle
boy, who received him with open arms yet with no show of impatience.
Consumption had taken its toll of the victim. Once they were alone,
Don Bosco was amazed at the utter candor of the boy’s soul, truly a
[Saint] Aloysius in name and in fact. Realizing that the youth was
ready for heaven, Don Bosco prepared him to offer his life gladly to the
Lord and was touched to see how docile he was to the inspirations of
grace, readily accepting Don Bosco’s promptings and placing himself
wholeheartedly into God’s hands. However, Don Bosco did not think it
wise to dissuade him from praying for recovery, if only out of
thoughtfulness for his anguished parents; but he suggested that he pray
for healing only if it should be for the good of his soul. God called the
young man to Himself on April 3. After receiving the Last Rites, he
said to his parents, “‘I am going to heaven. Don Bosco told me so.”

The memories left by this much loved young man made such a
lasting impression on Don Bosco that almost immediately he planned
to write his biography and most promptly did so.2 One who reads this
little book with careful attention to the wording and style may well

2We have three sources of information: this biography, its relevant correspondence, and lastly
some handwritten notes of Countess Colle. We shall first consider the correspondence which
consists of eighty-two letters, seventy-five written by Don Bosco, one by Father Barberis, three
by the cleric De Barruel [later a priest] and three by Father Rua. All are written in French, save for
one from Don Bosco and Father Barberis® letter. Don Bosco’s French is mediocre and hastily
jotted down as anyone can see. The letters cover some six and a half years, from May 4, 1881 to
October 17, 1887. The countess’ notes refer to her conversations with Don Bosco about her son’s
appearance. After her death two notes were found among her papers and correspondence, one
dated June 3, 1886, the other April 7, 1889. In them she strongly asks her heirs to send all her
papers to Father Perrot or to some other Salesian. We had copies of forty-six letters and these
notes for several years but came into possession of eighty-two originals only in 1931, thanks to the
French provincial, Father Hippolytus Faure. [Author]
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question whether it is really Don Bosco’s work. The fact is that Don
Bosco only sketched a first draft of the book and left the actual writing
and final form to Salesian cleric [Camillus] De Barruel.? Indeed in a
letter dated October 4, 1881, he told Count Colle that he would write it
directly in French to save time and later would have a friend of his go
over it. That friend was the above cleric De Barruel [an adult vocation].

As to the veracity of the biography, Don Bosco’s preface assures the
reader that the information had come from people who shared the boy’s
life and so were in a position really to know his piety, charity and
fervor. Of Don Bosco’s diligence to obtain positive facts we have
evidence in three letters addressed to the young man’s father.* In the
first he thanks the count for what he had sent him and for his patience,
and then he asks him to complete his task by collecting the boy’s
conversations and thoughts which he might have expressed to his par-
ents when giving alms to the poor or when doing his tasks; also, all
edifying acts of mortification and patience in dealing with his family,
friends, or the poor; particulars of his visit to the Holy Father in April
1878: his words and, more especially, those of the Pope; similar details
of his visits to churches or shrines and attendance at special religious
services. “Every word, every act of virtue will have its place,”” Don
Bosco wrote. “Please help me in gathering all this material, and I will
put it in proper order.”

The information he requested arrived. In thanking the count, Don
Bosco wrote: ‘“‘Everything, no matter how trivial, will help enhance
the value of this work, which is well under way and just about seventy-
five percent finished. I hope to bring it with me when I call on you this
January.” In his last letter, informing the count that the biography was
complete, he added, ““Now all I have to do is to read it over and have it
copied, so I can bring you the manuscript on my next stopover in
Toulon. We must read it through together.” In his first letter he had

3Don Bosco knew enough French to make himself understood and spoke and wrote it with an
aplomb and easy manner that blithely glossed over vocabulary and grammar. The story is still told
about Father Mendre, curate and later parish priest of St. Joseph’s in Marseille, who loved Don
Bosco with tender filial affection. He was sitting beside Don Bosco during a performance at
St.Leo’s Oratory one day. Every so often the musicians would play a flat note or two. The French
priest, who had an ear for music, winced each time, until, finally, Don Bosco whispered in his ear
in his own inimitable manner and pronunciation: ‘“Moussieur Mendre, la mousique de les enfants
elle s’ écoute avec le coeur et non avec les oreilles.” [Father Mendre, the music of children must
be listened to with the heart, not with the ears.] Time and time again Father Mendre would
recount this advice with keenest pleasure, affectionately mimicking Don Bosco’s accent. [Author]

4San Benigno Canavese, October 4; Turin, November 29 and December 30, 1881. [Author]
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already assured him, ‘‘Before we send it to the printers, you must see it
and freely make any comments or corrections you wish.”?

How much he valued historic accuracy! The second chapter contains
a long digression on educational psychology which many readers
might regard as someone else’s work incorporated into the biography to
enhance its value and scope. Running through about eight pages, it
deals with the home training of children and is primarily based on the
education of the will—an education which is generally neglected in
favor of any early discipline of the mind and which is badly stymied by
the child’s whims and desires that only produce self-love and sen-
suality. Certainly, as elsewhere in the book, the style of this passage is
not Don Bosco’s, but we must say that substantially these pages, like
the entire book, belong to him. It is obvious that the ghostwriter could
not shed his own personality so completely as to preclude subjective
elements, and his own bent toward philosophy is most evident here; yet
we cannot help but see Don Bosco’s own ideas recently formulated in
his principles of the preventive system. Don Bosco most likely
sketched out the book’s general outline, which was then developed by
the ghostwriter and submitted to him for review and approval. We may
go a step further and say that we can find the nub of this short biogra-
phy in the one letter which he wrote in Italian® when the book was still
but an embryonic idea. In writing to Countess Colle,” Don Bosco had
said that he did not care to entrust some things to print. This reticence
bothered her motherly sensitivities, and so Don Bosco explained his
thought to her husband in Italian, perhaps so that, not understanding it,
she would be given a suitably softened translation.

Tarin, May 22, 1881
My dearly esteemed Monsieur Colle:

I realize that your wife is somewhat hurt to know that certain things I do not
wish to entrust to print. Let me briefly explain why. As parents you were

5The book, Biographie du jeune Louis Fleury Antoine Colle by Fr. John Bosco, was published
in 1882. It was printed at the Oratory and is so dedicated: A Monsieur et a Madame Colle
Hommage Respectueux. {Author]

$Young Louis had an Italian tutor, but the count himself must have had only a scant knowledge
of Italian. Otherwise, why did both Don Bosco and Father Rua write to him in French? Father
Barberis, in writing to the count (S. Benigno Canavese, September 6, 1882), apologized for
writing in Italian, saying he did not know much French but understood that the count had some
acquaintance with Italian. Such acquaintance, to be sure, does not exclude some struggle to
understand the language. [Author]

"Rome, May 4, 1881. [Author]
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overly fond of your only child—too much caressing and too much fuss.
However, he always retained his goodness. Had he lived, though, he would
have run into serious problems which might indeed have proved disastrous
after his parents’ death. God therefore chose to rescue him from such danger
by calling him to Himself in heaven, where he might soon become the advo-
cate of his parents and of all who have prayed or are praying for him.

As for myself, 1 have remembered Louis in my prayers and have asked all
our houses to pray in suffrage for his soul.

Since you are now in Nice, I think you may enjoy taking a trip to Turin. I
shall be waiting for you there with deep pleasure. Nor will Mary, Help of
Christians fail to comfort you both.

God bless you, my dear friend, and may He keep you and your wife in good
health. Pray for me too.

Always yours in Jesus Christ,
Fr. John Bosco

P.S. Upon arriving in Turin, please go directly to the Dogana Vecchia Hotel
where you will be welcome. Anyone can then direct you to our house.

A trip to Turin to see Don Bosco and pray at the Church of Mary,
Help of Christians was just what the afflicted couple needed to uplift
their spirits after their painful loss, and so they accepted his invitation.
Don Bosco refers to this visit in his letter to Madame Colle dated July
3: “My manner must have led you to think I forgot all about your visit,
your kindly concern and your generous charity. But please forgive the
circumstances I was in. I have been swamped with work and have had
no time to call my own. Still, notwithstanding my delay in getting to
you, be assured I make a special memento of you and your husband
every morning, and I have prayed for Louis, who left us to go to
heaven.”

This is precisely what the mother wanted to know: what had become
of her Louis after death? She kept harping on this with Don Bosco,
who wrote to her about it several times and discussed it with her in their
mutual visits. Here we enter upon phenomena which lie beyond our
human ken and which we shall endeavor to investigate with the help of
available documents.

Don Bosco first introduced the topic to Countess Colle in his letter
of May 4, 1881. “Be reassured,” he wrote. “Our beloved Louis is most
certainly saved and asks two things of you: that you earnestly prepare
yourself to join him in heaven when it shall so please God, and that you
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pray intensely for him, as he in turn will obtain special graces for you.”
He felt it unwise to say more in writing, but later told her in person
what he had not put down on paper. While he was hearing confessions
on April 3, he revealed that he suddenly had a distraction, as he called
it. He saw Louis happily playing with some friends in a garden. The
vision lasted but a flash. Louis did not speak. However, his appearance
convinced Don Bosco that he was certainly in heaven. Nevertheless, he
kept praying for him, asking God to reveal more to him and hoping for
this grace from His infinite mercy, because, as far as might be possible,
he wanted to comfort the parents so distraught by the loss of their only
child.

God heard his prayer and granted it far beyond anything he might
have hoped for. On May 27, one day after the feast of the Ascension,
while offering Mass for the intentions of Louis’ parents, who were
present, he saw the boy at the moment of the Elevation bathed in a
flood of light, very lovely in appearance, bright with joy, cheeks
fleshed out and rosy. He was dressed in rose-tinted white garments with
golden embroidery on the chest.

“Why did you come, dear Louis?”’

“I did not have to come,” was the reply. ‘“‘In my present state, I do
not need to move anywhere.”’

“Are you happy, Louis?”’

“Completely!”

“Do you miss anything?”’

“All I miss are my mom and dad.”

“Why don’t you let them see you?”’

*“It would cause them too much pain.”

With this the youth disappeared. However, at the final prayer he
reappeared and did so again when Don Bosco was in the sacristy. This
time he was with several Oratory boys who had died during Don
Bosco’s absence; this greatly comforted Don Bosco.

“Louis,” he asked, ‘“what shall I say to your parents to ease their
pain?”’

“Tell them to follow the light and to win friends for themselves in
heaven.”

Don Bosco related this account to the Colle parents when they went
to Turin. Hardly a month later, he received another vision described in
his letter to the dead youth’s mother on July 3. He had continued
begging God to reveal something more definite to him, and between
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May and July he had had the comfort of seeing Louis and once again
hearing him speak.

On June 21, while celebrating Mass, just before the consecration—he
wrote—I saw him. He was unchanged, ruddy and brilliant in beauty, his skin
resplendent as the sun. I immediately asked if he had a message for us, and he
replied quite simply, “St. Aloysius has considerably helped and protected
me.”” I repeated my question: ““Is there anything we can do for you?” He gave
me the same answer and disappeared. Since then I have neither seen nor heard
anything more. Should God in His infinite mercy kindly give us another
revelation, I shall promptly inform you.

Some two months later, he again had an apparition and narrated it to
Madame Colle on August 30:

Throughout the octave of the Blessed Virgin Mary’s Assumption and more
particularly on August 25 I prayed and asked that prayers be offered for our
dear Louis. On the 25th, at the consecration of the Sacred Host, I was given
the great joy of seeing him, clad more magnificently than before. He seemed
to be in some sort of a garden, walking with a few friends. All were singing
Jesu, corona virginum [O Jesus, the crown of virgins] in such harmony and
accord that I can never possibly attempt to express or describe it. In their midst
rose a lofty pavilion or tent. I was hoping that I might see more and hear more
of their marvelous singing, but just then a flash of dazzling light forced me to
shut my eyes. Then I found myself saying Mass at the altar. Louis’ face was
brilliant with beauty; he looked happy—rather, ecstatic. During that Mass I
prayed for you and asked God for the singular grace that we may all one day
be reunited in heaven.

This letter was written at San Benigno, where he was again given a
vision of Louis, as he later explained in Toulon. One day, while prepar-
ing a sermon in his room, he had the feeling that someone was standing
beside him. He turned to look, and the instant he did so the person
immediately switched to his other side. As he was wondering what had
happened, he heard a voice asking, ““Don’t you know me?”’

“Louis!”” he exclaimed. “How did you get here to San Benigno?”’

“It is just as easy for me to come to San Benigno as to La Farlede® or
Turin, or anywhere else I choose.”

“Why don’t you appear to your parents who love you so dearly?”

8Summer estate of the Colle family. [Author]
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“I know they love me, but God’s permission is needed for them to
see me. Even if I were to speak to them, they could not hear my words.
They must go through you.”

Don Bosco referred to Louis Colle’s apparitions twice more in his
letters of 1882. On July 30 he wrote to Madame Colle:

I'have the consolation of telling you that once again I had the consolation of
seeing our ever beloved Louis. Many details I hope I can relate to you person-
ally. On one occasion I saw him enjoying himself with friends in a garden. He
was richly attired, defying all description. On another occasion I saw him
again picking flowers in a garden and then bringing them into a great hall and
placing them on a gorgeous table: “Whom are these flowers for?” I asked
him. He replied: “I was told to pick them and weave them into a garland for
my father and mother, who went through so much trouble for my happiness.”
I will write more on some other occasion.

On December 4, in a letter to Madame Colle, he declared: “I have
seen our dearly beloved Louis several times, always resplendent in
glory, bathed in light, garbed in splendor which defies all power of
description. I shall say more to you orally when, as I hope, I shall see
you at Toulon next February and spend some time with you and your
dear husband, who is so generous to our Salesian houses.”

He did visit them as he said, but it was in March, when he went into
further details. On that occasion he told them of an apparition he was
granted while in Rome on April 30, 1882, on the feast of the Patronage
of St. Joseph, the third Sunday after Easter. He was standing in the
sacristy of the chapel adjoining the new Church of the Sacred Heart,
then being built, when he saw Louis drawing water from a well.

“Why all that water?” he asked.

“It’s for me and my parents.”

“Why so much?”

“Don’t you understand? Can’t you see that it is the Sacred Heart of
Our Lord Jesus Christ? The more abundant the flow of grace and
mercy, the more the treasury is full.”

“Why are you here?”

“I came to visit you and tell you I am ever so happy.”

While in Toulon from March 5 to March 14, he related many other
details which were not put in writing. He said that in the various
apparitions Louis always appeared dressed differently and, when asked
why, replied, “Just for your own delight.” His countenance, however,
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was the same as in his earthly life, though his cheeks were filled out,
his facial expression happy, his person glowing, his garments flecked
with gold and outdoing in splendor the lilies and roses they resembled,
and his face was sparkling with such increasing brilliance as to dazzle
the eye. As for the appearance which came to him while celebrating
Mass, he said that they lasted but a minute or a minute and a half at
most, and that, had they lasted any longer, he would have collapsed
under the strain of the supernatural.

The countess, an enlightened woman, gave much thought to the
value of these apparitions and questioned Don Bosco on the subject.
As she personally recorded later, he expressed himself as follows:
“After due reflection on these apparitions and looking into their nature,
I am convinced that they are neither a deception nor an illusion, but
very real. All that I observe in them is characteristic of and conforming
to the Spirit of God. Without a doubt, Louis enjoys the happiness of
heaven. As for their frequency, I do not know the hidden reasons of
Divine Providence; I do particularly realize that Louis comes to teach
me, telling me matters of earthly knowledge and theology I have never
known before.”’

Let us now look at Don Bosco’s description of those appearances.
On one occasion Louis handed him a rose, saying: ‘“Do you want to
know the difference between the natural and the supernatural? Look at
this rose. Watch it.”” Quickly the rose grew in splendor until it attained
the sparkle of a diamond struck by the rays of the sun. “Now look at
that mountain,”” he told him. And Don Bosco saw a mountain, a mass
of rock and pockets of muddy soil, a very unsightly view. Soon enough
it took on a magnificence of its own, precious gems replacing the
muddy puddles.

One day, while at a splendid banquet in Hyeres, Don Bosco found
himself no longer at table but in a spacious hallway of some kind.
Louis came toward him, saying: ‘“Look at this sumptuous banquet.
What choice food there is! Too much! So many people are dying of
hunger. What a waste of money! Such costly excesses must be cut
down.”” While this was going on, the guests were talking to Don Bosco
and, thinking he was lost in a reverie, they called his name, ‘“Don
Bosco! Don Bosco!”

On another occasion this strange conversation took place between
Don Bosco and Louis:

“Are you happy, my dear Louis?”’
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“Very happy.”

“Are you dead or alive?”’

“I am alive.”

“Yet you are dead.”

“My body was buried, but I am living.”

“Am I not seeing your body?”’

“No, it is not my body.”

“Is it your spirit?”’

“It is not my spirit.”’

“Is it your soul?”’

“It is not my soul.”

“Then what am I seeing?”’

“My semblance.”

“How can a semblance speak?”’

“By God’s permission.”

“Then where is your soul?”’

“My soul is with God. It is in God, and you cannot see it.”

“Then how do you see us?”’

“All things are seen in God: the past, present and future are all seen
as reflected in a mirror.”

“What do you do in heaven?”

“In heaven I forever say: ‘Glory to God! To God be thanks! Thanks
to Him who created us, to Him the Lord of life and of death, to Him in
whom all things have their source. Thanks, praise, alleluia, alleluia.’

“How about your parents? What message do you have for them?”

“Tell them I constantly pray for them and thus repay them. I await
them here in heaven.”

In a later apparition, Don Bosco again asked Louis about his re-
flected image. ‘“You told me that I see but your semblance because
your soul is with God. How can a semblance look just like a living
human body?”’

“You will very soon see,” Louis answered. ““You will be given a
proof.”

Don Bosco waited for it. Some time aferward, as he himself related,
the deceased parish priest of Castelnuovo appeared to him strolling
through the Oratory porticoes. He seemed to be in excellent health and
quite happy.

“Ah! Father, here you are!”” Don Bosco exclaimed. ‘““How are you?”’

“Happy, very happy. Come, walk with me.”
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“Is there anything you wish?”’

“In heaven we have all we desire. But let’s walk and chat together.
Do you really recognize me?”’

“Of course!”

“Look at me carefully. Don’t you see me in the flower of youth and
perfectly happy?”’

“Yes, Father, it is truly you. I have no doubt of that.”

They paced together for a while as they had often done before, and
then the priest said, ‘“Well, do you understand now?” With these
words he disappeared. Then Don Bosco realized that Louis and the
parish priest had arranged the visit. When he told the Colles about it,
he remarked: ‘“‘Favors of this kind are so extraordinary that they are
really frightening in the responsibility they bring to the recipient.”

During Don Bosco’s trip to France in 1883,. these apparitions kept
coming. On Sunday, March 4, Louis sat by him in the train all the way
from Cannes to Toulon, from four in the afternoon till seven that
evening. He spoke in Latin, magnifying the splendor of God’s works.
Among other things he called Don Bosco’s attention to the nebulae and
taught him things truly in the field of astrophysics. “To travel from
earth to sun by express train,”’ he said, “‘it would take no less than
three hundred and fifty years and the same amount of time to cross to
the far side of the sun; in all, seven hundred years. Now, a nebula is
fifty million times larger than the sun, and its light travels for ten
million years before reaching the earth. The sun’s light travels three
hundred and fifty thousand kilometers per second.’’ At this point, Don
Bosco, realizing that Louis was warming up to this subject, exclaimed,
“That’s enough! My brain can’t keep up with you. It’s too much of an
effort, and I cannot stand it.”’

“But that is just a sample of the greatness of God’s works!”’

“How can you be in heaven and here at the same time?”’

“I move faster than light, with the speed of thought, whether it be to
come here, to my parents’ home, or anywhere else.”

Some days later, while saying Mass at Hyeres, Don Bosco again saw
Louis. “What’s up?”’ he asked. In reply Louis told him about a region
in South America which was in dire need of missionaries, and showed
the source of the Chubut River in the Cordillera de los Andes.

“Now let me say Mass,”” Don Bosco told him. ““You are making it
difficult for me to continue.”

*Children should go to Communion often,”” Louis went on to say.
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“They should be admitted to Holy Communion early; God wants them
to nourish themselves with the Eucharist.”

“But how can we admit them when they are too young?”

“Start by showing them the Sacred Host when they are four and five
years old, and teach them to pray as they look at Jesus. This will be like
a Holy Communion. Children must fully realize the importance of
these three things: God’s love, frequent Communion, and love for the
Sacred Heart of Jesus. But love for Jesus’ Sacred Heart sums up the
other two.”

In a previous vision Louis had shown him a well in the midst of the
ocean. “Look at that abyss,” he said. “The sea continuously flows into
it yet never subsides. So too is it with the graces contained in the
Sacred Heart of Jesus. They are easy to obtain; all we need do is pray.”

In April of that year [1883] he was celebrating Mass in the Church of
Our Lady of Victories in Paris when Louis appeared to him while he
was administering Communion. As always, he was framed in an aura
of glory; about his neck hung a multi-colored necklace—white, black,
red and countless other colors indescribably blended together. The
shock immobilized his arm, preventing him from giving Communion.
The other priests, thinking he was exhausted, began to administer the
Holy Eucharist for him. Don Bosco asked Louis, “Why are you here?
Why come as [ am giving out Communion? See how embarrassed I
am?”

“Here,” Louis answered, ‘“‘is the dwelling of all graces and
blessings.”’

“But where am I? I no longer see anybody. What am I to do?”

“Give out Holy Communion.”

“But where are the people who were here before?”’

“Give out Holy Communion,” Louis repeated. ‘“The people are
right here!”

So saying, he vanished and Don Bosco found himself at the altar,
ready to end the Mass.

Not long afterward, Louis again appeared in the Church of St.
Clotilda in Paris. After Mass, Don Bosco was vainly trying to dismiss
the crowd from the sacristy in order to say his thanksgiving prayers,
but they kept pressing him on all sides.

“Give me a moment to myself,” he pleaded. “Let me at least say
one Our Father!”” But no one heeded him. The parish priest then pulled
him into a small adjoining room, which, the moment he entered, was
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filled with heavenly light. There was Louis, slowly and intently pacing
the floor.

“Oh, it’s you, Louis!”’ Don Bosco exclaimed. ‘“Why are you pacing
up and down without saying a word to me?”’

“This is not the time to talk, but to pray,”” was the answer.

“Please speak to me! Say something, as you have always done
before.”

“Really, I do have something important to tell you, but this is not yet
the time.”

“Still, do speak to me. I shall be seeing your parents. What consola- -
tion can [ bring them?”’

“Consolation? They will have it. Tell them to keep on praying and
serving God and the Virgin Mary while I am beginning to prepare their
happiness.”’

“Pray? There is no further need to pray for you! We know that you
are happy. Why do you want your parents to wear themselves out with
prayer?”’

“Prayer gives glory to God.”

“Why don’t you visit your parents, who love you so much?’

“Why do you want to know what God has reserved to Himself?”

With that, he disappeared. Don Bosco noticed that all that time
Louis had stood with head uncovered.

On the night of August 30, 1883, Don Bosco had an amazing dream
which we shall recount in due course [in our next volume]. He dreamed
he was in a spacious hall in the company of many friends who had
already gone into eternity. A lad, apparently fifteen, resplendent with a
heavenly beauty surpassing the sun’s brilliance, approached him. It was
Louis Colle. In a tour, as fast as lightning, he showed Don Bosco the
spiritual heritage reserved for the Salesians in [South] America and the
hardships and blood which would be needed to make it fruitful, as well
as the future material prosperity of those lands. On October 15, writing
to Father Lemoyne® in Turin, he asked him to draw up a copy of this
dream so he could send it to Louis’ parents in Toulon. ‘‘Please, hurry
the dream about America,”” he wrote, “‘and send it to me without
delay. Count Colle is anxious to have it translated into French. I'll
speed that up.”” Then, writing to the count on February 11, 1884, he

9See Appendix 1. [Editor]
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stated: ““The meaning of the journey I made with our dear Louis is
becoming ever clearer. Just now it seems to be the very focal point of
all our efforts. Much is being said, written and made public to adver-
tise and actuate our plans. God willing, when we get together we will
have much to talk about.”

An interesting episode took place at Orte in 1884. On his return from
Rome on May 14 Don Bosco had a stopover of some four hours at that
station. It was late, about 10 PM., and Don Bosco tried without suc-
cess to doze on a waiting room bench. Suddenly Louis appeared before
him, and all else vanished from sight. Don Bosco walked up to him.

“Are you Louis?” he asked.

“Don’t you recognize me? Have you forgotten our trip together?”

“Not at all! But how can we accomplish all we talked about? I am
tired and in poor health.”

“Are you? No . . . you will give me your answer tomorrow.”

The vision lasted until it was time for departure. The following day
marked the start of the novena to Mary, Help of Christians. Don
Bosco, whose health had been deteriorating ever since his return from
France, suddenly felt better and continued to improve as the days went
by.

When he left the station to board the train, it was two in the morning.
Father Lemoyne, his traveling companion, was very surprised to see
him do something so unusual. On meeting the conductor, who invited
him to board the train, Don Bosco asked, “Do you know me?”

“No, I do not,” the man answered.

“I am Don Bosco.”

“So?”

“I am Don Bosco of Turin.”

That was all they could say because the train was pulling out. In-
deed, there was something singular in Don Bosco’s words and manner
of speaking, which Father Lemoyne, who was accompanying him, had
never noticed before. Unable to make head or tail of it, he even the-
orized that Don Bosco had meant to teach him, his secretary, a
lesson—namely that he did not sufficiently appreciate who Don Bosco
was. Don Bosco told Count and Countess Colle about this apparition
on June 1, 1885 in Turin.

A second dream, occurring the night between January 31 and Febru-
ary 1, 1885, showed Don Bosco the future of his foreign missions. He
wrote to Count Colle about it on August 10: “Our friend Louis took me
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on a trip to the heart of America,' the land of Ham, as he called it, and
to the regions of Arpachshad! or China. God willing, we shall talk
about it when we get together.”” From this we learn who it was that
appeared by his side when he instantly found himself transported from
America to Africa and of whom he said, when relating the dream, ‘I
recognized him as my guide.”” We find another reference to the same
dream in a letter of January 15, 1886: “You will be receiving an
account of a trip to China in the company of our good Louis. When by
God’s grace we meet again, we shall have much to talk about.”” From
the foregoing it appears that as of June 1885 he had still said nothing of
the dream to Count and Countess Colle.

The last apparition we know of came to Don Bosco on the night of
March 10, 1885. He was pressing Louis to say something, and Louis
replied, *““You prayed for me in the sacristy of the Toulon cathedral that
I might recover my health.”

“Yes, I did.”

“Well it was better that I did not recover.”

“Why? You might have done a lot of good, made your parents very
happy and would have done many things to help people glorify God.”

“Are you sure of that? You yourself conveyed the sentence, a bitter
one both for me and my parents; still, it was for my own good. When
you prayed for my recovery the Blessed Virgin told Our Lord Jesus
Christ, “Now he is My son and I wish to have him now that he is
Mine.”

“When must I start getting ready for heaven?”’

“The time is near at hand when I will give you the answer.”

Don Bosco told this to Count and Countess Colle in the hallway
running alongside his room on June 1, 1885, the eve of the feast of
Mary, Help of Christians. As he finished telling them, he remarked:
“The beauty of the finery adorning our dear Louis was beyond descrip-
tion. The crown alone encircling his brow would have required not
days but months and years for a close study, so varied was its splendor;
the more one looked at it, the larger and more brilliant it became.”

1Most likely this is a typographical error. In Volume XVII of the Memorie Biografiche di San
Giovanni Bosco, p. 646, Don Bosco is quoted in the same letter as follows: “Our friend Louis
took me on a trip to the heart of Africa, the land of Ham.” [Editor]

As explained in Volume XVII of the Memorie Biografiche di San Giovanni Bosco, pp. 646f,
Arpachshad is mentioned in Genesis 11:10-13 as a descendant of Shem. According to Réné
Frangois Rohrbacher, the Chinese are the descendants of Arpachshad and the region they popu-
lated derived its name from him. [Editor]
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Before learning of the events taking place after March 1883—which
they were apprised of only in 1885—Louis’ parents were never quite at
peace concerning his eternal destiny, and so they kept asking Don
Bosco for special prayers for the repose of his soul. On one occasion
Don Bosco replied:'? “I have already begun a novena of Masses, Com-
munions and special prayers for Louis, who, I feel, must be smiling at
our efforts, because we are praying for the repose of his soul, when, as
a matter of fact, he is now our heavenly patron and will remain such
until he joyfully welcomes us into everlasting happiness!”

Countess Colle closed her own notes with the comment: “While
comforting two lonely hearts by these communications from the super-
natural world, Don Bosco appeared to be so overjoyed that he seemed
to be looking into the heavenly Jerusalem. He was overcome by emo-
tion, and his eyes glistened with tears, as he repeated Louis’ praises of
God in heaven.”

We will narrate an episode recounted by Countess Colle after her
son’s death to the sisters at La Navarre. Don Bosco had suggested that
she turn to her son in prayer in moments of strain. One day a man came
begging to her door and arrogantly demanded money. Overlooking his
rudeness, she gave him what she regularly gave to the poor. However,
he assumed a threatening manner and tone of voice which frightened
her. No one else—not even the maid—was in the house. Then she
remembered Don Bosco’s words and prayed for her son to come to her
aid. As soon as she called upon him in her heart, the burly fellow, as
though suddenly overcome by terror, turned on his heels and in two
broad strides reached the bottom of the staircase in hurried flight.

Now to return to the apparitions. Was it only to console the grieving
parents that Don Bosco was granted the supernatural visions which he
confided to the count and countess? Can’t we think instead that God’s
main intent was that these visions should encourage this devout Chris-
tian couple gladly to commit a goodly portion of their wealth to help
Don Bosco, who had been called to initiate within the Church so many
good works in meeting the needs of his time? This is the way Don
Bosco must have seen it. In fact, with the boldness of the saints, he had
told the desolated parents after their son’s death, “God has taken your
only son from you that you may adopt all my orphans as your chil-
dren.” And thus did this fervent couple see it too. Count Colle himself

2 etter from Turin, August 23, 1884. [Author]
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explicitly told Don Bosco that he was putting his entire wealth at his
disposal.” These were neither idle words nor short-lived pious senti-
ments. For over six years, that same purse poured out substantial sums
for the new house at La Navarre, the Sacred Heart Church and the
adjacent hospice in Rome, the hospice adjoining the Church of St.
John the Evangelist in Turin, the house of the Sons of Mary at Mathi,
the foreign missions, and occasional emergencies at the Oratory and at
San Benigno Canavese. At the risk of wearying our readers, we wish to
emphasize to the utmost this extraordinary generosity by looking into
the correspondence, which, though it does not tell everything, still
does much to satisfy our healthy curiosity.

Don Bosco’s first request for help dates to July 3, 1881. He wrote to
Countess Colle: ““So far I have managed to struggle along, but I fore-
see that, within months, I shall have to call upon the charity of the
Colle family—though only in an emergency and within your means.”
The emergency concerned the Church of the Sacred Heart in Rome,
but, later, similar situations increased in number and range. His
vaguely worded appeal received an encouraging reply. In fact, on
August 20 he wrote to Count Colle: *“Thank you for the priceless news
that you are pledging twenty thousand francs for the Church of the
Sacred Heart in Rome. This is a real boost for our holy Catholic
Church and for its impoverished head. While God will reward you a
hundredfold now and ever so much more in the next life, our Supreme
Pontiff, joined by all Christians and people of good will, will bless
your kindness.”” The count’s letter pledging the money so pleased Don
Bosco that he wrote in acknowledgment of its elegance and gen-
tlemanliness: “‘I have read it over and over and feel I am right in
honoring you and the city of Toulon by sending it on to the Holy Father.
He may tell people how lawyers can skillfully blend learning with
piety. God be blessed in everything!” It should come as no surprise
that he sent this personal correspondence to the Pope, because it was
the Holy Father who had entrusted the project of the Church of the
Sacred Heart to him and took a personal interest in it. Furthermore Don
Bosco was even then probably eyeing a specific goal which we shall
bring up later.

On July 7, 1882 he wrote to thank the count for the donation in the
letter sent to him with greetings for his name day: *‘On this occasion,”

BLetter to Countess Colle, Turin, July 3, 1881. [Author]
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Don Bosco wrote, ““‘I wish to thank you most sincerely for all the help
you have sent us to open, maintain and enlarge our houses. The souls
whom the Salesians, with God’s grace, will save through your kindness
will be credited to both of you. When you and your wife will enter
heaven, those saved through your charity will most assuredly welcome
you. Animam salvasti, animam tuam praedestinasti.” [By saving a
soul, you assured your own salvation.] He stressed this thought on
December 4, 1883, writing in regard to the missions: ‘‘First and fore-
most let me thank you, dear count, for the generosity you have lavished
upon us on countless occasions. If we have been successful in our work
in South America, particularly Patagonia, we owe it to you and to your
charity. You and your wife have good reason to rejoice. The souls
whom our missionaries will save will be accounted to you and your
spouse; they will be your key to heaven. And now you are reaching out
to other houses of ours and other natives who, through your goodness,
will come to the light of faith, and thus swell the ranks of souls who
will pray for you.”

In that same letter he told Count Colle of two other projects to which
he had applied the count’s donation, the house at Mathi and that of St.
John the Evangelist, both of which successively became the residence
of the Sons of Mary. “I have good news for you. We bought the house
at Mathi on October 10. It is now furnished and occupied by some fifty
young men who could not be accommodated at our house in San
Benigno. They are now living there, as they stoutheartedly study for
the priesthood. Last Thursday the house was blessed and dedicated to
God in the name of St. Aloysius, as a sort of memorial to Louis and his
family. This is our first house to be named after St. Aloysius. Blessed
be God.” Referring to the house of St. John the Evangelist in Turin, he
said, “Despite all our efforts, the house going up alongside the Church
of St. John the Evangelist is still without a roof. Construction has
reached the third floor, and work continues steadily.” Finally, on Oc-
tober 22, 1884, he penned the last details: “I am very happy to tell you
that the house your money has built for the Sons of Mary is finished,
and we have scheduled November 10 for occupancy by approximately a
hundred and fifty young men.” The date of the formal opening was set
at a later date, as Don Bosco informed the count on February 20, 1885,
so that the count could be present. “Though we are already living at St.
John’s, the house has not yet been officially dedicated. We must pre-
pare a good meal and all together drink a cordial toast to you and to
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Countess Colle. Is that all right with you, dear countess, our good
mother in the Lord Jesus Christ?”” As noted before, the count and
countess did go to Turin for the feast of Mary, Help of Christians.

At the beginning of 1884, it seemed that Don Bosco’s shaky health
would not allow him to make his usual seasonal trip to France, where
Count Colle was awaiting him impatiently. On February 11 Don Bosco
wrote to him, ‘“Every day, sometimes several times a day, I pay you
both a visit in spirit, but as yet I have not been able to come in person,
dear count and countess. Presently, our works are progressing nicely,
thank God; there are more houses, more boys than ever, and as always
our work enjoys God’s blessing. Praised be God! For some time now
my health has not been good, and I don’t know whether I can make my
usual visit to you. I may be able to tell you soon, but it is agreed, in any
case, that we shall meet in Rome.”

True, he had hoped to anticipate this visit and arrive at La Farlede, as
a “‘thief in the night” on or about September 20, 1883, but circum-
stances did not permit it. Still, the count put aside for him the object of
Don Bosco’s visit as a “‘thief,”” as we can clearly see from his letter to
the count, dated October 15: “Thank you for your kind information.
The work has gone forward these past few days, and the contractors are
clamoring for payment. Praise to God, and a thousand thanks to you,
my dear count and countess! You truly are our providence, God’s
chosen instruments for coming to our aid.”” Father Rua was sent to
collect the bounty of Divine Providence, and to arrange a trip to Rome
with the count and countess, which they had long wished for. He
himself, on his arrival in the Eternal City in April 1884, wrote to them
on April 16 about the progress of construction and reminded them of
this trip. “I am in Rome. I had a pleasant trip, and, thank God, my
health is better. I have given much attention to the work in progress on
both the church and the hospice of the Sacred Heart of Jesus. The
foundations of the latter are causing very serious problems because of
their depth, and there is still much work to be done before the huge
piles of stone brought in for the building can be laid into place. Now,
since you told me that you would like to come to Rome for the laying of
the cornerstone and stay but a few days, I feel it would be wiser for the
sake of your health and that of the countess that we postpone the date.”
On April 24 he notified them of the arrival of Father Rua who had gone

4 etter from San Benigno Canavese, August 25, 1883. [Author]
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to Toulon to pick up the count’s donation of one hundred and fifty
thousand francs, part of which he had immediately forwarded to
Rome. “Ireceived your welcome letter which came quite promptly and
all is fine,” he wrote. ‘“‘Father Rua joins me in blessing God and
thanking both of you for helping us so much in promoting God’s glory.
Father Rua promptly sent me all I needed to get the work going, and
now we are moving along well.”

But the progress was so slow that the ceremony for the laying of the
cornerstone was held in May 1885. On May 10 Don Bosco wrote to the
count and countess: “All is ready here in Rome for the laying of the
cornerstone. We could ask a member of the noble Borghese family to
preside. Father Dalmazzo will see to that and guide us along. But one
thing is our responsibility. The cornerstone must contain mementos
and some data on the family and the sponsors of this building. Kindly
take it upon yourselves to have some friend jot down for me some data,
such as name, date of birth and any details you may wish to add. Please
bear with me. This is history we must pass down to posterity. On
receiving this information, I shall complete the task.”

It was in 1884 that Don Bosco appealed to Count Colle concerning a
purchase which involved a considerable sum of money, but which he
still was anxious to make regardless of the cost. He mentioned it to him
in a letter dated February 20: “One day, you recall, we spotted a little
house from my balcony. ‘“We should buy that little house,” you re-
marked, ‘to rid ourselves of a nuisance. I shall give you thirty thousand
francs for that purpose.” Then and there we could not enter into a sale,
because the owner was not willing to sell. Now she is anxious to sell us
not only the house but the adjoining land as well. Any way we look at
it, this is an excellent buy. The Salesians and all our friends are keen on
it and push us to buy, but the cost has risen much higher: one hundred
thousand francs for land, landscaping and house. Now, while I don’t
intend to be indiscreet, I still don’t want to hide the fact that this
purchase would ease our situation at the residence, the festive oratory,
the school and the workshops. Therefore, dear count, in the near or
distant future, could you help us out in this matter? I speak un-
abashedly, for in your boundless charity you have assured me that your
purse is at my disposal for whatever may redound to God’s greater
glory. Give this matter some thought and then reply with the same
frankness with which I have appealed to you.”

The house up for sale was owned by Mrs. [Theresa] Bellezza, whom
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Father Lemoyne often mentions in his volume." It was located to the
west of St. Francis de Sales Church and separated from the Oratory by
a single wall of the playground.’® Count Colle paid for the entire
package. In pledging the money the count must have proposed some-
thing hardly compatible with Don Bosco’s lowly opinion of himself or
of his purity of intention. We are not sure, but, be that as it may, Don
Bosco’s answer on February 27 was: ““I received your welcome letter,
but I wish you would not tell me why you are doing this or that. Just let
me voice my needs, and I shall always be equally pleased whether you
answer ‘yes’ or ‘no.” My concern is to pray each day for you and the
countess, and I do so at holy Mass every morning with a special
memento for your intention. My doctors have assured me I can travel to
our houses in southern France. On Saturday, God willing, I shall leave
for Nice with Father Barberis."” While there I hope to pay you a visit
and formally dedicate and bless our, or I should say your, church at La
Navarre. We shall then have time to talk, and I shall better explain my
plans for benefiting you, but always in whatever may bring you joy on
earth and finally in heaven.”

During that same year of 1884 another pressing need forced Don
Bosco to appeal to his generous benefactor’s charity. A cholera epi-
demic broke out during the summer, whose consequences for Don
Bosco he thus described to the count in his letter of September 10:
“Cholera has ravaged several towns in France and is now terrorizing
Italy. So far our houses and boys have been spared, but contributions
have fallen sharply and we find it very hard to meet our expenses of
building and maintaining our works. Therefore, if you could come to
our aid at this time, you will, as ever, be our mainstay. However, should
it be burdensome to you to return home from your villa at La Farlede
because of the cholera, do not worry. Please stay there and we shall
find a way of getting out of our predicament. I repeat: give no further
thought if circumstances keep you from doing good.”’ Though we have
no direct evidence, we believe that this kindly gentleman found some
way of reconciling his ease of mind with his pressing desire to do good.

The close of the year gave Don Bosco a chance to thank Count Colle
adequately for all the kindnesses he had performed. On December 29

15§ee Vol. 11, p. 421; Vol. 1V, pp. 424f. [Editor]
16See L’ Oratorio di Don Bosco by F. Giraudi, Plate VIII. [Author]
See Appendix 1. [Editor]
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he wrote: ““I would like to visit you and thank you personally. Since I
cannot do so, let me thank you by mail at the close of this year, my dear
generous count and countess. God be praised and thanked for having
kept us in good health and, I hope, in His grace! Amid so many other
good works, you paid Father Perrot’s debts at La Navarre, and the Lord
will not fail to reward you generously, while our poor orphan boys will
keep praying for your intention. Lucky Father Perrot to have such
paymasters! Why can’t we have such benefactors in Italy? If Italy has
any such paymaster, let him come forth and pay the seventy-five thou-
sand francs Father Rua must shell out for our missionaries in [South]
America, besides a nearly equal amount for the outfitting and travel
expenses of those who will soon depart. And why does such a benefac-
tor not step forth and pay the debts of our houses in Turin and of our
church and hospice in Rome? The reason is clear: in all France and
Italy there is but one Count Colle! And we bless our good God thou-
sands of times for the fact that you are here on earth to aid us, sustain
and support us in our crises. May God keep you both in good health for
many a year and grant you a long, happy life in reward for your charity
here on earth, and may He finally give you your great reward in your
heavenly home, where I have full trust we will all meet with Jesus,
Mary, and our beloved Louis, there to sing God’s praises throughout
eternity.”

In April 1885, accompanied by Father [Charles] Viglietti,' he saw
the count again at Toulon and, before leaving, received from him the
sum of one hundred thousand francs for the church and hospice in
Rome and the missions. He intended to repeat his visit in September
during the Salesians’ retreat. On August 18 he wrote to the count from
Mathi, where he had gone for a month to recuperate from his intense
weakness, or, as he put it, if possible to slow down his getting old."
“Our retreats nearly always start about August 1 and end about October
10. But I will not go to Nice or Toulon before the middle of September;
just when, I shall let you know. I am most anxious to see you, but I am
not sure I shall, because for this past month all my trips at Mathi have
been limited to going from my room to the garden, which is very close
to the paper mill. All I can tell you now is that my health is holding, but
I think I shall feel better when the weather cools down. Should my

18See Appendix 1. {Editor]
] etter to Count Colle, Turin, July 14, 1885. [Author]
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condition keep me from traveling, I will keep you posted on our works.
Within this week you will have the papers for our hospice in Rome, and
Father Rua is completely at your service, ready to carry out your holy
desires in this matter.”

The overall public health situation advised against holding the spir-
itual retreats at Nice. Don Bosco chose to stay for a month at the
Valsalice College [on the hills overlooking Turin]. From there he wrote
to Count Colle on September 27: ““As you can see, I am half-blind and
you may find it hard to make out my writing. Forgive me and please
bear with me. I shall not fail to remember you and the countess every
morning during Holy Mass. O Mary, be our guide along the way to
heaven!” In December Father Rua went to Toulon and returned with a
precious packet from the count and a pretty little package from the
countess for Don Bosco. He answered the countess on December 24:
“Father Rua has given me the packet you know about and the little
canister of jujubes® you so kindly sent me from your garden. [ accept it
as a remembrance from my most loving and thoughtful Mamma. The
tea from the jujubes was excellent and helped ease my cough. Please
accept my sincere gratitude.”

We would very much like to know how much money Father Rua
brought Don Bosco. Once again, from a letter dated January 15, we
can gauge the far-seeing providence of God in having Don Bosco forge
such a cordial relationship with Count Colle. “I speak of both of you
every day,” Don Bosco wrote. “‘I might say every moment, but my
poor befuddled head allows me to write but a few words, so little
indeed in comparison to all I should be doing to thank you for so much
kindness and charity you show us. At this time you are not only the
mainstay of our houses and of the Salesians, but in these days prac-
tically our sole benefactors. Recently donations have dropped alarm-
ingly, especially for our houses in France and for our South American
missions. But our bountiful fundraiser, Mary, Help of Christians, is
beginning to come to our aid through extraordinary favors She grants in
Russia, Prussia and, most particularly, Poland. Father Rua will write
you about our hospice in Rome. Rome is an eternal city. Lots of talk,
lots of red tape and a penchant for doing things the slowest possible
way! Patience!”’

In March 1886 Don Bosco went to Spain, passing through Nice and

2An edible fruit of any of several trees of the buckthorn family. [Editor]
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Marseille. On March 26 he informed the count and the countess that he
would be calling on them. ‘“Monday evening, please God, I shall be
with you,” he wrote, ‘““and we shall then discuss our affairs to our
hearts’ content. If you could set up an altar, I would be very happy to
say Holy Mass in your home; otherwise I’ll abide by your arrange-
ments.” As something for the road, the count gave him eighty thou-
sand francs.

Correspondence resumed on July 25 when, far from well, Don
Bosco was being hosted by Bishop [Philip] Chiesa of Pinerolo at his
villa. From July on we have no letters until September 9, when Don
Bosco wrote, ‘I am back at Valsalice for another series of retreats and
a meeting on matters pertaining to our Congregation. Seventy directors
from as many houses were present. We spoke a good deal about you
and our projects.”” Then on September 23 he wrote: ‘“Next week we go
to San Benigno Canavese where our novices have doubled in number,
obliging us to set up a new house for them in a hurry.” He was alluding
to the house at Foglizzo which had just been opened. In this, as ever, he
was thoughtful about keeping his more generous benefactors well
posted on what was happening, making them feel that they were per-
sonally involved in his undertakings.

We pick up the correspondence again on December 14, when Father
Lasagna, heading a missionary expedition, called on the count and
countess to pay his respects. He did not leave empty-handed. Don
Bosco then wrote to the pious couple: “Father Lasagna has written to
tell me about his visit to you and the kindness which you showered
upon them all with truly fatherly concern. They are now departing,
their hearts deeply touched, assuring me that they will hold you both up
in America as a model of Christian life. They are departing to win
souls for our beloved Jesus, while assuring their own salvation and
yours as well.”” Then, recalling their hospitality to the missionaries on
their visit, he goes on to say, ‘““This is a dish which they shall offer you
both as you enter paradise: a very tasty dish, a golden dish adorned
with diamonds and filled with good works—among so many others,
your help to the Salesians in their mission of converting Indians and
sinners; it will enrich you both with joy without end.”” He then speaks
of a precious gift, which he calls ““jujube,” linking it to the fruit sent
him by the countess: ““Your ‘jujube’ — what has become of it? Well,
being of excellent quality, it was shared as follows: first, fifteen thou-
sand francs to pay a promissory note sent me by Bishop Cagliero from



80 THE BIOGRAPHICAL MEMOIRS OF SAINT JOHN BOSCO

Patagonia; second, thirty-five thousand francs went to the Banca Ti-
berina for the Sacred Heart project; third, the rest was divided among
St. John the Evangelist Church and annex in Turin, San Benigno Ca-
navese and Foglizzo, where we have young men studying for the
priesthood. As you can see, every word in this letter calls for a com-
mentary, but let’s put that off until we have time to talk over our affairs
in peace. I would like to write much more in witness to the love and
heartfelt gratitude all the Salesians profess for both of you, but my poor
head can hardly respond and the countess will have to kindly make out
my terrible scrawl.”

We have little to go on concerning the count’s donations through the
year 1887. On March 23, Don Bosco wrote to him about a recent
earthquake in Liguria: “I am most happy to tell you that in the recent
earthquake, not a single boy or Salesian was hurt. Considerable
damage, however, was done to the buildings; the house, school and
church at Vallecrosia were almost totally destroyed. But Divine Provi-
dence has always been our help and will not forsake us now.” Quite
probably, the dispenser of Divine Providence was not unmoved by this
news. Two other sources are more substantial. One is a postscript of
Father Rua to a letter of April 8, in which he thanks the count for his
kindness to Father Perrot, who had gone to see him, most probably
because he was in need. The second concerns a sum of five thousand
francs for San Benigno, as we shall see in due time.

We now close this topic. It is impossible to tally up the sum total of
the count’s donations, since we have no records and available docu-
mentary evidence is often vague, with countless gaps. As best as we
can ascertain, the total amount of Count Colle’s charitable donations
come up to one hundred and twenty thousand francs a year, a sum that
fifty years ago was undoubtedly considered very outstanding.

Now let us turn to the various ways Don Bosco expressed his grati-
tude to him.

When they first met, the count was a lawyer and a Knight of the
Order of St. Gregory the Great, a title conferred on him by Leo XIII at
the recommendation of his bishop. It was Don Bosco’s wish to make
him a Roman Knight, and once he realized that Count Colle would be
pleased with that honor, he renewed his efforts with greater energy. A
French Catholic of the old school, the count treasured this title of
nobility, not so much because it was noble, but because it was papal
and thus linked him more closely to the supreme head of the Church.
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Don Bosco began working toward this goal back in June 1881, when he
wrote up a résumé for the Holy Father and sent it to the bishop of
Fréjus and Toulon, in order that he might certify its truthfulness and
add his personal recommendation.?’ The résumé read:

Turin, June 16, 1881
Most Holy Father:

Foremost among the finest men who have distinguished themselves for
professing and prompting the honor and glory of our holy Catholic faith, with
no regard for human opinion in these times of ours, is Attorney Louis An-
thony Colle of Toulon, a scion of one of Toulon’s most highly respected
families.

He is also son-in-law of Baron Buchet, army general and former senator of
France; zealous chairman of the Catholic Social Union Board in the Var
province; chairman of the Society of St. Vincent de Paul in Toulon; founder of
the political-religious daily La Sentinelle du Midi, the only Catholic news-
paper in the Var province, and the founder and president of the Catholic Club
in Provence.

A man of considerable fortune, he constantly contributes to various char-
ities. In March of last year he generously donated twenty thousand francs for
the continuation of work on the Sacred Heart Church and Hospice on the
Esquiline Hill in Rome. Then, in September of the same year, learning that
construction funds were again running low, he made a second donation of
twenty thousand francs for the same purpose.

When accommodations for poor boys of the Salesian agricultural school at
La Navarre, near Toulon, became inadequate, he donated a further twenty
thousand francs with a pledge of eighty thousand more in the future.

This distinguished benefactor is presently a Knight of St. Gregory the
Great. However, in his keen desire to link himself and his family more closely
to the supreme head of the Catholic Church and more valiantly to prove
himself a defender of the Church, he would truly appreciate and cherish for
himself and his family the glorious title of Count of the Holy Roman Church.
He is prepared to pay all the usual secretarial fees.

Having already benefited from the count’s financial support of several
hospices entrusted to us by Divine Providence, I humbly kneel at the feet of
Your Holiness and ask that you grant this favor.

Fr. John Bosco

21 etter to the count, Turin, July 3, 1881. [Author]
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Three months later, Don Bosco, seeing no results, enlisted the aid of
the cardinal vicar, who knew of Count Colle’s generous donations to
the Sacred Heart Church.?

“Count Colle of Toulon,”” Don Bosco wrote, “‘is very wealthy and
willing to make more generous donations to the Church. However, it is
necessary that Your Eminence ask the Holy Father to grant him the title
of ‘Count.’ I have already submitted to Your Eminence a formal ap-
plication and the recommendation of his bishop. If you feel it unwise to
approach the Holy Father directly in this matter, you might ask the
cardinal secretary of state to do so. He has already obtained this honor
for Catholics whose credentials were to all appearances less im-
pressive. I believe that the Holy Father will thus gladly encourage a
man who dedicates so much of his wealth to the welfare of the Church
while leading a fervent Catholic life.”

In December, Cardinal [Ludwig] Jacobini, secretary of state, took
the matter in hand and assured Don Bosco that the favor was as good as
granted. But, as Don Bosco wrote, ‘“‘People say that Rome is eternal,
also in doing business.”?

He was right. When he went to Rome in April 1881, he discovered
that no one had as yet moved a finger. On May 2 he wrote to his
“dearest, esteemed friend’’:

I am in Rome. I have already seen the Holy Father and spoken with him at
length about you and your wife. I told him of your contributions to the Sacred
Heart Church and to La Navarre, the laying of the cornerstone and other works
of charity performed by you and your wife. He listened with fatherly concern,
and then told me to inform you that he sends to both of you his apostolic
blessing with the assurance that he will pray for your well-being, and your
perseverance in God’s grace. He then added:

“And the papal decoration you asked for?”

“Holy Father, I am still waiting,” I answered.

“What? Oh, such negligence, such negligence! Go to Cardinal Jacobini
immediately. He will bring you up to date!”

Cardinal Jacobini, the secretary of state to His Holiness, received me imme-
diately, apologized for the delay and assured me that the papal brief would be
handed to me before my departure from Rome. Hopefully, I'll present it to

228ampierdarena, September 14, 1881. [Author]
B etter to the count, Turin, December 30, 1881. [Author]
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you in Turin. Head for Turin, then, my dear friends, for the feast of Mary,
Help of Christians. There I hope we shall have time to talk about our
undertakings.

The Colles did not go to Turin but sent their best wishes [for Don
Bosco’s name day] on the feast of St. John the Baptist.?* ““It was a good
day,”” Don Bosco wrote on July 5, “a heartwarming celebration, and
several times [ felt the tears well up in my eyes.”” But had the count and
countess come to Turin, they would have left without the papal brief,
even though it had been received some time earlier. In the same letter
Don Bosco continued: ‘““This Roman brief may truly be called the
‘Brief of Setbacks.’ It was sent to me in Turin. I checked it and noticed
that it was addressed to: Comes Colle Dioecésis Taurinensis (Count
Colle of the Diocese of Turin). I immediately sent it back to Rome and
am now awaiting an amended brief.”” Finally, on July 19, a year after
the initial steps were taken, the brief arrived, and Don Bosco wrote,
“After endless waiting, I have this very moment received the Holy
Father’s brief. One could not ask for more. However, I’d like it to be
handed over to you in an appropriate manner, and so I am instructing
Father [Peter] Perrot to make suitable plans to present it to you on a
chosen date. He will ask you whether you prefer that such presentation
take place at your villa or in Toulon or, better still, at La Navarre at the
inauguration of the new wing. Do as you and your wife think best.”

There was need to point out the legal value of the title. Don Bosco
drew the count’s attention to this on July 30. “As you will see,”” he
wrote, ‘‘the brief is a very precious document for you, your family and
the history of the Church. Here in Italy government authorization is
needed for anyone to assume a title or wear badges of honor. Since you
are a lawyer, I am sure you will know how to go about such things in
France. My only concern is that a document of this sort be presented
becomingly to you, with due publicity.”

The ““Consulta Araldica” [the Heraldry Guide] in Italy, which vali-
dates all titles of nobility, had no problems ratifying papal titles. Titles
of nobility had been abolished in France, but this never kept people

%At his baptism Don Bosco had been named after the apostle John, but in 1846 the Oratory
boys, believing his name to be John the Baptist—a very popular saint in Turin—began to
celebrate his name day on June 24, the feast day of this saint. See Vol. II, p. 381. [Author]
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from using them in private life. As a matter of fact, titles of nobility
still retain their value in the eyes of the public.

And yet, would you believe it, the problems plaguing the brief kept
coming back. Whether or not the original sent to Father Perrot got lost
on its way or was damaged somehow, a duplicate copy had to be
ordered from Rome, and that entailed another long wait. In the mean-
time, a strange thing happened. Don Bosco had written in the letter we
have just quoted: ““I shall have to contact you for help sometime in
August, but in due time I shall write you quite frankly about it.”” He
did write to the count from San Benigno on August 28: “Here I am at
San Benigno Canavese, where I often speak of you and your wife with
Father Barberis, Father Rua,? Father Durando and others who have had
the good fortune to make your acquaintance through us. But as I was
honored to write you some time ago, I am now in dire need of money
for our young men who are preparing themselves for the priesthood and
the foreign missions. If you, my dear count and countess, could help
me provide bread for my young men here and badly needed supplies
for our Salesians and boys at Carmen in Patagonia, you would really be
doing an act of great charity. Formerly, you yourselves offered your
charity; now I am requesting it. But please act quite candidly toward
me as | have acted toward you. If you can or cannot help out just now,
please say ‘yes’ or ‘no’ in all frankness. I need twelve thousand francs.
In the goodness of your heart, do what you can without inconvenienc-
ing yourselves.”

The count sent half the amount. In acknowledging the donation Don
Bosco wrote on September 6: “‘Our biggest debt was to our baker who
had cut off all deliveries to our community at San Benigno. Our semi-
narians send you their heartfelt thanks and will pray fervently for you
and Countess Colle. Meanwhile we pray that Divine Providence will
come to the aid of our missionaries in Patagonia and Tierra del Fuego.
Father Barberis wishes to thank you personally in the name of his
pupils, all of them students for our foreign missions.”” Father Barberis,
in fact, enclosed in Don Bosco’s letter a personal note of his own in
Italian.

All this was linked with the brief which had been relatively costly for
Don Bosco. Since he was already up to his neck in debts, he had tried

BSee Appendix 1. [Editor]
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to solve this problem without letting anyone know of it. The count,
however, suspected that this was the case and so inquired about the
routine fees for such briefs. Don Bosco delayed answering until he
received the long-awaited second copy from Father Dalmazzo, pro-
curator general. Once it was in his hands, he sent it to the director at La
Navarre, with the following instructions:

Turin, December 2, 1882
My dear Father Perrot:

We have finally received a duplicate of the famous brief. Believe me, this is
a genuine historic document.

Two of you should go together to Toulon, or the Colle couple could make a
trip to La Navarre; this might pose problems right now. See what’s best and
then act. But whatever you do, see to it that the brief is translated into French
and then given to the press.

Make it clear that while Attorney Colle will be titled “Count Colle,” his
wife will become a countess.

Sincerest regards to the confreres and boys, for whom I wish good health
and holiness.

Pray for me, ever in Jesus Christ,

Yours affectionately,
Fr. John Bosco

Only after this did Don Bosco reply to the count’s request about the
brief’s fees. Don Bosco’s letter is worth reading in its entirety.

Turin, December 13, 1882
My dearest friend:

Blessed be God amid both roses and thorns. After such a lengthy delay,
everything is finally in order and, late though it is, the brief has arrived and
has been sent to you with the Pope’s blessing.

You asked me something I’d rather not talk about, but I will obey and
candidly tell you everything. You wrote: “Tell me quite frankly what fees I
owe to the pertinent Vatican office for this document. I do not want you to bear
that expense.”

I’ll tell you the whole interesting story. For things such as this, the Holy
Father has never in the past asked me for money. Months ago, however, the
Pope, referring to this brief, said to me, ““It is all done. All you need do is to
see the secretary of state.”” He, in turn, kept telling me, “It’s all done.” But I
never got the brief.
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Finally my procurator general in Rome went to Cardinal Jacobini and
frankly asked what was delaying the delivery of the brief. He was told that the
fee was twelve thousand francs. He remonstrated, tried to see the Holy Father
about it, and at long last the fee was lowered to six thousand. Then the official
in charge wanted his share, too, claiming a registry fee of five hundred francs.
Wishing to act as a real gentleman, I found myself bankrupt and turned to you
for help, and you, surely inspired by God, sent the six thousand francs. So all
is paid up, and you don’t owe anyone anything. My apologies for the patience
which I made you exercise in reading this story.

Good day, my dear Count Colle, my friend in the Lord and always! May the
Blessed Virgin protect you and the countess, keeping you both in good health
for a long time and finally granting both you and me the glory of heaven in the
fellowship of our beloved Louis for all eternity. Amen.

Pray for this poor priest who is affectionate as a son in Jesus Christ.

Fr. John Bosco

In reply the count sent him six thousand five hundred and fifty
francs.? On December 20 Don Bosco answered, ‘“You sent us this
money as an act of charity. I accept it in the same spirit with deepest
gratitude. It will be used to feed and clothe our orphans and so I shall
ask the boys to pray for you, my most generous and dearest friend, and
for your wife that the Lord may grant you much joy on earth and
eternal happiness in heaven. How can I ever repay you? There is
nothing I can give or do for you to repay you properly. There is but one
thing and I will do it most gladly. God willing, I shall celebrate three
Masses on Christmas night, and our boys and clerics will receive Holy
Communion. They will be offered to Our Lord and to the Most Blessed
Virgin for your intentions and your wife’s.”

As the count’s donations increased, Don Bosco felt that he had to
show his gratitude ever more. With this in mind, he again sang the
praises of both Count and Countess Colle to Leo XIII in the spring of
1884, and the Pope kindly conferred another papal distinction upon the
count. Without giving the slightest hint, Don Bosco invited them to
Turin for the feast of St. John the Baptist rather than for the feast of

26The explanation for the additional fifty francs is found in Father Dalmazzo’s letter and with
the second copy of the brief. “Here is the new copy of the brief for Count Colle. With some
difficulty I managed to get it redone for fifty francs.” Since this added fee is usually recorded on
the back of such documents, Count Colle noticed it and sent the payment. [Author]
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Mary, Help of Christians, when he would be too busy with visitors.?’
They accepted his invitation, and, at the testimonial dinner, Don Bosco
had the countess sit at his right hand and the count at his left in the very
large dining room Then the surprise was sprung. Climaxing the fes-
tivities, Father Dalmazzo, who had recently come from Rome, read
out the count’s citation as Commendatore of the Order of St. Gregory
the Great. It was a well-staged surprise, arousing the highest enthusi-
asm. After reading the citation, Father Dalmazzo embraced and con-
gratulated the count. He then handed the medal to Don Bosco, who
handed it to the countess to place about her husband’s neck amid great
applause.

Ever true to himself, the count wrote to Don Bosco after his return to
Toulon, and signed himself as “‘a commendatore very willing to take
orders from Don Bosco.”’%

“Your words are quite clear,” Don Bosco replied, ‘“‘but you should
know that Don Bosco’s pockets are always empty, and Father Rua is
forever looking for money! How will you find a way out? We shall
always do our best to be discreet in our asking and will at all times
happily accept what you so generously give to us to help us save souls.
You understand, dear count, that these last words are said in jest and
that my handwriting is hard to make out. God bless both of you, dear
count and countess! May Mary, Help of Christians keep you both in
good health and ever on the path to heaven. Our entire household—
priests, clerics and boys—sends its fond regards, asks for your prayers
and will receive Holy Communion for your intention tomorrow.”’

To show his gratitude to his benefactors he would often send them
little gifts which he knew they would like. As tokens of thanks to some
benefactors he would send bottles of choice wines or exquisite liqueurs
given him by patrician families of Turin. Hence he frequently sent
Count Colle some excellent vermouth. Replying to the count’s first
note of thanks on August 30, 1881, he wrote: “‘A little vermouth is such
a trifle, but you were so good in graciously accepting it. I am very glad
that you were pleased with such a little thing.”” On receiving an ac-
knowledgment of another gift, he wrote on December 4, 1881: “I am
delighted to learn that the vermouth reached you safe and sound. It is a
mere trifle but the only way we can show our thankfulness to you and

ZTLetter from Father Barruel, Turin, May 21, 1884. [Author]
2 etter from Don Bosco, Turin, July 5, 1884. [Author]
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tell you we love you and very fervently pray for you.”” On January 18,
1885 he re-echoed his sentiments: “Offhand I am going to ask you a
simple question. Please tell me, ‘Are you running out of vermouth?” As
you know, I am your supplier.”

But it was from his deep faith that he usually drew the means to
return a favor. No single letter of his omits to mention that prayers have
been said or would be said for his two great benefactors; on solemn
occasions he would stress it more expansively and fervently. Though
we have already seen samples of this, we will consider some which are
more meaningful.

On August 10, 1885, shortly before the feast of the Assumption, he
wrote the count and countess: ‘I believe that during this novena for the
Blessed Virgin’s Assumption, you will not forget your poor Don
Bosco, who unfailingly prays every day for your spiritual and temporal
welfare. Throughout this novena we Salesians insistently ask the
Blessed Virgin to reserve, after a long life, a place for both of you near
Her in paradise.”

On September 8, 1886 he began his letter with a reference to the
Nativity of Mary: ““O Mary, our good Mother, give a very special
blessing on this day, when Catholics celebrate Your birth, to Your two
children, Count and Countess Colle. With all my heart®® 1 celebrated
Holy Mass this morning and our boys offered up their Holy Commu-
nions for your spiritual and temporal happiness. Please pray also for
me, for I love you tenderly as a son in Jesus Christ.”

On September 21, 1886 he wrote to Countess Sophie Colle on her
name day: “‘I would truly love to be with you on this, your name day,
but I have to put it off for a while. Today I will limit myself to saying
Holy Mass for you, while our orphans will offer up Holy Communion
for your intention. We will pray that God will keep you and the count
in good health, peace and love to your last moment. Then may the
Blessed Virgin, escorted by a multitude of angels, take you with Her to
paradise along with your relatives and friends and poor Don Bosco who
loves you dearly in the Lord.”

On October 22, 1884, the eve of the start of the novena for the feast
of All Saints, he wrote: ‘“Tomorrow we shall begin the novena in honor
of All Saints. I would not have this day go by without presenting you

2These words were underlined in the original French text. [Author]



Count Louis Anthony Colle 89

and your intentions to God. Among other things we thank God for
having kept you both in good health, and I am fully confident that the
Blessed Virgin will continue to protect you.”

On November 29, 1881 as the feast of the Immaculate Conception
was drawing near, he wrote, “I would not have this novena to the
Immaculate Conception pass without praying for you, dearest count
and countess. On the eve of this solemn feast, I shall say Holy Mass
and our boys will offer up Holy Communion at the altar of Mary, Help
of Christians for your intentions.”

On December 4 of the following year he wrote the countess: ‘““Like a
loving son, who remembers his good Mamma every day in his prayers
to Our Lord, 1 do not want this novena of the Immaculate Virgin Mary
to pass without saying special prayers for you and Count Colle. On the
feast day itself, Friday, December 8, all the Salesians and their pupils
will offer prayers and Communions for you both. And what will Don
Bosco do? I shall say Mass for your intentions on that day. We shall
pray that the Blessed Virgin may keep you both in good health for
many years, always sheltered by Her grace and holy protection, until
we shall all be reunited with our beloved Louis and the angels in
paradise.”

He wrote again to Count Colle on December 4, 1883: ““The entire
Salesian Congregation pays its respects to you. On Saturday we shall
celebrate a Mass at the altar of Mary, Help of Christians for your
intention, and the boys will receive Communion and pray for your
intentions.”

On December 23, 1883, in sending his Christmas greetings, he
wrote: ‘““You know that the Salesians recite special prayers for you
every day, morning and evening, while I remember both of you every
morning during Holy Mass. But today I wish to offer you a present
which will certainly delight you. God willing, on Christmas night, at
midnight, I shall celebrate the customary three Masses for you. All our
Salesians and boys will pray and offer many Communions for your
intention. We shall address our prayers to the child Jesus, imploring
Him to grant you many consolations here on earth. May He keep both
of you in good health for many years, guiding you safely along the road
to paradise.”

On December 17, 1884 he wrote to both husband and wife: ‘““The
Christmas novena has begun and we have no intention of forgetting
you. We are praying for both of you and for your health and safety
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every morning and evening. Holy Mass will be celebrated for your
intention on Christmas morning that God may grant you a long and
happy life.”” He expressed similar wishes in other years at Christmas,
on New Year’s Day and on the feast of St. Francis de Sales.

The correspondence we are running through has interesting side-
lights on the cholera epidemic which swept areas of Italy and France
from 1884 to 1886 and caused the already mentioned financial reper-
cussions. These happenings offered Don Bosco the opportunity to
express his gratefulness to Count Colle. The first cases of cholera were
reported in the summer of 1884. The count and countess had gone to
the Oratory for the feast of St. John the Baptist (Don Bosco’s name
day), as we have already mentioned, but nothing was heard from them
after their return home. Don Bosco was worried, but when the news
did come, it was good news, and he replied on July 5: ““Your welcome
letter was truly a message of consolation for us. We were all asking
about you and could get no answer. Father Rua, Father Cagliero, Father
Durando, Father Barruel and all the Salesians kept asking about your
trip, your health and where you were staying, but no one knew any-
thing until your welcome letter arrived. Now we know that you are in
good health and staying at La Farlede. Blessed be God. The overall
news of the public health situation is improving, and we are constantly
praying for both of you and all your friends that nothing will imperil
your health or your peace of mind. We shall continue to do so morning
and evening in our personal and community prayers. How fervently
and gladly do I pray for you! I remember you both every day at Holy
Mass.”

Yet Don Bosco himself was far from well. The summer heat, which
had always been a drain on his strength, became ever more oppressive
in 1884. The doctors insisted that he should move to a cooler climate.
Bishop [Philip] Chiesa of Pinerolo offered him the hospitality of his
villa, and Don Bosco went there, accompanied by Father Lemoyne.
The bishop showered him with attention. Meanwhile Don Bosco fol-
lowed the spread of the epidemic® with apprehension because it was
beginning to break out in the neighboring villages and the number of
victims kept increasing. “We trust in the assistance of Mary, Help of
Christians,”” he wrote to the count on August 11. ““Still, our houses

30Don Bosco’s letter to Count Colle, July 20, 1884. [Author]
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have been turned topsy-turvy by the epidemic. Boys who have parents
or relatives have gone home, but the poorer lads remain with us, and
we shall look after them and keep up their spirits. If nothing untoward
happens, we shall see each other toward the end of September; other-
wise, Divine Providence will guide us. All the Salesians and boys are
praying for you, and we have great faith also in the devout prayers of
both of you.”

He returned to the Oratory on August 23, and that very day wrote to
the count: “I have just now returned from Pinerolo in fairly good
health, praised be God. Turin is surrounded by cholera, but the city
itself is totally free of the epidemic so far. Thanks to God and to the
Blessed Virgin, all our houses have been spared this scourge. Our
priests, clerics and boys are praying and offering up Communions for
you and the countess. Thank you for the rosary you say for our inten-
tion. Our Lord and His Divine Mother will not let us repeat in vain:
‘Mary, Help of Christians, pray for us.” ”

But Don Bosco did more than pray; he mulled over an idea. *“While
I was staying at Pinerolo,”” he wrote, “‘I seriously thought that if you
and the countess could come to spend the hot summer months at
Pinerolo, it would greatly benefit your health. Couldn’t we find a cozy
little place for you through the summer? Let’s keep it in mind for next
year.”

However, nothing came of it. In fact, on August 10, 1885, Don
Bosco wrote: “I see in the papers that cholera is now threatening
France. I believe that La Farlede will be spared, but should you wish at
any time to come and stay for a while at Lanzo, which is totally free of
cholera, just give me a few days’ notice, or even one day, and we will
have a cottage ready for you and your whole family.”” He more warmly
renewed this offer on August 18: “My dear, generous friend, we trust
that both you and the countess are well. All our Salesians and boys are
constantly praying that you may enjoy long life at La Farleéde in health
and holiness. But should anything untoward come up and should you
wish to come and stay with us for a while, please feel free to do so.
You will be given a rousing welcome.”

Don Bosco again spent some time with the bishop of Pinerolo in
July 1886, and from there he wrote on July 23: “‘I constantly think of
you and ask God to keep you both in good health for many years. The
Salesians are well. No cholera or other ills over here. Hence, if we can
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do something for you, it will be a great comfort for us, and we shall be
unconditionally at your service.”” This oft-repeated invitation once
more showed Don Bosco’s gratitude toward his distinguished
benefactors.

The exchange of visits, which we have already reported and which
we now re-emphasize so as to better understand Don Bosco’s senti-
ments, resulted in demonstrations of gratitude on one hand and a
largess of charity on the other.

Don Bosco had stopped off in Toulon between March and April of
1883. On April 5 he wrote from Valence on the left bank of the Rhone
River: ““I always fondly remember the gracious kindness, attention and
generosity you have lavished upon me so many times, particularly
during the days I had the honor and pleasure of spending with you at
Toulon. My dear count, please know that in writing to you, I also
include the countess, whom we may now rightly call the ‘charitable
mother’ of the Salesians. In all their houses and undertakings, the
Salesians will never cease to pray for your health and well-being.”

On June 10, he invited both of them to Turin for his name day,
saying, “We are keeping the feast of St. John the Baptist on the 24th of
this month, and if you can, please come to Turin for the occasion; you
will crown the festivities. I think we will have time to chat about our
own concerns and maybe take a little trip or two. However, should you
choose to anticipate or delay your visit, please feel free to do so, for I
have no engagements elsewhere during those days. The celebration of
the feast of Mary, Help of Christians was truly magnificent. I shall tell
you about it in Turin.”” The invitation was joyfully accepted. When
they left Turin, the count was not feeling too well. Don Bosco hastened
to write to him on July 7: “When you left us, my dearest friend, I was
quite concerned about your health; you had a bad cold and were cough-
ing. I trust in God that you are feeling better by now; still, I would
appreciate hearing from you. So please write a brief note and reassure
me.”

One of the trips Don Bosco had planned for them was to Borgo San
Martino, but that plan fell through, and so he wrote in the same letter:
“The celebration at Borgo San Martino was meant for both of you;
your accommodations, the choir, the band, the boys, the bishop—
everyone awaited you anxiously. I tried to assuage everybody by invit-
ing all to pray for you and your intentions.”
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At the beginning of 1884 Don Bosco eagerly anticipated his next
visit to Toulon.?! As we have already stated, he went in March with
Father Barberis. The count and countess returned to Turin for Don
Bosco’s name day, and on that occasion the title and insignia of Com-
mendatore of St. Gregory the Great were publicly bestowed upon him.
That same year, Don Bosco fervently hoped that they might come back
to attend Father Cagliero’s consecration as bishop. ““I would like to
make you a proposal,”” he wrote on September 7. ‘It may be difficult,
but not impossible. The decision is yours. I believe you were informed
that our Holy Father Leo XIII will officially announce Father Cagliero’s
elevation as bishop on the 13th of this month. He will be consecrated a
few days later. He is our first pupil to have attained this lofty office; he
will be the first bishop of Patagonia. He is also one of your protégés and
is quite fond of you. We are organizing a most magnificent tribute, but
there is one big thing we hope for. All of us—and I myself es-
pecially—wish to have you with us that day as godparents at this
solemn rite. Expressing the wishes of all, I now invite you formally.
However, my love for you and my concern for your health prompts me
to say that if you feel you may suffer from the trip, I will, at the cost of
a great personal sacrifice, insist that you both remain at home. This is
my sincere invitation, but feel absolutely free about accepting it or not,
even though we all profoundly desire to have you here with us.”

The reply was what had been feared. Bishop Cagliero went to Rome
in December and returned to Turin on the 22nd, bearing the Pope’s
special blessing for Count and Countess Colle.3? He took it to them in
person, and was received with the most refined graciousness;* in turn
they presented him with a gift of fifteen hundred francs.** Before the
end of 1883, Bishop Cagliero baptized a young Indian and named him
Louis Colle; he then sent the young man’s photograph to Don Bosco to
pass on to the count.®

Don Bosco saw the Colles again in April 1885 at Toulon; there he
arranged with them another visit to Turin on the occasion of the feast of
Mary, Help of Christians, transferred that year, for liturgical reasons,

3lLetter to Count Colle, Turin, February 11, 1884. [Author]

32 etter from Don Bosco, Turin, December 17, 1884. [Author]

3] etter from Don Bosco to Count Colle, Turin, February 20, 1885. [Author]

34 etter from Father Bonetti to Don Bosco, Marseille, February 11, 1885. [Author]
35Letter from Don Bosco to the count, Turin, September 27, 1885. [Author]
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to June 2.% In the Colle home Don Bosco always felt much at ease
because of the Christian piety which reigned there. He voiced the
touching memories of his stay with them as follows:3” “My earthly
paradise is still my room, or, rather, the room you set aside for me
during my stay in Toulon.” As the day of their visit drew nearer, he
wrote again on May 26: “All the Salesians are waiting for your arrival
on the morning of the 31st. You have not told me whether you are
coming by way of Savona or Genoa. I do not mean to inconvenience
you in any way, but we shall be ready to welcome you at noon for
dinner or at any other hour. You truly will be the friends of Mary, Help
of Christians and the sponsors of our celebration. . . . Meanwhile I
have made a memento for you each morning at Holy Mass and shall
continue to do so until the day of your welcome arrival in our midst.”
Don Bosco returned their visit toward the end of March 1886. It was
the last earthly meeting of these holy souls. Don Bosco was looking
forward to another meeting on a more memorable place and occasion,
as he wrote on March 22, 1887: “The tentative date for the consecra-
tion of the Church of the Sacred Heart in Rome is set for May 14;
afterward we could proceed to Turin for the feast of Mary, Help of
Christians on May 24. Is that agreeable to you? . . . If it is, I shall send
you all the details you need to know. We will all await you on that date,
and we are praying for your health and long life; your poor, but most
loving Don Bosco never fails to make a special memento for you every
morning at Holy Mass.” He wrote again on April 8: “I don’t know
whether you have been receiving news from us of late because I have
been all but forced to stop my letter writing, except for strictly confi-
dential matters. The consecration of the Church of the Sacred Heart has
definitely been scheduled for May 13. I can travel only in brief stages
but hope to be in Rome on that day. 1 also hope to find you both in good
health, and to tranquilly enjoy being together again. From Rome we
shall return to Turin for the feast of Mary, Help of Christians on the
24th and shall continue talking about our own matters.”
Unfortunately, the count’s health was also declining; his heart condi-
tion had again worsened more than ever. On learning this, Don Bosco
wrote him on May 12: “Your letter hit all of us like a thunderbolt,

36L_etters from Don Bosco to the Colles, Turin, March 13; Nice, April 25; Turin, May 10, 1885.
[Author]
37 etter to the Colles, Nice, April 25, 1885. [Author]
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upsetting all our plans. But your health and your need to take every
precaution come before all other considerations. We can postpone our
get-togethers to some other time. I desire to go to Rome and pray at
length for you at the tombs of Sts. Peter and Paul, and I trust that Our
Lord will let you join us for the feast of Mary, Help of Christians at
Valdocco. All our prayers are for this intention. We will keep in touch
with you. May God’s blessing be with us and may Mary grant us to
meet again in Turin. All our pupils are praying for you and expecting
you without fail, for your visit will bring them the greatest joy.”
However, in a postscript, Father Rua gave the count some rather dis-
turbing news of Don Bosco’s own health. Deferring the date of the
church’s consecration, as Don Bosco had wished, so as to have the
count attend, was not possible, Father Rua stated. It was too late to do
anything about it since it had already been publicly announced that the
consecration would take place on May 14.

Don Bosco took the trip in slow stages. On arriving in Rome he
hastened to write to the count on May 1: “We are here in Rome after a
pleasant journey. My secretary, Father Rua, will let you in on the
details. If you cannot come, we shall pray fervently for your health.
Still, it is my firm belief that we shall see you in Turin, for it is
inconceivable to celebrate the feast of Mary, Help of Christians without
you. I say this only on condition that your health will permit it, because
it is precious to us. My return has been set for May 20 at the latest, but
I shall try to anticipate it by a few days. All our works [in Rome] have
already started; may God help us see them through! May God grant
you and the countess good health and lead you both on the path to
paradise. Amen.” He signed himself “humble and loving as a son.”

The count’s reply was not reassuring, and Don Bosco wrote again on
May 12: “Your letter tells me that your health is far from being as good
as we would all earnestly desire. We, therefore, will continue to pray
and, as it were, do violence to the Lord and the Blessed Virgin. All the
boys in our schools are praying for you. Tomorrow Father Rua and I
will say Mass for you. Friday evening at six we have an audience with
the Holy Father, with whom we shall speak at length about you. . . .
On Saturday we shall have the consecration of the church and the
blessing of the Sacred Heart Hospice which I have so often recom-
mended to your charity.”

The Colle family was officially honored at the consecration cere-
mony; the three major church bells rang out the praises of the count,
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the countess and their son Louis, whose names were emblazoned on
each of them with Latin eulogies® composed by Don Bosco. His
handwritten draft is still preserved.

Don Bosco did follow his plan of anticipating his departure from
Rome. On May 18 we find him at Pisa, guest of Archbishop [Ferdi-
nand] Capponi. From there he wrote his last letters to his dear friends,
and we quote them in their entirety. In translating them [into Italian
from French], we have corrected the flaws in syntax which, together
with the painful scrawl, reveal Don Bosco’s weariness of hand and of
mind.

Pisa, May 18, 1887

Dear Count and Countess Colle:

I believe you have by now received the Holy Father’s commendation which
he added to the apostolic blessing he sent you. Let me just write a few lines to
you from the residence of the archbishop of Pisa, with whom I am staying and
who has asked me to send you his regards.

Tomorrow I leave for Turin, where we shall most assuredly pressure the
Blessed Virgin, Help of Christians, to restore you to your former good health.

All the Salesians pray incessantly for you and your wife.

God bless you both! May the Blessed Virgin guide you always in the path to
paradise. Amen.

With the affection of a son,
Fr John Bosco

P.S. During the lengthy audience which the Holy Father kindly granted me,
I found time to speak of you and your wife and of all the good works which
you are performing and which you help us carry out.

He is deeply grieved to hear that your health is not all we could desire
and he asks that many prayers be offered for you in the Church of the
Sacred Heart, especially during the novena and solemnity of Mary, Help of
Christians.

I have asked him to remember you in his Holy Mass and pray that you may
be in good health for a long time. He assured me he will do so. He has also
asked me to extend to you in his name a special blessing with a plenary
indulgence. Please bear with my scribble!

30mitted in this edition. [Editor]
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About a month later he wrote a long letter to the count, but forgot the
salutation. The effort to push his sluggish pen across the paper is only
too apparent.

Turin, June 14, 1887

I am writing from our Valsalice College which you honored by your visit;
this gives us frequent occasion to speak of you and your esteemed countess.
Should your health improve enough to allow you to visit us on the feast of St.
Aloysius and that of St. John the Baptist, your room and place at table are
ready.

A}llittle rest will do you much good since the weather is pleasantly mild. Our
whole household is at your service. But our first concern is always for your
health, and I really don’t know how you are feeling.

I honestly wish to spend some time with you and talk about our work in
Rome and San Benigno and about our missionaries. But this demands good
health of both you and the countess. All the Salesians are offering their
prayers for your health, and we are fully confident that they will be listened to.

The news from our missionaries has not been good, especially concerning
Bishop Cagliero. While journeying from Patagonia to Chile, he fell from his
horse and lay half-dead in the wilderness of the Cordilleras. Now he is safe
and sound after a month of living amid dangers, and, with all the others, has
arrived at the town of Concepcién, where they have begun to labor for the
conversion of the savages.

In their letters our missionaries very often state that they always commend
themselves to your kindly prayers. For their part they assure me that never a
day goes by that they fail to recommend you and the countess to the prayers of
the savages, especially those who have been given your names at their
baptism.

God bless you both! May the Blessed Virgin guide you through all perils
until you reach heaven.

Father Rua and all the Salesians send their fond regards. I myself shall be
for all my days as a loving son.

Yours affectionately
Fr. John Bosco

The count probably asked Don Bosco to have novenas offered for
him, as we gather from his reply. He again omitted the salutation. The
countess was not well either.
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[No date]

We shall offer a novena of prayers to the Blessed Virgin as you request—
not once but many times until God will grant our request, as your parish priest
at St. Aloysius keeps telling us. God grant it! The whole house is praying for
you.

Count Flayose de Villeneuve and his daughter, Ann Marie, are with us to
offer their thanks to the Blessed Virgin. We spoke a good deal about you, and
he has promised to pray with us for your complete recovery.

Dear St. John the Baptist, let it not be that we shall celebrate your feast day
without having obtained from God the count’s complete recovery or at least a
considerable improvement of his health. Amen.

When you will kindly answer my letters, please do me the favor of writing
only these simple words: “I feel better’” or ““I do not feel better.” I do not want
you to tax yourself with much writing.

We are also praying for Countess Colle and are fully confident that her
recovery will be complete.

O Mary, compassionate and loving Mother, pray for us and protect us.
Amen!

Humbly and gratefully as a son,
Fr. John Bosco

Learning from Father [Peter] Perrot that the count’s condition was
not improving, Don Bosco felt that he should send Father Rua to pay
him a visit, particularly since there were also matters he had to look
into at Marseille. “‘Father Rua,” Don Bosco wrote,* ‘‘knows your
intentions, your wife’s and my own.” On Father Rua’s return, Don
Bosco wrote to the countess.

Turin, July 26, 1887
My dear Countess Colle:

Father Rua has told me of a slight improvement in the count’s health.
Praised be God! We still keep praying. Let us hope the improvement con-
tinues, though even at a slow pace. My condition is just about the same. I'm
somewhat better but cannot walk unless supported by two people.

But you, my dear countess, are neglecting yourself. Look after our beloved
patient, but do not forget your own health.

My prayers every morning at Holy Mass will be for the count and for your

L etter from Turin, July 7, 1887. [Author]
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sister. Every day our orphans offer special Communions for your intentions at
the altar of Mary, Help of Christians.

O glorious St. Ann, obtain health, holiness and perseverance for all of us
until we reach paradise, paradise, paradise!

As a loving son,
Fr. John Bosco

A sudden remarkable improvement rebuilt their hopes. Don Bosco
quickly expressed his joy to the countess.

Lanzo, August 14, 1887
My dear Countess Colle:

Praised be God and thanks ever to the Blessed Virgin! This grace of Count
Colle’s recovery is truly a marvel! Many times I said or wrote, ‘‘Please, God,
summon me to eternity, if this is according to Your will, but give Your son
Count Colle more time to continue helping our missionaries and our fledgling
Congregation.”” God has chosen to send me such happy news [as a prelude] to
my birthday!*® May the Blessed Virgin be always and ever thanked. This is the
most welcome news! Father Rua is also writing to you. Please be patient with
my awful scrawl!

May Mary protect us forever! Please continue praying for this poor priest,
who loves you as a son.

Fr. John Bosco

Later Father Rua’s oral messages of the count’s improvement were
corroborated by a letter from the director of La Navarre, and Don
Bosco hastened to congratulate his friend.

Turin, September 6, 1887
My excellent and dear friend:

God knows I hope that your condition will continue steadily to improve and
that both you and the countess will enjoy normal good health. We have always
prayed for this grace and shall particularly do so on the feast of Our Blessed
Lady’s Nativity.

I am still at Valsalice. Father Rua is at our school in Este, directing the
spiritual retreat for the Salesians of Lombardy. He will join me on Saturday.

“Don Bosco’s birthday occurred on August 16. [Editor]
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Father Perrot spent a few days here with us, and we spoke about your
recovery and the health of the countess and her sister.

God bless us and may the Holy Virgin guide us through all perils until we
reach paradise. My respects to all of you.

Humbly and lovingly as a son,
Fr. John Bosco

On October 20, Don Bosco conducted the clothing day ceremony for
ninety-four novices at Foglizzo. Count Colle paid for the cassocks.
This thank-you letter was the last Don Bosco wrote to the count and
indeed one of the very last he was ever to write.

Turin, October 17, 1887
My dear Count Colle:

Father Perrot has sent us your generous gift of five thousand francs to enable
our young clerics to don the clerical habit. The money went immediately for
this purpose, and their clothing day has been set for next Thursday. On that
day they will pray and offer their Holy Communions for you and the countess
for the continued improvement of your health. We shall also recite special
prayers for the other members of your family, living and dead.

Take heart! We shall continue praying for you! My health is improving.
Praised be God, and may the Blessed Virgin protect us!

I am only too happy to pray for you and your wife, and am always your
grateful, humble servant.

Fr. John Bosco

This distinguished friend and benefactor of Don Bosco preceded his
passing into eternity by only one month. A heart attack took him
almost suddenly on January 1, 1888. He had received Holy Viaticum
twice before during his precarious illness. Father Rua prepared Don
Bosco, who was also very ill, for this bad news. As he did for his other
distinguished benefactors, Don Bosco had already prepared a letter
scrawled in a trembling hand for both the count and the countess, so
that it might be rewritten and mailed to them after his own death. He
had signed himself ‘‘as lovingly as a son’’ and had added: ““I will await
you where the Lord has prepared our great reward—everlasting hap-
piness in the company of our beloved Louis. God in His divine mercy
will grant us this favor. Please remain always the mainstay of our
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Salesian Congregation and the help of our missions. May God bless
you!”

The deceased count’s charity did not die with his last breath, for his
will left to Don Bosco or, in his lieu, Father Rua a legacy of four
hundred thousand francs. However, the devil put a finger in the pie.
The holographic will, entrusted to the notary Marquand of Toulon, was
dated July 2, 1884 but the watermark of the legal paper on which it was
written bore the date 1886. A distant relative, estranged from the count
and barred from his home, seized this detail to contest the will. The
count, it is true, had kept a copy of the will. He had written it on
ordinary paper, but it was identical to the legal one in contents and
date. Unfortunately in his own hand he had written upon it: ““This is an
exact copy of the will I entrusted to Monsieur Marquand. It becomes
effective if anything should happen to the holographic will I have given
to the notary.”

Now in all reality the will written on plain paper was an original,
whereas the one on legal paper was a later copy. However, according to
law, this copy was to be considered as an holographic will. The con-
testor, instead, believing that either way the case was in his favor, gave
the following reasons to prove the invalidity of the will found in the
count’s home: (1) A copy was no better than an original; since the
original was invalid, so was the copy. (2) According to the testator’s
intention, the will in the count’s home was to become effective if the
one deposited with the notary should disappear. But this was not the
case, and so also the copy kept by the count had no value whatsoever.

Fortunately, the civil court rejected the request to declare the will
null and void by basing its judgment on the fact that the copy of the will
which the count had in his keeping at home had incontestably been
written, dated and signed by the testator and contained the three essen-
tial requisites for the validity of a holographic will. It was therefore to
be carried out. This judgment was upheld in the court of appeals.

The widowed countess, worthy heiress of her husband, decided to
disburse immediately the sum left to Don Bosco, although a clause in
the will stated that all cash legacies were to be paid two years after her
own death. She was very glad when all the legal formalities were
completed. However, when everything was settled, the total legacy
amounted to only eighty thousand francs.

Count Colle’s tomb bears an inscription from the psalms, an excep-
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tional testimonial of Don Bosco’s loving gratitude to his beloved and
blessed memory.

Three days before following the count to heaven, the evening of
January 18, 1888, when Don Bosco already found it extremely difficult
to express himself or to show that he understood others, a hushed
discussion was going on at his bedside concerning an epitaph for the
tombstone of the deceased count. Father Rua was suggesting: Orphano
tu eris adiutor (You will be a helper to the orphan), while Bishop
Cagliero proposed: Beatus qui intelligit super egenum et pauperem
[Blessed is he who is concerned for the needy and the poor]. Just then,
Don Bosco, who the bystanders thought was unaware of what was
going on, suddenly opened his eyes and forced himself to say: Pater
meus et mater mea dereliquerunt me, Dominus autem assumpsit me
[Though my father and mother forsake me, yet will the Lord receive
me—Ps. 27, 10, The New American Bible].

Divine Providence had entrusted to Don Bosco great charitable un-
dertakings, particularly on behalf of poor and abandoned youth. The
same Lord led Don Bosco to meet the man who, in times of extreme
need for the consolidation of his works, became his treasurer and the
minister of Divine Providence.



CHAPTER 4

From France to Rome
and from Rome to Turin

EVERAL matters, some serious and ticklish, imperatively
required Don Bosco’s presence in Rome, and so, on leaving France, he
bypassed Turin and continued on toward Rome. However, Easter was
approaching, when little or nothing could be accomplished there, and
so he spent two weeks visiting our houses in Liguria, taking advantage
of the good weather to go in search of funds.

On leaving Nice on March 27 [1881] along with Father [Celestine]
Durando and the cleric [Julius] Reimbeau, he first went to Vallecrosia
to visit a community of two priests, a cleric and two lay Salesians who
were then living in tight makeshift quarters while their residence was
being readied for them. Don Bosco and his companions were very
grateful to Chevalier [Joseph] Moreno who generously offered them
hospitality. Reimbeau gives his impression of the confreres’ living
conditions as follows:! “Theirs is a truly edifying life. Their poverty is
such as to excite pity. As a member of the Society of St. Vincent de
Paul, I have often seen destitute families, but rarely any poorer than
they. It is hard to believe, but quite often for weeks at a time they live
solely on boiled vegetables seasoned only with salt, Still, they endure
their hardship with astonishing cheerfulness and never have I seen
jollier people. Their residence is no better than the huts in Patagonia;
their chapel and school are in an abandoned oil warehouse. The chapel
is so small that I could hardly breathe and felt as if I were choking.
Soon, however, they will be moving into some spacious quarters which
will make up for all their present discomfort.”

At Torrione it seems that the Lord wanted to reward our generous

ILetter to Father Barberis, San Remo, April 3, 1881. [Author]

103



104 THE BIOGRAPHICAL MEMOIRS OF SAINT JOHN BOSCO

cooperator’s kindliness and glorify Don Bosco’s holiness through
amazing healings. A relative of the chevalier, Mrs. Moreno, had been
bedridden for years; then, on the moming of March 31, a son of hers
suddenly fell into a coma. Medical intervention was ineffective and his
condition was judged critical. The news so deeply affected the mother
that she, too, rapidly began to worsen and was soon on the verge of the
grave. Without delay our confrere Father [Louis] Pesce administered
the last rites to her. Don Bosco, on hearing this, felt very sorry for his
good friend Chevalier Moreno and hastened to call on the family to
comfort them and their two patients.

The young man gave no sign of life, the mother was in her death
throes, and the doctor entertained no hope for them. Don Bosco visited
them both, praying a moment for each and giving each his blessing.
Wonderful to behold, the young man immediately stretched his limbs
and then peacefully fell into a tranquil sleep. By evening he felt so well
that he wanted to get up, saying he was very hungry. The mother, too,
immediately improved so much that before nightfall she was fully
recovered; in turn, her husband also sprang up from what was prac-
tically death to life. He was already a good Salesian cooperator, but
from that day on he became deeply grateful to Don Bosco and showed
it with generous donations. He had been blessed by God with a rich
estate.

While at Vallecrosia, Don Bosco wrote two letters—at least, that is
all we have. The first was addressed to the director of the Salesian
house in Nice.

Torrione, March 29, 1881
My dear Father Ronchail:

Please send Father Confortéla’s? letter to me at Alassio, as well as a letter
which I began and never managed to finish.

Either I or someone else left my cassock in the carriage which took us to the
station. Look for it, pack it, and send it as soon as you can to me in Tarin. We
forgot Mrs. D’Aprotis’ “Bellet.”

Let me sum up the whole situation like this:

1. Your heaviest debts have been paid, but take note of the names of the
people I pointed out to you and keep in touch with them because they seem
disposed to help you.

2Faustinus Confortéla, the future director of the Salesian house in Florence. [Editor]
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2. When you can, drop in for a visit to Mrs. Daprotis, Mrs. Meda and Miss
Guigon.

3. If you feel a letter from me would help, let me know, and I shall send it.

4. Endeavor to summon your house chapter often, and insist that no one is
to strike the boys and that each one is to read the rules which apply to him. We
have much work to do, but we are short of personnel. Let us pray.

God bless you, my ever beloved Father Ronchail! May He grant you good
health and may He bless all our boys and confreres. Best wishes to our friends
and benefactors.

In Jesus Christ,

Yours most affectionately,
Fr. John Bosco

P.S. I hope to see Father Cerruti® tomorrow evening to discuss our problems
with him.

The “Bellet”” of Mrs. D’ Aprotis was a case of wine named after the
vineyards producing it, which she had given to Don Bosco. It was
ninety years old. Don Bosco wanted to bring it to Rome and present it
to the Holy Father. The second letter was addressed to Father Barberis.

Ventimiglia, March 29, 1881
My dear Father Barberis:

L. I received the news about you and our dear boys. Let us bless the Lord in
all things. Every day I bless our dear Father Buffa and pray that God in His
mercy will spare him to me for years to come.

2. Tell the cleric Lucca that I was very pleased with his letters, that he
should go on, that I must have a little talk with him before presenting him for
orders, and that meanwhile he should be reassured of my benevolence and
fatherly love.

3. As for the work on hand, I have given Father Rua* all authority; come to
an understanding with him.

4. All goes well with us, but we are overloaded with work. Keep praying for
us.

5. I am very glad that the spiritual retreat went off well. In this regard,
please tell our dear clerics and priests—Father Piscetta and Father Merigi

3See Appendix 1. [Editor]
4See Appendix 1. [Editor]
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individually—that I am looking for giants of virtue and that at least the two of
them should manage to work miracles. Without that I can’t make progress.

God bless us all and keep us in His holy grace. Pray for me, always in the
Lord,

Yours affectionately,
Fr. John Bosco

Father Buffa died the following April 7 at San Benigno. Forced to
interrupt his studies in his second year of junior college, afflicted by
various illnesses and a period of troublesome life, he finally found
peace with Don Bosco who invited him to spend a few months at
Varazze and at Alassio, and finally admitted him to the novitiate.
Aware that the young man’s days were numbered, Don Bosco speeded
up his admission to sacred orders for the priesthood without much
difficulty, thanks to the benevolence of Bishop David Riccardi, the new
ordinary of the diocese of Ivrea. The chronicle of the house at San
Benigno states: ‘““The memory of Father Buffa shall never fade away
from those who were privileged to know him and marveled at his
outstanding virtues.”

On the evening of April 1, Don Bosco and his two companions
proceeded to San Remo, where they were met by the director of Al-
assio, Father Cerruti, who, after welcoming them, returned to his
school. They were guests of the Visitation Nuns, among whom was a
niece of Father Julius Barberis.’ There Don Bosco had occasion to
meet a very wealthy English lady who had recently been converted to
the Catholic faith. In response to his request, she said she was willing
to help our work at Vallecrosia, though she admitted it would truly
please her if a Salesian house would be founded in her native England.

Don Bosco stayed at San Remo about four days, hosted far beyond
his expectations by the sisters. Rest and fresh air worked wonders for
his precarious health. ““I am thrilled,”” wrote the cleric Reimbeau, ‘“‘to
see how salutary was his brief stay at San Remo. He received just a few
visitors, worked undisturbed in his room, talked with no one and just
rested. Today he feels really great. The Visitation Nuns truly treat him
as he deserves.”

On April 4, the day he left San Remo for Alassio, he sent this memo
to Father Rua: “Do you think you might possibly act as my guardian

3See Vol. XII, p. 352. [Editor}]
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angel when I go from Sampierdarena to Rome? Our stopovers would
be shorter, and I would feel very relieved, while at the same time you
could see things first-hand. Let me know.”” What other answer could
Father Rua have given but, ‘“Whatever pleases you pleases me!”’ Every
wish of Don Bosco was an unquestioned command for Father Rua.

Before leaving for Rome, Don Bosco felt that he had to see the main
superiors, among them Father Cagliero, who was continuing his
priestly apostolate in Utrera, Spain.® He therefore wrote to him from
Alassio:

Alassio, April 6, 1881
My dear Father Cagliero:

I do not know if this letter of mine will ever get to you. In any event, if you
can come to Sampierdarena on Wednesday of Holy Week, Father Rua will
also be there and we can have a little meeting. He will accompany me on my
visit to our houses at La Spezia, Florence and Rome, and probably, on our
way back, at Lucca, Este, Venice, and so on. I plan to be in Turin on May 6 to
celebrate the feast of St. John at the Latin Gate.’

My head is spinning around, yet I must keep moving. I am hoping Father
Rua will bring me relief. Remember me to Father Branda, Father Pane, Father
Oberti,® the music teacher, and the chef, Goitre.®

Our house in Florence was inaugurated on March 4, and Father Confort6la
is doing wonders.

We did very well in France, also for the Sacred Heart Church and Hospice.
Have you and Father Branda managed to get things moving?

Offer my respects to Marquis [Diego] Ulloa and his family and to the
archbishop, whom we await in Turin.

God bless you ail. Pray for me.

Yours affectionately,
Fr. John Bosco

6See Vol. XIV, p. 315. [Editor]

7According to legend, this church was built on the spot where the apostle was dipped into
boiling oil. It was constructed by Pope Gelasius (7496). A recent examination of the edifice
confirms that this might have been so. The first mention of St. John ante portam Latinam goes
back to the end of the eighth century when Adrian I (1795), the Pope who reconstructed nearly all
the churches of Rome existing at that time, restored it completely. [Source: Guide to Catholic
Italy, p. 571, edited by Msgr. Pietro Barberi and Rev. Ulisse Pucci, Holy Year 1950 Publishing
Co., Rome, Italy—Editor.]

8See Appendix 1. [Editor]

9Michael Goitre, a lay Salesian. [Editor]
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He also sent Father Dalmazzo a list of instructions. The third one we
shall have to discuss later on.

Alassio, April 6, 1881
My dear Father Dalmazzo:

Father Rua will meet me here on Holy Wednesday and then will accompany
me to Rome. We shall stop briefly in Florence, from where I shall write to let
you know the date and time of our arrival [in Rome]. In the meantime:

1. In the event we cannot go directly to our new residence,'® please see to it
that we have decent lodgings, even if we have to incur some expense.

2. Make some contacts which possibly will get us some financial help for
the Sacred Heart Church and Hospice. Get in touch with Rome’s municipal
authorities, the Minister of Finance, who is a parishioner of ours,!! the Minis-
ter of the Interior, the Minister of Grace and Justice and the Treasurer’s Office.

3. Canon Colomiatti, the fiscal attorney, insists that we settle Father Bonetti’s
case. I told him that he alone can do it:

(a) by revoking Father Bonetti’s suspension;

(b) by dismissing the charges brought to Rome against him.

Let’s wait and see. We shall discuss this in Rome.

4. At your convenience, call on Mr. Alexander Sigismondi and tell him that
I could not celebrate the feast of St. Matilda'? on the day itself this year, but
that important celebrations can be postponed. I wish that this occasion be
graced with at least a bottle of choice Cyprus wine or some other select wine.

5. Did you receive the twenty thousand francs I sent you from Toulon for
the Sacred Heart Church? I trust that more is on the way. )

6. Heartiest regards to the Oblate Sisters and their mother superior; also to
the Vitelleschi family, to Commendatore Morello, Chevalier Vignolo, and the
others. Mr. Moreno can advise you and show you how to apply for funds to the
above-mentioned cabinet ministers.

Pray for me often, my dear Father Dalmazzo. God bless you. Always in
Jesus Christ.

Yours affectionately,
Fr. John Bosco

10The new treasury building was only a short distance away from the Sacred Heart Church.
[Editor]

1A Vatican expediter who always hosted Don Bosco during his visits to Rome until Father
Dalmazzo, upon being appointed procurator general of the Salesian Congregation with the Holy
See, set up his residence in an apartment which the Oblates of St. Frances of Rome had reserved
for Don Bosco’s use at Tor de’ Specchi. See Vol. XIV, p. 299. [Editor]

2Mr. Sigismondi’s wife. Formerly the feast was observed on March 14. [Editor]
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P.S. Next Sunday I give a fund-raising sermon at San Remo and then leave
for Varazze and Sampierdarena.

Don Bosco’s last thought was for Father Berto, to whom he sent a
list of some ten errands to do, interspersed with a humorous quip or
two to perk up his usually cheerless spirit.

Alassio, April 8, 1881
My dear Father Berto:

I need Father Rua’s company on my visit to several of our houses to support
me in a few thorny issues. However, there are several things I need you to do.

1. Update Father Rua on the outstanding legal problems we have pending in
Rome by providing the documents pertaining to the Marseille novitiate, to the
three requests which were turned down, and to the Sacred Heart Church.

2. Please get me a pair of shoes which won’t squeak, my summer cloak, a
few handkerchiefs, my spring breviary, a few French circulars and an ade-
quate number of Italian ones on the Sacred Heart Church.

3. Pack all these things and whatever else you feel I’ll need into your
suitcase and go to Sampierdarena next Wednesday with Father Rua.®® There
we shall discuss several things it’s best not to put on paper, and then I shall
give you instructions for your guidance during Father Rua’s absence and mine.
After that you can return to Turin with Reimbeau and supervise the sowing of
the beans.”

4. Confidentially, we have some very serious business on hand and there-
fore urgently need many fervent prayers and Communions.

5. If the printing of our privileges is finished, ask Father Rua to bring some
copies with him, for my own use and that of the houses we visit.

6. God bless you, my ever dear Father Berto! God keep you steadfast in His
holy grace! Pray often for me. Always in Jesus Christ.

Your friend,
Fr. John Bosco

P.S. Remember me to our friends.”

Two items merit further attention: the Sacred Heart circulars and the
booklet of privileges; we shall speak of them in Chapters 13 and 14.
Don Bosco left for Alassio toward evening and arrived at dusk. Both

B3Holy Wednesday, April 13, 1881. {Author]
“The young Salesian postulants. See Vol. XIII, p. 678. [Author]
I5The boys who prayed for him and the successful outcome of his business. [Author]
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superiors and boys went in small groups to meet him. To the first group
he said in jest: ‘““You have come to meet Don Bosco with clubs and
lanterns.”’ Father Peter Giordano writes: ‘““Whenever he came to Al-
assio, he was always given a joyous rather than a triumphant welcome,
especially by the boys and Salesians.”” Later he adds, ‘“Don Bosco’s
passing through Alassio was always a treat for us Salesians and boys, a
joyous treat!”” Hard pressed by the grave need of funds for the Sacred
Heart Church, he made an appeal in the parish church, after which
Father Cerruti and the parish priest Father [Francis] Della Valle took up
a collection. Father Giordano has passed on to us an important recol-
lection of his. While speaking of Pius IX, Don Bosco claimed that the
Pontiff, during his last illness, had sent him word to come and pay him
a visit and lamented his lack of response, but as we stated in Volume
XIII,' the Vatican doors were strongly barred to Don Bosco. He men-
tioned this to several Salesians who were having coffee with him in the
dining room, among them Father Giordano, who believes he remem-
bers Don Bosco’s precious words. According to him, Don Bosco said:
“What grieves me most is that I came to know that the Pope, not seeing
me, said to one of his attendants, ‘When Don Bosco needed me, he
was quick to come over, and I welcomed him as a father greets his
beloved son. Now that the Pope needs him, he makes himself
scarce!” ”” As he said this, his eyes welled up with tears, and he said
nothing more."

Upon arriving at Alassio From San Remo, Don Bosco found the
school’s direction very disturbed by a recent event. From the school
year 1878-79 on, Salesian Father Matthew Torazza used to go from
Alassio every day with another teacher to the municipal school of
Laigueglia [Savona]; they would have dinner there and return home in
the evening. Because of that teacher a terrible uproar broke out in

6pages 367f. [Editor]

17 etters of Father Giordano, Alassio, November 30 and December 9, 1932. That year, 1932,
in a special issue of their official bulletin commemorating the seventy-fifth year of their founda-
tion, the Conceptionists published an article by Father Spreafico, a Barnabite, and historian of his
congregation. He claimed that Don Bosco chose to butt into the Conceptionists’ affairs in order to
change their rules and for that reason Pius IX refused to grant him other audiences. What we
published in Volumes XII and XIII®® shows that Pius IX himself had instructed Don Bosco to
undertake the reform of that congregation. As for the other allegation, Father Giordano’s testi-
mony substantiates what was said elsewhere! about the obstacles blocking his approach to the
Pope. [Author]

18See the Index of these two volumes under “‘Conceptionists.” [Editor]

See Vol. XIII, pp. 104, 233f, 367f, 381f, 673f. [Editor]
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Laigueglia at the beginning of April. The anticlerical newspaper, I/
Secolo of Milan, lost no time in publishing a telegram from Alassio,
alleging that a Salesian priest belonging to the community which
staffed the Salesian boarding school in Alassio had sexually abused
boys at the municipal school of Laigueglia, where he was teaching.
The telegram was followed by another which confirmed it and aggra-
vated matters by insinuating that Don Bosco had gone to Alassio to
hush up the whole affair lest the indignant parents withdraw their sons
from the boarding school. After an investigation, L’ Osservatore Cat-
tolico of Milan® rebutted the charges that had been inspired by malig-
nant rumors circulating in that part of Liguria, which even attacked
Don Bosco personally. Father Cerruti sent a telegram to the slander
sheet, stating that the Salesian boarding school of Alassio had nothing
to do with the immoral goings on at Laigueglia, that the accused
teacher was not a Salesian, and that it was not true that parents were
withdrawing their children. As demanded by law, the anticlerical paper
was forced to publish the telegram, and from then on it never again
ventured to bring up this touchy topic.

To divert Father Cerruti from the hurt of these events, Don Bosco
took him along to Porto Maurizio, where he hoped to raise consider-
able funds. There they were hosted by Canon Fabre, a friend of Don
Bosco, and spent two nights at his home. Accompanied by the well-
known lawyer Ferraris, Don Bosco went knocking from door to door,
but with little success. Still, calmly and smilingly, he jested about the
lean funds he received and even about the rebuffs he met with.

This unshakable cheerfulness of his, which never forsook him, he
also demonstrated once while having dinner with his host. On the last
day of his visit, two young nieces of the canon joined them at table, and
one of them, somewhat of a flirt, did not object when a young man
sitting beside her made remarks which, though not suggestive, were at
least unbecoming. To forestall further embarrassment, Don Bosco re-
marked in a friendly way that he remembered a sonnet he had memo-
rized in his youth which punned on the words ‘‘donna” and ‘‘danno,”
woman and woe. He recited the first quatrain very slowly. The young
lady, hurt to the quick, wildly snapped, ‘‘How dare you, a guest in our
house, poke fun at us?”’ Ignoring her rude interruption, Don Bosco

20Number 88, Saturday-Sunday issue, April 16-17, 1881. [Author] -
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kept up his slow, deliberate recitation, while the young lady smoldered
but dared not add anything to her insolent outburst. Nor did the young
man dare continue to dally with her. As we shall see later, this incident
too had a happy ending.

Leaving Father Cerruti at the canon’s home that evening, Don Bosco
again set out in search of funds with Mr. Ferraris. A certain Mary
Acquarona lived in Porto Maurizio. A bedridden spinster who had been
afflicted for well over ten years by an incurable spinal affliction, she
was well known in the city. At first she had intended to send Don Bosco
her contribution, but, on second thought, decided to ask him to drop in
for a visit and give her his blessing. Don Bosco obliged and received a
very warm welcome. Her sister and brother-in-law, an attorney named
Ascheri, happened to be with her as Don Bosco came in and briefly
told him of her affliction and of her doctor’s diagnosis. Exhorting her
to put her trust in Our Lady, Don Bosco blessed her and asked her to
say certain prayers after he left. He then went into another room and
lingered a while conversing with two lawyers. As he was about to
leave, the sick woman, fully dressed, walked into the room and told
them she was free of all pain. Her brother-in-law called it a miracle,
and all felt deeply moved. Then the woman, who had not stood on her
legs over those many years, escorted Don Bosco to the door, telling
him that she would say good-bye later at the railroad station, though
Don Bosco asked her to not go out and cause a sensation. He then
returned to Father Fabre’s home and, very much as a father would talk
to his son, he very simply told Father Cerruti this incident, adding, *I
am not happy about her intention to see me off at the station! It will
create such a stir! Patience! God’s will be done!”” Then, with a gen-
tleness that moved the priest to tears, he continued: “‘Yet I rejoice, my
dear Father Cerruti, that in your overwhelming grief you have been
given such comfort. When you sing St. Joseph’s hymn and come to the
words, miscens gaudia fletibus [blending joys and sorrows], say it
wholeheartedly, for that’s the way life is!”

The news of the miracle had a profound effect also on the canon’s
niece. Very humbly she called on Don Bosco, knelt before him and
asked his pardon for the unpleasant scene at dinner.

A big surprise awaited Don Bosco at the railway station. The news of
the healing had spread about town like wildfire, and a vast crowd of
people had gathered to see Don Bosco. The lady, who had been driven
there by coach ahead of Don Bosco, was tranquilly pacing up and
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down the station platform, as all eyed her with wonder. Seemingly
unable to credit their own sight, they kept asking her if she were really
Mary Acquarona. “I myself saw her,”” Father Cerruti testified at the
process [of beatification], ‘““and I must admit that I would never have
guessed that she had been ill at all, so healthy did she look!”

The lady was there waiting to thank Don Bosco again. On arriving at
the station, Don Bosco gently remonstrated with her for not having
listened to him and pleaded with her to return home. Apologizing, she
handed him a sealed envelope containing one thousand lire. Don Bosco
then withdrew into the station’s waiting room, but the crowd followed
him.

As the train rumbled into the station, Mr. Ascheri loudly called upon
Don Bosco to impart his blessing on everyone present. They all knelt.
Don Bosco obliged and then boarded the train with Father Cerruti for
his return trip to San Remo. Their curiosity aroused, the passengers
had managed to learn during their brief halt in the station the reason for
the unusual crowd, and as soon as the train started off again, every-
body was talking about it, venturing various opinions. A young man
seated in Don Bosco’s compartment exclaimed, “I have no faith either
in miracles or in God.”

“But you would believe in facts verified by witnesses,” Don Bosco
retorted. “To do otherwise would be unreasonable.” He then began to
recount in detail how that woman had been healed instantly by no more
than a blessing. The young man listened attentively, and then Don
Bosco asked him how he could explain the fact without recourse to a
supernatural intervention. After slipping in a few stringent arguments
for God’s existence, he continued: “Well, then, isn’t there a being
superior to us?”

“Obviously one has to admit that,” the young man answered.

“And what follows then?”

“I’d rather not think about it.”

“Why not?”

“Because . . . I have no wish to change my way of life. I say that
very honestly. But who are you?”

“There is no need for you to know,” Don Bosco replied, for no one
knew him there. The train was just pulling into San Remo and he got
off.

He was returning to San Remo for a meeting he had announced five
days before in a circular addressed to the “well deserving citizens” of
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the town. Funds for the Salesian work in neighboring Vallecrosia had
run out. Now, organizing a drive, he formed a committee of thirty-six
men and women of San Remo who volunteered to solicit donations
from their charitable friends. They also spoke highly of him to draw
people to his conference, and their praise was very effective. The
Protestants had spread religious indifferentism far and wide over this
entire beach and health resort, and yet people not only jammed into St.
Sirus’ Church, but filled the entire square facing it, all anxious to hear
Don Bosco. Father James Margotti,?! a native of San Remo who knew
the town well, declared that just being able to draw such a crowd from
a population so indifferent to anything religious was in itself one of
Don Bosco’s greatest miracles.

At the end of his talk, Don Bosco announced that he would person-
ally come around for the collection, adding, ‘‘You may think it strange
to see a priest go begging through the congregation, plate in hand, but
when I look at the crucifix and think of all Jesus did for our salvation, 1
gladly do it for His sake.”” The collection amounted to eight hundred
lire. At the beatification process Father Cerruti recalled how touched he
had been by the sight of Don Bosco, tired, worn out, and haggard
when he returned to the sacristy. Still, he sat there and welcomed a
large number of people who wanted to talk to him or personally put
their offerings into his hands.

The same day he returned to Alassio. While there, he drew up a
document showing his watchful concern to strengthen and preserve the
bonds of unity in his Congregation. As we have already said,? Father
Cerruti had been appointed provincial of the houses in Liguria and
France. Both to ease his work and safeguard his feeble health, Don
Bosco had chosen Father Louis Rocca to be his vicar or vice-director.
This office, also found necessary in the San Carlos boarding school at
Almagro [Buenos Aires], was something new, never mentioned in the
rules. To make it a normal and uniform directive, Don Bosco drew up
the following articles:

Office of the Vice-Director
1. The vice-director shares with the director all matters concerning the

running of the house and takes his place during his absence.

2Founder, editor and publisher of the Catholic weekly Unitd Cattolica. [Editor]
2See Vol. X1V, pp. 25f. [Editor]
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2. He is entrusted with the religious, moral and disciplinary care of both
boarders and day students and is particularly responsible for their conduct. He
shall therefore give watchful attention to this duty and keep in touch with the
prefect, the catechist, the prefect of studies, the teachers and assistants, so as
to keep informed of the exact situation of the house and prevent or remedy
disorders, while strongly fostering piety, morality and discipline.

3. With the prefect of the house he shall every Sunday look over the weekly
scholastic grades given to him by the prefect of studies and the grades given of
conduct in the dormitories given to him by the catechist.

4. He shall also inquire into any discipline problem occurring during the
week in church, on the weekly promenade, in the dining room and in the
playground.

5. He may register pupils and hire domestic help, following established
policies and particularly inquiring into their religious and moral background.
He shall then pass this information on to the prefect, who will note it in the
postulant’s ledger.

6. Every month he and the director shall fill out the appropriate report of the
house’s status.

7. He shall also be responsible to enforce Articles 8 and 10 of the Regula-
tions for the Director as in the Acts of the General Chapter, namely:

Article 8: Every day the director shall diligently go through the house to
monitor its operation; he shall check out the dormitories, kitchen, dining room
and wine cellar. This is the way to forestall disorders.

Article 10: He shall keep a list of all friends and benefactors of the house in
order to invite them to religious celebrations, school assemblies, award cere-
monies, and such events.

8. Save for urgent and exceptional cases, he may not expel pupils or
employees or change the duties of teachers and assistants without the consent
of the director, who is in a special way responsible for the overall running of
the house, the religious and moral care of the confreres and all relations with
the students’ parents and church, civil and school authorities.

9. All confreres and pupils are always free to appeal to the director for any
reason whatever.

From Alassio he went on to Sampierdarena, where he met with
Father Rua and other members of the superior chapter for a couple of
days of meetings. We have only one incident to narrate of this visit as
related by Father [Joachim] Berto, who testified to it at the process of
beatification. A Genoese lady, whose name he withheld, was living in
complete discord with her husband, who for the past twelve years had
never addressed a kind word to her but turned to his daughter for
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whatever he needed. At meals he never spoke to his wife, nor did he
ever show the slightest concern for her. In his chronic surliness he also
gave up Mass and prayers. Family life became unbearable.

Embittered and hopeless, the woman went to Sampierdarena to beg
Don Bosco for his prayers and comforting words. But on her arrival,
he was indeed so busy that he told her immediately, “‘I really cannot
give you much time.”” Hardly had the woman begun her tale of woe
when Don Bosco interrupted her with the words: ““Give your husband
this medal,” and then graciously ended the interview.

This hasty, though kind, dismissal was due to reasons we can easily
surmise. But who could fathom the woman’s anguish at finding herself
deprived of this longed-for help? Meeting Father Albera, the director,
she held out the medal to him, saying: ‘“How can I give this to my
husband? He no longer prays. He will only throw it heaven knows
where.”” The director exhorted her to follow Don Bosco’s advice liter-
ally, but she pleaded lack of courage. Father Albera did not relent.
“Very well,” she replied. “I’ll do it, come what may.”

One Saturday evening after supper at their summer cottage, the lady
worked up courage and told her husband that she had seen Don Bosco,
and that he had promised to pray for her family and had given her a
medal for him. Flustered with rage, the husband cried: “What? A
medal!”” He then stormed out and went to his room, his wife fearfully
following him. Finding himself face to face with her, the husband
suddenly broke down in a flood of tears, sobbing that it was time to end
their quarrel. He hugged her and promised that he would be a new
man. The following day, to everyone’s astonishment, they were seen at
Mass together. Peace had been restored to the family. Father Albera
thus testified from his own experience to the efficacy of Don Bosco’s
advice.

From the correspondence we have cited, it is quite evident that Don
Bosco did have his own good reasons to take Father Rua with him to
Rome, one of the most important being the Sacred Heart Church.
Someone had to look into the contracts signed by the previous admin-
istration with the suppliers of construction materials, keep in touch
with the architect, examine the layout of the hospice and come up with
ways and means of raising funds—a huge amount of work which
Father Rua could do to make it possible for Don Bosco to look after
other business. Among his immediate concerns were the steps he had
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to take to obtain the privileges customarily granted to religious con-
gregations and the weighty problems affecting Father Bonetti and the
girls’ festive oratory at Chieri.?? We regret, however, that what little
information we managed to collect here and there in no way reflects the
broad-ranging activity engaging Don Bosco; in fact we have scarce
knowledge even of matters which did not require a precedent silence.
Father Rua should be the single source we might draw from, but
unfortunately all we have is one letter and three hastily written notes to
Father Lazzero.?* Evidently [as a member of the superior chapter], he
too was taken up with concerns far more important than forwarding
news to the Oratory.

Don Bosco and Father Rua arrived in Florence on the evening of
April 16, the vigil of Easter, and stayed there three days. Father
Faustinus Confort6la had been living in a very shabby small house on
Via Cimabue since March 4,% and had done his best to attract as many
boys as he could to daily catechism classes and to the festive oratory.
The house was so small that there was no room at all for even one
guest, and hence Don Bosco continued to accept the hearty hospitality
offered him by Countess Girolama Uguccioni. On Easter morning,
being himself detained at home by visitors, he asked Father Rua to
celebrate Mass in the little festive oratory chapel, and he went there
himself that afternoon to give Benediction of the Most Blessed Sacra-
ment, assisted by Father Rua and Father Confort6la. Afterward, he
gave the boys a generous amount of candy which a kind-hearted bene-
factress had provided for them.

Of course, he wisely used this occasion to make friends with the
youngsters. That afternoon he called on Archbishop Eugene Cecconi,
who until then had been unable to receive him because of the Easter
services at the cathedral. The remaining two days he spent calling on
benefactors and, as we shall see later, looking after business matters.
On the last day, he declined all invitations so that he might dine with
his Salesians. During his stay in Florence he met a great number of
people and left behind him, as it were, a luminous trail which we are at
a loss to identify as admiration for his charming friendliness or rever-

BSee Vol. X1V, pp. 170-190. [Editor]
2%4See Appendix 1. [Editor]
It is still [1934] to be seen at Via Cimabue, No. 31. [Author]
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ence for the holiness which radiated from his countenance, his speech,
his whole manner.?¢

Our travelers arrived in Rome the night of April 20. Both before and
after their stay in Florence they met many people who either were
Salesian cooperators or asked to be enrolled in their number. This time
Don Bosco no longer resided at Tor de’ Specchi, but found adequate
lodgings in a small house which had been purchased near the Sacred
Heart Church. Father Rua describes the house as follows:?’

Our residence in Rome is as comfortable, pleasing and healthy as can be. It
is probably one of Rome’s most salubrious quarters, free of malaria even in the
summer. However, even here we face difficulties with the Protestants. One
would think that the Lord has picked us to fight heresy with the weapons of
prayer, teaching and love. As you well know, at Bordighera we live quite close
to the Protestants, at La Spezia they are not far from us, and in Florence,
where our little work is destined to grow, the only place we could settle was
where the Protestants are focusing all their forces of propaganda; finally, here
in Rome, the Protestant boarding school is just a block away. Let us then pray
that the Lord will grant us success in the mission He is entrusting to us, by first
sending us help to speed the work on the new building which will cost us no
less than several hundred thousand lire, if not a million or more. Don Bosco is
praying and doing his utmost to make this venture a success, leaving no stone
unturned, but he always reminds us that he needs the support of our boys’
prayers.

He did not have to wait long for an audience with the Holy Father,
and he hastened to write up an account of it for the Salesian cooper-
ators in the May issue of the Bollettino Salesiano.®

It will certainly be a comfort for all of you, my dear cooperators, to learn of
the Holy Father’s outstanding kindness toward you, and it is my pleasure to
tell you about it.

On the evening of April 23, His Holiness Pope Leo XIII generously granted
me a private audience, and I had the opportunity of telling him how zealously

2%See Don Bosco in Florence by Father L. Mori, Firenze, Libreria salesiana editrice, 1930.
The most relevant section of this booklet consists of the testimony of people still living [1934], of
whose reports we shall take due note. [Author]

2 etter to Father Lazzaro, April 22, 1881. [Author]

28The account bears the date of the audience. It was sent to Father Bonetti on April 29 with this
note: “‘I am sending you a letter for the Bollettino. Make whatever corrections are needed.”
[Author]
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our cooperators come to our aid in Italy, France, Spain and [South] America.
With more than usual interest the Holy Father asked detailed questions about
the church and hospice at Vallecrosia near Ventimiglia and at La Spezia and
Florence. These undertakings are of particular concern to the Holy Father, for,
as he says, they directly help the Church in its struggle against error and its
proponents. “Tell these zealous cooperators of yours that I send them my
apostolic benediction,” he said, “that I thank them for their works, and
recommend to them to be steadfast in doing good. Difficulties abound, but
God will not fail to come to our aid. The task entrusted to them is a grave one.
Sheltering poor boys, teaching them, rescuing them from the path that leads to
jail and returning them to society as good Christians and upright citizens—
this is a commitment deserving of approval from people of all classes.”

He asked me about the Sacred Heart Church and Hospice on the Esquiline.
“Is construction making headway? Is the project going forward or is it at a
standstill?”

1 was happy to tell him that construction is moving along briskly, and that
some one hundred and fifty workmen are applying the skills of their trade on a
project he has so cordially blessed. I also told him we were heartened by the
charity of the faithful, but that this huge undertaking was fast depleting our
financial resources.

Moments before my audience someone had brought the Holy Father a gift
of five thousand francs for Peter’s Pence. “Here,” the Pope happily said to
me, “‘this money has just come in time. My right hand accepted it and my left
passes it on to you. Take it and use it for your work on the Esquiline. I trust
that the world will appreciate this effort of the Supreme Pontiff in favor of an
undertaking very dear to him, and I hope that other generous donors will not
fail to contribute to it with the means which God placed at their disposal. I am
very happy to know you have set up a committee of fund collectors. Small
sums pooled together will more easily meet our needs.”

At that point the Holy Father seemed to be deeply moved and exclaimed,
“O Sacred Heart of Jesus, be a fountain of grace and blessing to all the
faithful! Bless those who labor for Your Church all over the world! Shed
abundant blessings on the Salesian cooperators, on those who contribute
funds, and particularly on the fund collectors who lend their services to
enhance Your honor and glory! Yes,” the Holy Father continued, “‘bless them
all, their work, their families, their business interests, and grant them hap-
piness in this world and throughout all eternity.”

I dared not add a word to what the Vicar of Jesus Christ had said other than
to voice my thanks and assure him that the cooperators would continue to
work zealously for God’s glory and that of holy Mother Church.

Since the commitments entrusted to our cooperators’ charity are all directed
to help the most needy in our human family and to strengthen our most holy
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faith, I believe that the donations required for obtaining the jubilee indul-
gence, as determined by our Holy Father from March 19 to November 1 of this
year, can well be used for these works.

Lastly, I assure you, dear cooperators, that all the boys you are helping will
join me in offering prayers each morning and evening for your spiritual and
temporal welfare.

The jubilee mentioned by Don Bosco had been announced by Leo
XIII on February 20, when the college of cardinals gathered to congrat-
ulate him on the third anniversary of his papacy. Replying to their
congratulations and best wishes, the Pope deplored the abuse heaped
upon the Church practically throughout the whole world and the sad
condition to which the Holy See had been reduced, concluding, ‘“‘Con-
vinced that it is principally to heaven that we are to look for that help
without which all effort and strain of ours is of no avail, and mindful
that at every time of storm and stress in its history the Church has
resorted to the prayers and atonements of the faithful, we have decided
to proclaim an extraordinary jubilee this year for the entire Christian
world, so that by an intensity of prayer and good works the Lord may
speedily be moved to clemency and prepare better days for His Church.
Though in one way this jubilee is a sign of the Church’s very grave
situation, it is in another way a reason for hope and comfort because it
generously opens up the precious wealth of the Bride of Jesus Christ
for the benefit of the Catholic world.”

One day, while Don Bosco was waiting for his audience along with
prelates and ladies, there took place one of those delightful incidents
which he could so cleverly create and lead to a happy conclusion.
When a monsignor, unknown to Don Bosco, came into the room, a
gentleman with whom he was conversing told him, “He is Monsignor
Pio Delicati.” {To his surprise] Don Bosco found himself face to face
with the consultor who had given an unfavorable report® about his
booklet St. Peter’s Centenary [which also included the saint’s
biography].

The monsignor did not know Don Bosco either, nor could he have
imagined that Don Bosco would have discovered the name of the
consultor who had been so ruthless in judging his booklet. In fact the
monsignor had seen to it that his name should not appear on the official

2See Vol. VIII, p. 328. See also Vol. V, pp. 385ff. [Editor]
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report. Let me get even with him, Don Bosco said to himself. He
walked up to him and greeted him cautiously. In turn, the monsignor
asked for his name.

“I am just Father John Bosco from Turin.”

“Ah, Father John Bosco!” he exclaimed. “A well-known man and a
gifted writer.”

“A writer perhaps, but far from gifted.”

“You are very modest. Your books do much good.”

“It is certainly not my intent to cause any harm. Still, you may have
heard of the problem I had with a booklet of mine.”

“Which one?”

“On the life of St. Peter.”*

“I am surprised to hear that.”

“And yet it’s true. Some inaccuracies were found and someone even
recommended that the work be put on the Index of Forbidden Books.
This would have been rather funny since I had closely followed Cuc-
cagni’' and Sanctorius,* two famous authors approved by censors of
the Holy Office which was now ready to condemn me. I might add that
this booklet of mine won a letter of commendation from Pius IX.
Fortunately the Holy Father himself intervened and quashed this
controversy.

“Ah, yes, of course. . . . By the way, how many boys do you have
in your schools?”

“A large enough number, Monsignor. So, as I was saying, The Life of
St. Peter . . .”

“Yes, but tell me now, how many schools do you have?”

Seeing that the monsignor was doing his utmost to squirm out of the
embarrassing predicament, Don Bosco talked about his schools. Mon-
signor Delicati did not in the least let it out that he had been Don
Bosco’s censor; in turn, Don Bosco did not pursue the matter, but,
rather, recommended his boys to him, and respectfully took leave of
him.

30See Vol. V, pp. 385ff. [Editor]

31Luigi Cuccagni, Vita di San Pietro, Principe degli Apostoli, taken from the Holy Scriptures
with comments from the Fathers of the Church, Rome, 1777, Venice, 1782. [Author]

2Aemedeus Sanctorius, Acta SS. Petri et Pauli ex Sacris Scripturis collecta, Rome, 1597.
[Author]

3Actually, the full title of the booklet in question was St. Peter’s Centenary along with a Life
of the Same Prince of the Apostles and a Triduum in Preparation of the Feasts of Sts. Peter and
Paul. See Vol. VIII, pp. 327ff, 334ff, 337-342. [Editor]
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Let us now glance at the few letters which Don Bosco wrote from
Rome and have since come into our hands. The contents of one we
know only through the minutes of a meeting of the ladies’ committee of
Marseille. Canon [Clement] Guiol** mentioned it during their meeting
of April 28 [1881], and translated aloud a few of the more interesting
passages, such as these:

I have just come from an audience with the Pope, and I am writing to you
immediately before doing anything else. He spoke at length about Marseille
and listened attentively to what I was telling him about the growing number of
our boys and of priestly vocations. He endorsed and urged the opening of a
novitiate in Marseille. Then he added, “‘I haven’t the time to write myself, but
I ask you in my name to thank both the men’s and the ladies’ committees and
all your helpers. Particular thanks to the members of the Beaujour Society.>> I
bless them, their families, their spiritual and temporal affairs.”

The Pope then went on to speak of the Salesian cooperators and of the
Sacred Heart Church, as you will see in the Bollettino Salesiano.

Father Bologna wrote to me about the great work you and your committee
are doing on behalf of our festive oratory and school.* May God reward all of
you generously.

We have three other letters. The first one was to Marchioness [Mary]
Fassati on the death of Countess [Azelia Charlotte] De Maistre, her
mother. She had constantly helped Don Bosco while she lived and at
her death had left him a legacy of three thousand lire.

Porta San Lorenzo 42, Rome
April 30, 1881
Dear Marchioness:

I was traveling when I was promptly notified of the sad news of our beloved
Countess De Maistre, the generous benefactress of the Salesian Congregation.
I immediately ordered special prayers to be said in all the houses of our
Congregation for her eternal repose, even though I have good reasons to
believe that she has already been received by Our Merciful Lord into the
eternal blessedness of heaven. Still, I shall continue to pray every day for her

34See Index of Volumes XIII and XIV under “Guiol.” [Editor]
335See Vol. XIV, pp. 8, 11, 36, 285f. [Editor]
36See the Index of Volume XIV under Marseille. [Editor]
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and for you especially that God may keep you in good health; we and others
have done this for a long time already.

In my private audience with the Holy Father I had ample occasion to speak
of the De Maistre and Fassati families; in turn, he remembered with much
warmth and by name Counts Francis, Eugene and Charles. He also expressed
his sympathy for the death of their mother, the countess, and assured me that
he would pray for her during Holy Mass.

He then said: “Send my apostolic blessing to all these well-deserving
families [De Maistre, Fassati, Ricci and Montmorency] and ask them to pray
for me.”

I trust that you will continue in good health, and for this I shall make a
special memento every morning during Holy Mass.

God bless you, dear marchioness! May you see the fruits of your charity.
May God grant His favors to Baroness Azelia® and Baron Charles Ricci. I ask
for a remembrance in all your prayers and I am honored to be,

Yours in Jesus Christ,
Fr. John Bosco

P.S. I hope to be in Turin for the novena of Mary, Help of Christians.

The next letter is a reply to Mrs. Mary Acquarona who had informed
him that she had suffered a relapse into her former illness.

Porta San Lorenzo 42, Rome
April 27, 1881
Dear Mrs. Acquarona:

I received your letter which brought me some comfort, but also saddened
me at learning that you have relapsed into your former illness. I really wish, as
I told you, that you should not create a stir, but should only pray and give
thanks to the Lord.%®

Now we must redouble our prayers. God will certainly and definitively
grant our request if it is not contrary to the good of our souls. With this
provision I have asked the Holy Father to grant you a special blessing and he
gladly obliged, assuring me of his prayers for you and your sister Vincenza.

Please offer my humble respects to Father Fabre and Attorney Ascheri and

37She was the daughter of Marchioness Fassati and had married Charles Ricci, son of Baron
Feliciano Ricci des Ferres. Source: Epistolario di S. Giovanni Bosco, Vol. 1V, p. 50, Letter 2180.
[Editor]

3She had been cured by Don Bosco’s blessing. See 112f. [Editor]
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his family when you see them. May God bless you, dear madam, and reward
you for your donation to our church and school in Vallecrosia.
Please pray for me.

Yours in Jesus Christ,
Fr. John Bosco

Without the shadow of a doubt God did answer their prayers *‘defini-
tively.”” In fact some three years later the lady’s brother-in-law, At-
torney Ascheri, chanced upon Father Cerruti on a train without
recognizing him. The lawyer began to talk about Don Bosco and of
what he had personally witnessed at Porto Maurizio and, charming
speaker that he was, entranced his audience into listening to him with
the greatest interest. In addition, six years after the healing, Father
Cerruti again met the lady herself in our school at Alassio, where she
had gone to pay her respects to Don Bosco, to tell him of herself, and
to give him a donation as a Salesian cooperator.

Since, as we have seen in Volume XIV,* the Council of State was
then considering closing the Oratory’s secondary school, Don Bosco
tried to have an audience with the new minister of public education, the
ultra-liberal Guido Baccelli, who on January 2, 1881, had replaced
Francis De Sanctis. His third letter, addressed to Count Tomasi, gives
us an idea of the many offices he must have sat in and waited, but
unfortunately we have no record of them. Doubtless, he must have also
gone through [Vatican] offices in his endeavor to obtain the privileges
[usually granted to religious congregations]. As for other matters we
have but a meager request for a decoration of the Order of St. Maurice
for a Mr. Joseph Repetto of Lavagna Ligure who had personally fi-
nanced a considerable share of the construction of the St. John the
Evangelist Hospice in Turin. Following is Don Bosco’s letter to Count
Tomasi, an employee of the department of public education.

Rome, May 9, 1881
Dear Count Tomasi:

Heartfelt thanks for the two notes you sent me regarding an audience with
Minister Baccelli. I was punctually in his office at the proper time and waited
there from eleven in the morning until a quarter after one in the afternoon.

3Chapter 4. [Editor]
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Then I was told to return the next day at one o’clock. I did. The minister came
and went without my being able to speak with him or even ask for another
appointment.

Nor could I see the secretary general. I shall therefore write to his office,
but that will not allow me to discuss various matters affecting the public
welfare.

Nevertheless I am much obliged to you for your interest toward our poor
boys and pray God to shower His heavenly blessings upon you.

Gratefully yours,
Fr. John Bosco

P.S. I think it best to enclose my appeal and ask you to have it delivered to
one of the top men in the ministry.

During his stay in Rome, Don Bosco asked Father Rua to visit the
Salesians at Magliano Sabino, and it seems that on this trip Father Rua
met the future Cardinal [Peter] La Fontaine, patriarch of Venice, who
was then a young cleric. Thirty-five years later the cardinal wrote: “I
was deeply impressed by his affability, spiritual concentration, and
prudent openness. 4

On the morning of May 10, Don Bosco was present at a touching
ceremony. Several hundred French pilgrims who were in Rome to
acquire the jubilee indulgence were making the prescribed rounds of
the seven major basilicas, asking a different prelate to celebrate Mass
for them at each visit. When they went to the basilica of St. John
Lateran, they asked Don Bosco to say Mass and give a brief homily in
French. He gladly accepted. He praised them for their devotion in
visiting St. John Lateran, Mater et caput omnium ecclesiarum [the
Mother church and head of all the churches], after having paid their
respects to the Vicar of Jesus Christ, Shepherd of all shepherds, and
then congratulated them for having come [to Rome] to strengthen their
faith and loyalty to Peter’s chair and to his successor Leo XIII. His
blessing, which they had received but a few days before, was a pledge
of happier times for them, their families and country, which harbored
so much good in the midst of so much evil, having never belied its
glorious title, Eldest daughter of the Church.

As usual, Don Bosco called a meeting of his Roman cooperators at

40 etter to Father [Angelo] Amadei, Venice, September 22, 1915. [Author]
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Tor de’ Specchi for the afternoon of May 12. The next day, L’Aurora,
reporting on the meeting, remarked on his worn-out mien and his calm
presentation. Cardinal [Cajetan] Alimonda presided. The paper then
summed up his talk as follows:

After telling the audience that His Holiness had kindly sent them his apos-
tolic blessing, he said that he would speak of Salesian works in general and
then of the Sacred Heart Church. Since the previous year Salesian houses had
increased in number. The Patagonia missions were thriving, and the Salesian
schools at Nice, Ventimiglia, I.a Spezia, Lucca and Florence had been en-
larged and put on a sound financial basis. These new foundations were doing
well side by side with similar Protestant centers, whose very harmful influence
they managed to halt, thus wresting souls from the clutches of Satan. Youth
and the future, according to Bishop Felix Dupanloup, were one and the same
thing. A serene future for Italy could be expected if this apostolate of educat-
ing and rescuing our youth could be strengthened by the support of the
Salesian cooperators.

Passing on to speak of the Sacred Heart Church, he said that it had been an
excellent idea for a church to rise on the Esquiline Hill, once sacred to false
gods, but now dedicated to God’s mercy through the Church of the Sacred
Heart of Jesus. Just as Rome had once stationed its sentries there, so it was
only right that now a school be erected where sentries would be trained to
safeguard souls.

The distinguished Father Maresca*! had zealously initiated the work. The
Salesians would continue it. There were in Rome sixty-six Protestant institu-
tions—clubs, schools and attractive hospices—trying to wrest souls from the
Catholic faith, and many of the faithful were easily being seduced by promises
of employment and other fringe benefits.

A bulwark had to be raised against all this propaganda and a home provided
for orphaned and abandoned boys all over Italy. Hence, alongside the church a
home had to be built to shelter and educate at least five hundred boys. To this
end Don Bosco was appealing to the charity of the Romans. In the past they
had given generous help for his undertakings in other Italian cities; now they
should reach out to him with open hands, lest we witness in Rome itself the
eagerness of Protestants in lavishing energy and money for the triumph of
heresy, while Romans remain uncaring and powerless in defense of their faith.
He closed by saying that Cardinal Alimonda had graciously agreed to address

41Anthony Maresca (1831-1891), a Barnabite, publisher of the Messaggero del Sacro Cuore, a
Roman weekly. [Editor]
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a few words to them to bolster their charity; he was happy to see that His
Eminence was espousing the Salesian cause.

The cardinal had this to say about the Salesians: “Divine Providence seems
to have founded this Congregation, so as to ease many a wound with balm, to
uplift the many fallen, to bring peace to distraught hearts, to glorify God’s
name and to destroy sin.” He closed by tactfully and opportunely remarking:
“True, you Romans have a virtuous clergy, but moral reinforcement is never
too much and we welcome it gladly from whatever source it comes.”

The meeting at Tor de’ Specchi was a leave-taking, for on the eve-
ning of May 13 Don Bosco was in Florence, and on May 15, a Sunday,
he addressed Salesian cooperators and friends in the Church of St.
Florence serviced by the Oratorians.*? In preparation for this meeting
he had drawn up a circular which he sent to Father Confortéla with a
covering letter:

Rome, May 10, 1881
My dear Father Confortdla:

Read the enclosed, send and address the letter to the vicar general, and
personally deliver it to him with a copy of the invitation sent to the Salesian
cooperators; amend it if necessary, and rush it to the printer. Also:

1. Have some six hundred copies printed.

2. Send a copy to each priest in Florence, to the men and women singled
out by Father Justin Campolini, Marchioness [Gerolama] Uguccioni and other
friendly persons.

3. When the vicar general will choose a church for the meeting, go to speak
with the parish priest so as to make sure that there will be no conflict with his
regular church services. Keep me informed of everything.

4. Each letter will need a two-lire stamp. You can get help from the
marchioness, her daughters, Father Justin and friends of our good Mamma.

We shall arrive in Florence Friday evening and leave Monday morning after
the meeting. Regards to our dear Salesians. Let’s pray that all goes well for
God’s greater glory. May His grace be with us always. Amen.

Yours affectionately in Jesus Christ,
Fr. John Bosco

According to the report sent to Father Bonetti for publication in the
July issue of the Bollettino Salesiano by Father Confortéla, director of

“2A congregation founded by St. Philip Neri. [Editor]
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the recently founded festive oratory, Don Bosco spoke about the Sale-
sians, their objectives, their achievements elsewhere, their purpose in
coming to Florence, and their need of support from the cooperators and
other good citizens. Skimming over everything else, Father Confortdla
almost literally transcribed Don Bosco’s comments on almsgiving, a
favorite topic of his in the pulpit and in private conversation, in letters
and brochures, especially in the last decade of his life. In fact, virtually
on the very eve of his death, he seemed to feel that he had to write a
booklet exclusively on that subject. At a time when people were sink-
ing ever deeper in a quagmire of selfishness and a feverish pursuit for
material goods, Don Bosco did all he could to help the world put its
surplus of resources to Christian use. He spoke thus to the people of
Florence:

You will ask, ‘“How can we have any surplus for alms in such critical times
when it’s a problem just to survive?”’ Very frankly let me tell you that, yes, we
all have a surplus to give to the poor and to works of mercy if we really want
to. There is always something superfluous in our homes and their fancy
appointments, furniture and precious bric-a-brac. There are costly coaches,
horses and fittings, unneeded domestics, excessive wardrobes, choice foods
and also, let us say it, surplus money in many purses. Now according to the
Lord’s commandment, whatever is not needed should be given to the poor.

The question is raised how much of one’s surplus is to be given in alms;
some say a fifth, others a fourth and so on. I personally feel that this question
has already been answered by the Gospel’s injunction, which could not be
simpler or more explicit: “Give what remains as alms™” [Lk. 11, 41].

Among those to whom your alms belong are many poor and abandoned
boys who today roam the streets barefoot, ragged and dirty, living on what
they can get by begging, and sleeping in crowded hovels. No one is caring for
their material and spiritual needs. They are growing up in ignorance of God
and of their religious and moral duties; they curse and steal, they are lewd and
steeped in vice, capable of committing any crime. Many of them end up in
jail, or, worse still, in the churches of Protestants. Here in Florence, the
Protestants have opened many homes in which naive youngsters, enticed by
money and countless deceptive promises, often losing their innate goodness
and trodding underfoot all virtue, finally throw away their faith.

You see these things every day. You yourselves have told me how the
Protestants have already dragged into their nets many boys and girls, even
entire families, who, to quote your own words, have sold out to the enemies of
our faith, to Satan’s ministers, through the lure of money and all sorts of gifts,
clothing and food.
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How are we to stem this tide of evil and forestall its tragic consequences? I
have come to Florence precisely to do this, at the invitation primarily of your
archbishop and also of the more zealous cooperators. We have already opened
a festive oratory in the city at 31 Via Cimabue, and we would also like to open
a boarding school to shelter as many youngsters as possible, in order to
safeguard their morals and their faith and turn them into good citizens and true
Christians.

But we need your help; we need your surplus which we will wisely use for
God’s greater glory and that of the Most Blessed Virgin, as well as for the
greater welfare of souls, especially among the young.

In closing I will say: I must continue my journey, but I am leaving here my
representative, the director of the above-mentioned festive oratory in this city
of yours. Pour out your alms generously into his hands in proportion to your
God-given means to achieve what you and I both desire: the salvation of many,
many souls. As St. Augustine said, by saving a soul, you assured the salvation
of your own.

Several seminarians attended the conference, all anxious to meet
Don Bosco. One of them, Joachim Bonardi, now [titular] bishop of
Pergamum and auxiliary of Cardinal [Alphonsus] Mistrangelo, recalls
the good feeling he experienced in seeing him, kissing his hand, and
listening to his very simple but totally God-centered words.

Despite several difficulties, which we shall later cite, Don Bosco had
such faith in Divine Providence that, on leaving for Turin, he told the
director not to back down, but rather to plan on building not only a
hospice but also a church worthy of the great Mother of God and of the
piety of the faithful because he, Don Bosco, was ready to make every
sacrifice for the Florentines.*

Nothing out of the ordinary seems to have occurred in Florence.
Writing to Father Lazzero, Father Rua mentions just a providential, if
somewhat unpleasant delay in Don Bosco’s departure after his first
stopover. The delay brought him an unexpected, handsome donation.

In Rome, instead, something unusual did happen, though it occa-
sioned no stir. According to Father Dalmazzo’s testimony, two events
took place. In one instance, several spiritual favors were granted. By
the blessing of Mary, Help of Christians, Don Bosco restored a
woman’s health. A while later, coming across several Protestant ac-
quaintances of hers, and asked how she had recovered from such a

L etter from Father Confort6la to Don Bosco, Florence, June 10, 1881. [Author]
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grave ailment so quickly, she told them what had happened. Brushing
aside all religious prejudices, one of them, whose daughter was very
seriously ill, decided to take her to Don Bosco. He blessed her, and the
young girl was healed. Bursting with joy, the mother kept repeating,
“This is the mistake which we Protestants make: we do not honor
Mary.” In 1885 Don Bosco received a letter from that family telling
him that all the members had converted to Catholicism.

On another occasion, while he was offering Mass in our old chapel
in Via Vicenza, a man came in who for eighteen years had been
suffering from a crippling condition. Hardly able to move on crutches,
he asked Father Dalmazzo to introduce him to Don Bosco, but the
priest, having to hasten to get Don Bosco’s breakfast ready, asked the
cleric Zucchini to take him to Don Bosco right after Mass. Very
humbly the gentleman asked for his blessing. Don Bosco asked him a
few questions and, seeing his deep faith, removed the crutches from
under his arms and said, “Walk!”” The man began to walk with the
greatest ease, and he left with the crutches under his arm, saying that
he wanted to keep them as a remembrance.

While Don Bosco was sipping his coffee, Father Dalmazzo re-
marked, ‘“So he was really and completely healed after your blessing!”

“It was the blessing of Mary, Help of Christians that healed him,”’
Don Bosco corrected him.

“I too have given the blessing of Mary, Help of Christians many
times using the same words,”’ Father Dalmazzo replied, ‘‘but nothing
like this ever happened.”

“What a child you are!”” Don Bosco answered. ““That’s because you
have no faith.”



CHAPTER 5

Celebrations, Nuisances and a
Dream about the Future
of the Salesian Society

THE Oratory used to celebrate a holiday cycle of its own
which we may truly call Salesian and whose observance was by this
time [1881] a firmly established custom. It included the feasts of Mary,
Help of Christians, St. Aloysius, St. John the Baptist and the Assump-
tion. The last two were respectively kept as the name day’ and pre-
sumed birthday? of Don Bosco. They were eagerly awaited yearly
events marked by intense joy and remarkable spiritual blessings. There
was nothing particularly distinctive about any one of them in 1881, and
so we shall only give those details which single them out as different
from previous celebrations, most of them dealing with the solemnity of
Mary, Help of Christians.

The Oratory routinely made plans for each of these feasts well in
advance; Don Bosco saw to it that no celebration took place without
thorough preparation. Hence, at the end of April, while he was still in
Rome, Father Rua wrote in Don Bosco’s name to the economer general
of the Salesians, Father [Anthony] Sala, to request the Turin chancery’s
permission to invite some bishop to preside at the pontifical Mass and
other services in the Church of Mary, Help of Christians on Her feast
day, May 24. Today [1934] such formalities are quickly disposed of,
but, at that time, the archdiocese of Turin had detailed regulations
about such matters, as we can readily sense from the tone of an ordi-
nance in its liturgical calendar of 1881. Article 14 stated: “‘It is a grave
lack of reverence due to one’s own shepherd, and to his episcopal

See p. 83, footnote 24. [Editor]
2Don Bosco was born on August 16, 1815, the day after the feast of the Assumption. [Editor]
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office, to invite some other bishop to officiate at a sacred function in
the archdiocese without first obtaining the archbishop’s explicit permis-
sion for each and every occasion.” Father Sala therefore called on
Archbishop Gastaldi on May 2 to request his consent to invite the
newly appointed Bishop [Dominic] Pampirio of Alba to officiate at one
of the solemn services or at least to preach on May 24. As Father Sala
paid his respects to the archbishop, the latter asked, ‘““What do you
want from me?” Playing for time, Father Sala replied, “My superior
has charged me with the construction of the Church of St. John the
Evangelist, and since the artists have already begun their work, I find
myself in somewhat of a quandary and thought I might wisely consult
Your Excellency. We would like to depict the seven bishops of the
Asian churches in the semblance of angels, as we read in the Apoc-
alypse.”” “Yes,”’ the archbishop replied, ‘‘something from the Apoc-
alypse is quite fitting. As far as I am concerned, do as you please.”

Tactfully, Father Sala continued, ‘I went to Alba the other day to
look at the paintings in the cathedral, the work of our own artist Costa,
and as Bishop Pampirio and I were talking about the painting and the
Church of Mary, Help of Christians, he gave me to understand that he
would gladly come at least once to pontificate on the titular feast of the
church. But, since I could give him no definite answer until I had
consulted with Your Excellency, I merely commented that we would be
happy to have him with us on such a memorable occasion. My purpose
in coming today is also to ask Your Excellency’s required permission,
if you see fit to grant it.”

“Don Bosco will have to write to me about that.”

“Upon being informed of Bishop Pampirio’s pious wish, Don Bosco
asked Father Rua to delegate me to seek Your Excellency’s
permission.”

“My answer is no,”” the archbishop replied, ‘‘because the Salesians
are behaving in too reprehensible a manner concerning their Church of
Mary, Help of Christians, and they act that way just to spite me. Giving
my permission would only be approving something I cannot sanction.”

“Your Excellency, do not say that! We are working hard to do good
to all and hurt no one, least of all our own archbishop! Indeed, we
make sacrifices in order to help you in your diocese and especially here
in Turin.”

*“Yes, indeed! For instance, Father Lemoyne keeps publicizing with-
out my permission miracles performed by Mary, Help of Christians,
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and his pamphlets are distributed throughout my entire archdiocese
under my very nose just to spite me!”

“This is the first time I have ever heard talk of miracles, Your
Excellency! We always use the word ‘graces’ obtained through the
intercession of Mary, Help of Christians.”

“What Father Lemoyne described were miracles, and miracles must
be approved by Church authorities according to the decree of the perti-
nent Sacred Congregation.”

“I know nothing about this decree, but I do know that no book about
graces obtained through Mary, Help of Christians has been printed
without ecclesiastical approval.”

“True, but this approval was by another ordinary! Furthermore, by
what authority is that church passed off as a shrine? Such action re-
quires that the incidents, the miracles, must have the approval of the
ordinary, and not be stories. . . .”

At this, Father Sala, a man of impressive stature and patriarchal
honesty, leapt to his feet, rummaged through his pockets and pulled out
a handful of papers. Singling out a postcard, he handed it to the
archbishop. “Read it,” he urged. “Read it, Your Excellency, and you
will see for yourself that Don Bosco does not make up graces obtained
from Mary, Help of Christians.”

The archbishop refused. “Well, then, let me read it to you,” Father
Sala continued. “It is really Divine Providence that sent this postcard
to me this very morning.”

He read it. It came from a certain Chevalier Mercalli, who was
writing from Rome about the wondrous recovery of his wife, Countess
Fenile. Now and then, the archbishop interjected remarks such as, “I
am sure that for these people. . . .” Finally he said, “If all the graces
were like this one, I’d have no problems approving them. . . . Besides,
some good is being done.”

“Then why do you treat us this way?’’ Father Sala retorted. How-
ever, the subject was abruptly changed, and the conversation switched
to the Sacred Heart Church in Rome. The archbishop made a quick
about-face now and even went so far as to say that he admired Don
Bosco, that Divine Providence was on his side and that he could
squeeze money out of a rock. On taking his leave, Father Sala re-
marked, “If there is no objection then, Bishop Pampirio could deliver
the panegyric.”” “‘Leave Bishop Pampirio in Alba where he belongs,”
Archbishop Gastaldi replied, ““so he can continue to rage against
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Rosmini!’’?® Then, as Father Sala reverently bowed, and was about to
go, the archbishop told him, “I’ll think it over.””*

Father Sala returned on May 19 to make another request of the
archbishop. If Bishop Pampirio were not allowed to offer the pontifical
Mass, could he at least deliver the homily? The answer was a flat no.
Seemingly, the archbishop was determined not to grant the Salesians
any truce. The following day Father Francesia,’ director of the Val-
salice College, asked him to administer the sacrament of confirmation
to the boarders on a day of his choice. The answer again was no; he
would never set foot in a Salesian house, he said, because the Salesians
were pitted against him. Yet, just two weeks later, Father Francesia
himself was to give one indisputable proof of submission to the arch-
bishop. Despite his having had faculties for hearing confessions over
the past twelve years, he was notified to report for an examination in
moral theology. Understanding this to mean that his faculties to hear
confessions were being questioned, Father Francesia simply wrote a
very respectful letter assuring the archbishop that his faculties were in
order. Nevertheless, shortly afterward he reported to his examiners,
who in turn were surprised and embarrassed. Of course he won their
full approval.

We should also note that when Archbishop Gastaldi was invited to
Valsalice to administer the sacrament of confirmation, he expressed his
displeasure at the fact that the Salesian press at Sampierdarena had
printed in its monthly Letture Cattoliche [Catholic Readings] a feature
article by Count Emilian Avogadro della Motta about socialism,
adding an appendix attacking Rosmini’s teachings and tenets.

All these things took place while Don Bosco was back in Turin,
having arrived there on the evening of May 16 after a four-month
absence. The Oratory was all ready to give him a rousing welcome, but
he arrived a few hours sooner than expected, while everyone was in
church for the novena services. Since it was time for Benediction of the
Blessed Sacrament, he decided to give Benediction himself. Who
could describe the happiness which thrilled everyone’s heart on seeing
him walk out of the sacristy in his vestments and go to the altar? The

3Anthony Rosmini (1797-1855) was a philosopher and the founder of the Institute of Charity.
He also served as an advisor to Pius IX, but gradually fell into the Pope’s disfavor. Archbishop
Gastaldi was one of Rosmini’s admirers. [Editor]

“Letter from Father Sala to Father Rua, Turin, May 3, 1881. [Author]

3See Appendix 1. [Editor]
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rest of the evening was passed in happy singing, clamorous clapping
and a band serenade.

The very next morning a circular letter went out to the Salesian
cooperators of Turin, inviting them to a meeting to be held in the
Oratory’s Church of St. Francis de Sales on May 19 for men and May
23 for women. ‘“We shall discuss noteworthy projects underway to
advance God’s glory, benefit civil society, and cheer the hearts of
righteous people,” Don Bosco wrote.

The cooperators received a detailed report, much as would be done
in a family circle, and all listened with the deepest interest, feeling that
in some way or other they were part of the Salesian family. They were
briefed on the progress made in regard to the on-going constructions of
the Church and Hospice of St. John the Evangelist in Turin, the Church
of Mary, Help of Christians at Vallecrosia, the school and festive
oratory at La Spezia, the festive oratory in Florence, and the Sacred
Heart Church and Hospice in Rome. Then they were enthralled by an
account of the apostolic labors of the Salesian missionaries and
Daughters of Mary, Help of Christians in Uruguay and Patagonia.
Having reached the hearts of his listeners, Don Bosco deftly and easily
digressed into the contrast between a missionary’s life and that of many
Christians who wallow in pleasures with hardly a thought to using
some of their wealth to cooperate in their fellowmen’s eternal salvation.

To Christians such as these—he said to the men cooperators—one might
well apply the words uttered by St. Peter on another occasion against Simon
Magus: “Keep your money to yourself to perish with you.” They should
ponder that someday God will demand an account of the bounty He has
showered on them. To each wealthy person He will say: “I gave you riches that
you might use some of them for My glory, and for your neighbor’s relief.
Instead what did you do with them? You threw them into a life of ease and fun,
pleasure trips, high living, entertainment and receptions.” One may object: “I
don’t throw away my wealth. I hold on to it and make it grow every year. [
invest it in houses, land, vineyards and so on.” To these also the Lord will say:
“True, you hoarded your wealth and watched it grow. Yet, all the while the
poor were going hungry, thousands of homeless children were growing up in
religious ignorance and vice, souls redeemed by My blood were lost in hell.
You held your money dearer than My glory, your purse more precious than
your brothers’ soul. Now go to perdition with your pleasures, money and
possessions.”

I 'know that such is not the case with you—Don Bosco continued—and that
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you give alms as your means allow; but how many people there are who could
follow your example and do not!

He then went on to say that, just hours before, he had learned that
the house at San Benigno, which trained future missionaries, directors,
teachers and assistants for his schools, was having serious problems
with overdue bills from the baker who could no longer afford to supply
bread on credit. “‘I had planned to ask your help,”” Don Bosco went on,
“for several important undertakings, but now I think it wiser to meet
the needs of these young men, the hopes of our Congregation. What-
ever you choose to donate will be sent this very evening to relieve those
dear sons of mine, your brothers, who trust entirely in Divine
Providence.”

He spoke pretty much in the same vein to the women cooperators: he
updated them on the accomplishments achieved during the past year for
indigent youth by the Salesians and the Daughters of Mary, Help of
Christians, on the increase and growth of Salesian houses, on the ever
swelling numbers of souls being guided to heaven, and on the agri-
cultural schools, child care centers, schools, and girls’ festive orato-
ries. To get a good idea of these oratories, he suggested that they go to
see what the Daughters of Mary, Help of Christians were doing in Turin
and in neighboring Chieri. After describing the daily activities of those
two oratories, he continued:

Seeing a festive oratory in action would warm your heart, and you couldn’t
help wishing that more such places would be opened in other parts of the city
and in every country. Now, the work being done in Turin and Chieri is also
being done in over forty houses of the Daughters of Mary, Help of Christians
in Italy, France and [South] America, and even in the barbaric lands of
Patagonia. If only we had the means, how much good we could do! Good will
is not wanting, but that is not enough. We need funds to open and support such
undertakings, and more often than not, the funds are lacking.

Now, how can we contribute to these and other works of mercy and faith?
Let’s do what the Hebrew women did in the desert when they wanted to have
an idol to worship in place of the true God. Moses had ascended Mount Sinai
to receive the stone tablets of God’s commandments and was late to return.
The restless people rose up against Aaron, demanding that he set up for them
an idol, a calf similar to those that were worshiped in Egypt. Frightened by the
riot, Aaron readily yielded to their wishes but, hoping that perhaps he might
dissuade that perverse mob from its evil demand, he ordered the people to
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hand over all the rings, bracelets, necklaces and earrings of their wives and
daughters. Would you believe that hardly had he uttered the word than a heap
of gold was piled at his feet! It was melted down and cast into a calf, before
which men and women prostrated themselves and, as the Scriptures tell us,
indulged in a shameless orgy.

And so, isn’t it a shame that on the one hand Hebrew wives and daughters
sacrificed their precious jewelry to an evil cause, while Christian women and
girls keep adorning themselves like so many queens or ladies-in-waiting and
then find themselves unable to contribute to the glory of the one true God by
embellishing His churches and coming to the aid of a multitude of homeless
children? Certainly I would not want to be in their place at the moment of
death or on the day of judgment!

I am not saying that a woman must deprive herself of adornments befitting
her social position; let her wear them if custom so requires. What I am saying
is that she is bound not to overdo it, not to cater to worldly vanity. She must,
instead, find out if she has more than she needs in home furnishings, personal
wardrobe or life-style, and if that is the case, she is bound to turn over the
surplus to religious and charitable causes. This is what you have already been
doing. Continue to do so, my dear cooperators, so that each one of us, in our
own way, may foster love for Our Divine Savior and glorify Him by helping
many souls get to heaven.

On occasions such as these, he usually wrote brief notes to some of
his more distinguished cooperators who lived at a distance from Turin
to remind them of the solemn feast [of Mary Help of Christians], which
could easily have been overlooked since it was then not as widely
observed as it is now [1934]. Following is a sample addressed to Count
Eugene De Maistre.

Turin, May 21, 1881
Dear Count Eugene:

Though I do not write to you often because I know how busy you are with a
thousand and one things, I do remember you and your family every day at
Holy Mass.

When I was in Rome, the Holy Father spoke much to me about you and
your brothers, Charles and Francis; to each of you he sends his special
blessing.

A Mass will be celebrated for your intentions at the altar of Mary, Help of
Christians, our heavenly benefactress, this coming Tuesday, Her solemn feast
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day. Our prayers will be that She grant your whole family good health and the
precious gift of perseverance in virtue.
God bless you, my dear Count Eugene, and please pray for me too.

Always yours in Jesus Christ,
Fr. John Bosco

In addition to the large number of local women cooperators who
attended Don Bosco’s conference, the vigil of Mary’s feast was en-
hanced by the presence of a group of French pilgrims® who stopped in
Turin for a half day, spending part of their time at the Oratory. As they
arrived, solemn first vespers of Mary, Help of Christians were being
sung; after Benediction of the Most Blessed Sacrament, the guests
were given a welcome reception with band music, songs and speeches.
Don Bosco then addressed the gathering. After recalling their recent
encounter in St. John Lateran,” he thanked them for their visit and
assured them of his own prayers and those of his Salesians and boys.
“Look upon all of us Salesians as your best friends,”” he concluded.
“We shall always be glad to be of service to you whenever possible.”
Then a good number of pilgrims, urged by Father [Francis] Picard,
superior of the Assumptionists and eloquent leader of the pilgrimage,
asked to be enrolled as Salesian cooperators.

The sponsors of the feast of Mary, Help of Christians in 1881 were
both French. Madame Jacques, a well-known cooperator, came ex-
pressly from Marseille to sponsor the event though she had been in
Rome in April. On her way back home she was able to fulfill an earnest
desire of her committee which Don Bosco had nicknamed ‘‘his army
against the devil.”” We recall that a photograph had been taken of him
in Marseille and that those ladies had asked him for a few copies.
Since, then and there, he had none, he had promised to send them
autographed prints from Turin. However, the good ladies waited in
vain, and so they asked Madame Jacques to request of him that pre-
cious remembrance. Determined to satisfy her friends’ desires,
Madame Jacques took a photograph, had copies made at her own
expense, and requested that Don Bosco autograph each print. He went
further and enriched each print with a “long, pious message,” which

6See Vol. XIII, pp. 101f; Vol. XIV, pp. 92f, 386ff. [Editor]
See p. 125. [Editor]



Celebrations, Nuisances and a Dream about the Future 139

he wrote during the singing of vespers on the feast of the Ascension. It
was painful for him to write, but, as the women who received the
signed photographs said, it added to the “‘value of the precious sou-
venir.” Canon [Clement] Guiol voiced their gratitude to Madame
Jacques at the committee’s first meeting.®

The petit prieur, or junior sponsor, as he was called, was the six-
year-old son of Count Flayose de Villeneuve of Rocquefort, a close
friend of Don Bosco. In April 1880 the lad [Raymond] had suffered a
severe attack of pneumonia. Noticing with dismay that hopes for the
boy’s recovery were vanishing, the father rushed a telegram to Don
Bosco, who knew the child quite well. He happened to be in Lucca
when the news reached him. He said Mass for the boy, asking for a
healing from Mary, Help of Christians. As it was later ascertained, the
lad’s father was at his son’s bedside at the moment Don Bosco was
saying Mass, and he called him by name to ascertain if he were still
alive. To his indescribable relief, the child replied, ‘‘Papa, I am hun-
gry!”” He had suddenly recovered consciousness, the fever had gone,
his cough was lessened, and he was again strong and healthy without
any convalescence. A month later, however, the child again fell se-
riously ill, this time with pleurisy. As he pulled through the crisis, the
doctors prescribed a rigorous health routine for a period of several
months. The father, full of faith, went to Turin on May 24, the feast of
Mary, Help of Christians, and prayed to Her fervently. On returning
home, he found his son fully recovered, so much so that a year later he
brought him to the Oratory to celebrate that feast and to act as ‘“‘spon-
sor,” a role usually reserved to adults. His charming ways won all
hearts.’

The solemn feast of 1881 was celebrated without a pontifical Mass,
but not without a bishop. That year the archbishop of Milan, Louis
Nazari, a relative of the counts of Calabiana, was celebrating his jubi-
lee of priestly ordination on May 28 and 29. The celebration was
attended by all the bishops of Lombardy and by the bishops of Pied-
mont as well, since Archbishop Nazari, a Piedmontese, had been

8Minutes of the committee meetings of May 12 and June 8, 1881. [Author]

9Rev. John Baptist Lemoyne, La Madre delle Grazie, Sampierdarena, 1881, p. 155. See also
Bollettino Salesiano, July 1881. The child’s sister, a religious of the Sacred Heart, sent us a report
of this miracle in March 1934. [Author]
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bishop of Casale.'® As Bishop [Dominic] Pampirio of Alba made his
way to Milan for the celebration, he stopped off at Turin and was a
guest of his own order, at St. Dominic’s Church. To satisfy his devo-
tion, on the morning of May 24 he went to the Church of Mary, Help of
Christians, where he had once before preached, to celebrate Mass. Don
Bosco, of course, immediately asked him to say the community Mass.

As soon as Archbishop Gastaldi got wind of this, he immediately
reprimanded Bishop Pampirio by letter, telling him that he could not
countenance his presence in the Church of Mary, Help of Christians.
When Bishop Pampirio returned to St. Dominic’s and found the hand-
delivered letter, he promptly sent a note to Don Bosco to inform him of
what had happened. Next he notified Archbishop Gastaldi that he
would not be presiding at any other function, but that he would be
delivering a panegyric on Our Lady in the evening, since his talk had
already been announced publicly. He pointed out that if he were not
allowed to do so, a scandal would arise once word reached the vast
congregation flocking to the church. Begrudgingly Archbishop Gas-
taldi withdrew his prohibition, but he would not yield on the other
points or even allow him to give Benediction of the Blessed Sacrament.

Although it was a weekday, a constant flow of people streamed into
the church from dawn to late evening, and crowds of neighborhood
folk poured into the church plaza to enjoy the sight of the first gaslight
illumination of the exterior of the whole church. That year it became
clear that it was far too small to accommodate the huge crowds of
worshipers on such occasions; a large number had to be content to
attend major functions by standing in the plaza facing the church.
Since there was no bishop for the pontifical Mass, Don Bosco had to
sing the high Mass—by no means a light burden—besides giving
Benediction of the Blessed Sacrament and going through all the other
strains of the day, but, as one Turin newspaper put it, ‘“‘everyone was
delighted.”’" The same news article ended with the wish: “‘God grant

°Mindful of Bishop Calabiana’s kindness in accepting the Salesians in his diocese of Casale
when they opened the boarding school at Mirabello in 1867 and of his kindness to them at all
times, Don Bosco sent him the following telegram, dated May 29: *‘Salesians, pupils, your most
loving sons, send cordial congratulations on your priestly jubilee, remembering you as a friend,
patron, benefactor. We all pray that God will allow you and your guests to celebrate this day once
again.” The eminent prelate replied: “Deeply moved, I thank you for affectionate attention. 1
cordially bless you all!” [Author]

WUnita Cattolica, No. 24, Thursday, May 26, 1881. [Author]
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long life to this worthy priest who humbly and zealously kindles and
keeps alive the flame of piety among the Christian people.”

Reports of graces came pouring in, some oral, others in writing.
Don Bosco would not have even a slightest trace of them lost, and so
we have at hand countless letters addressed to him and bearing his own
remarks on replies to be sent. They are all kept in a special ledger in
the sacristy.”? As usual, Father Lemoyne compiled and published the
more outstanding of these graces.

Such an endless flow of visitors to the Oratory offered Don Bosco a
unique opportunity to enroll new cooperators. Precisely with this in
mind, he drafted a Brief Outline of the Objectives of the Salesian
Society, dated May 24 [1881], and had it printed in a small, handy-
sized folder for free distribution. In simple, concise and clear terms it
presented the essential make-up of the Salesian Congregation, its ac-
tivities, its current statistics, and ways to support it.

Once the festivities of Mary, Help of Christians were over, all
thoughts were turned to the two family celebrations of St. John the
Baptist and St. Aloysius. We find that the 1881 festivities were not
much different from the celebrations of the past. As for Don Bosco’s
birthday, mistakenly kept on the feast of the Assumption, we must note
that at the Oratory it took on more significance as the years went by.
From 1881 on, the solemn prize-awarding ceremony for both students
and artisans was held for the first time on that day and presided over by
Don Bosco. This novelty paved the way for an ever more solemn
celebration of Don Bosco’s sixty-sixth birthday. After expressing his
thanks, he closed his talk as follows:

You say that Don Bosco has done so many nice things, but it is your love
that makes you see things differently from what they really are. Everything
that was done and is being done is due to God’s help and the intercession of the
Most Blessed Virgin. If the Lord had not given us the strength and taken us by
the hand, what could we have done? And what about the help given us by our
many benefactors? Don Bosco is no more than a blind instrument in God’s
hands, who thus shows us that when He wills, He can achieve mighty things
by using even the lowliest of tools.

2One of these ledger entries is Don Bosco’s own; another, on a loose sheet and postdated, is
also in his handwriting. [Author]
BLa Stella del mattino, Sampierdarena, 1883. [Author]



142 THE BIOGRAPHICAL MEMOIRS OF SAINT JOHN BOSCO

He then alluded to several trying situations which had severely tried
him that year. Doubtless the boys could not fully make out what he was
talking about, but Don Bosco’s intent was to encourage his co-workers
and friends who in various degrees knew what he meant. He then
praised at length a former pupil of Nizza Monferrato who had started a
thriving model union of young Catholic workers in his town, holding
up this example for his listeners’ admiration and imitation. His final
thought was for their souls.

Who knows—he asked—whether we shall all be together again next year?
Will you and I be here? Last year some who were full of life and joy, healthy
and strong, are no longer with us. So let us live each day as though it were our
last, and let us do good while we can, so that when death strikes, we shall not
regret having spent our days fruitlessly, worthless to both God and our fel-
lowman. I hope and pray that this bell may toll very late both for you and me,
but should it come sooner, let God’s will be done.

After alluding to the more recent trials, he said:

Now let me go on to another subject and tell you that always, but especially
this year, we have had our share of roses and thorns. We all know that they are
inseparable. What are we to do, my dear sons? Let us always accept God’s will
in both joy and sorrow, for He will never forsake us, even in the midst of a
most raging storm. Take heart, therefore, be brave always, and never weary of
doing what is right. God will be with us!

The year 1881 brought Don Bosco more aggravations, some worse
than others. Since we have already seen some of the more serious ones
in the previous volume' and others will be part of this narrative as it
develops, here we shall mention only the minor problems, so minor
indeed that we have called them nuisances [in this chapter’s title], not
because they were negligible, but because they seem comparatively
mere trifles. Among them are the hard times the press gave him, such
as the three instances already cited in previous chapters. More remain
to be seen.

It was Don Bosco’s regular practice to reciprocate favors done to him
as best he knew and could. One way was to obtain civic or eccle-
siastical honorary titles for his benefactors when he felt the honors

4See Vol. XIV, Chapters 4, 7, 9, 10, 20. [Editor]
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would be welcomed. In these instances his aim was not to cater to
people’s vanity for his own profit, but only to repay a favor. Obviously
civil honorific titles enhanced the reputation of the recipients and fur-
thered their interests, while honors from the Holy See were viewed by
good Catholics or eminent clergymen as indicative of a tighter bond
between them and the Supreme Pontiff. But certain rabble-rousing
journalists, accustomed to judging others by their own yardstick, did
not see it that way. An example was the notorious editor of the Cronaca
dei Tribunali.®

In its issue of March 26 [1881] this periodi